### Volume XXIV, Nr. 1, 2018



CENTER OF PROMOTING HEALTH EDUCATION AND MOTIVATION FOR PREVENTION IN DENTISTRY CENTER FOR CONTINUOUS MEDICAL EDUCATION

# REDUCE ȘI AJUTĂ LA PREVENIREA PROBLEMELOR GINGIVALE ÎN 4 SĂPTĂMÂNI PENTRU A ÎNTRERUPE CICLUL GINGIVITEI



Recomandați Sistemul blend-a-med Oral-B Clinic Line Gum Protection Este dovedit clinic că reduce si ajută la prevenirea problemelor gingivale în 4 săptămâni pentru a ajuta pacienții să întrerupă ciclul gingivitei. Sistemul combină acțiunea chimică puternică a fluorurii de staniu stabilizate, suplimentată de apă de gură, cu acțiunea mecanică a periuței de dinți Pro-Flex, suplimentată de ață dentară, facând din acesta completarea perfectă a tratamentului din cabinetul dumneavoastră.



#### Volume XXIV, Nr. 1, 2018, Timişoara, Romania ISSN 2065-376X

# **MEDICINE IN EVOLUTION**



#### CENTER OF PROMOTING HEALTH EDUCATION AND MOTIVATION FOR PREVENTION IN DENTISTRY CENTER FOR CONTINUOUS MEDICAL EDUCATION

medicineinevolution.umft.ro

# Journal edited with the support of

## ROLF MARUHN GERMAN CONSUL TO TIMISOARA

&



Printed at: WALDPRESS, Timisoara, 17 Brandusei Street, Phone/Fax: 0040256422247

Edited at: EUROSTAMPA, Timisoara 26, Revolutiei 1989 Street, Phone: 0040256204816

# EDITORIAL BOARD

#### FOUNDING EDITOR

Prof. Ancusa Mircea MD, PhD

ASSOCIATE EDITORS	EDITOR IN CHIEF	ASSISTANT EDITOR
Prof. Daniela Jumanca DMD, PhD, Timişoara	Prof. Angela Codruța Podariu DMD, PhD, Timișoara	Mădălina-Victoria Cococeanu EC., Timișoara
Prof. Virgil Păunescu MD, PhD, Timișoara		
Prof. Borțun Cristina DMD, PhD, Timișoara		

NATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD		
Assoc. Prof. Anghel Mirella	Prof. Drăgulescu Ștefan, I.	Prof. Mercuț Veronica
DMD, PhD, Timişoara	MD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Craiova
Prof. Ardelean Lavinia	Prof. Dumitrașcu Victor	Lecturer Mesaros Anca Stefania
DMD, PhD, Timişoara	MD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Cluj-Napoca
Prof. Avram Rodica	Prof. Dănila Ioan	Prof. Negrutiu Meda Lavinia
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, Iași	MDM, PhD, Timişoara
Prof. Bechir Anamaria	Prof. Dumitrache Adina	Assist. Prof. Oancea Roxana
DMD, PhD, București	DMD, PhD, București	DMD, PhD, Timişoara
Prof. Belengeanu Valerica	Prof. Forna Norina Consuela	Prof. Popovici Ramona Amina
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, Iași	DMD, PhD, Timişoara
Brehar-Cioflec Dana	Prof. Gălușcan Atena	Prof. Porojan Liliana
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Timisoara
Prof. Bîrlean Lucia	Assist. Prof. Goția Laura	Assoc. Prof. Porojan Sorin
DMD, PhD, Iași	DMD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Timisoara
Prof. Borza Claudia	Prof. Hanganu Carmen Stela	Prof. Păcurar Mariana
MD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Iași	DMD, PhD, Târgu-Mureș
Assist. Prof. Bucur Adina	Assoc. Prof. Ianeş Emilia	Assoc. Prof. Pricop Marius
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, Timişoara
Prof. Bunu Panaitescu Carmen	Prof. Ionescu Ecaterina	Prof. Poenaru Dan
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, București	MD, PhD, Timişoara
Prof. Câmpian Radu	Prof. Ioniță Hortensia	Prof. Poenaru Mărioara
DMD, PhD, Cluj-Napoca	MD, PhD, Timișoara	MD, PhD, Timișoara
Assoc. Prof. Chirileanu Dana	Assoc. Prof. Iliescu Alexandru	Prof. Popşor Sorin
Ruxanda	Andrei	DMD, PhD, Târgu Mureş
MD, PhD, Timişoara	DMD, PhD, București	Popescu Nicolae
Assoc. Prof. Chevereșan Adelina	Assoc. Prof. Jivănescu Anca	MD, PhD, Drobeta Turnu Severin
MD, PhD, Timișoara	DMD, PhD, Timișoara	Prof Puju Maria
Assist. Prof. Ciobanu Virgil	Prof. Kurunczi Ludovic	MD, PhD, Timişoara
MD, PhD, Timișoara	MD, PhD, Timişoara	Prof. Romînu Mihai
Prof. Cristescu Carmen	Prof. Lazăr Fulger	DMD, PhD, Timişoara
MD, PhD, Timișoara	MD, PhD, Timișoara	Prof. Romosan Joan
Assoc. Prof. Cornianu Mărioara MD, PhD, Timișoara	Prof. Mancaş Silvia MD, PhD, Timişoara	MD, PhD, Timişoara

Assist. Prof. Rusu Darian MD,PhD, Timisoara

Assoc. Prof. Rusu Laura Cristina DMD, PhD, Timişoara

Assist. Prof. Sava-Roșianu Ruxandra DMD, PhD, Timișoara

Prof. Sinescu Cosmin DMD, PhD, Timişoara

Prof. Stratul Stefan-Ioan MD,PhD, Timisoara

Assoc. Prof. Suciu Mircea DMD, PhD, Târgu-Mureş Assoc. Prof. Tatu Carmen MD, PhD, Timişoara

Prof. Tatu Fabian MD, PhD, Timişoara

Prof. Tănăsie Gabriela MD, PhD, Timişoara

Assoc. Prof. Teodorescu Elina DMD, PhD, București

Prof. Székely Melinda DMD, PhD, Târgu-Mureş Assoc. Prof. Vasile Liliana MD, PhD, Timişoara

Assoc. Prof. Vasile Nicolae DMD, PhD, Sibiu

Prof. Vlădescu Cristian MD, PhD, București

Assoc. Prof. Zaharia Agripina DMD, PhD, Constanța

Prof. Zetu Irina DMD, PhD, Iași

#### INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD Prof. Abdellatif Abid Prof. Gruner Wolfgang Prof. Pine Cynthia Tunis Germany U.K Prof. Baez Martha Prof. Hartmut Hildebrand Prof. Plesh Octavia USA France USA Prof. Baez Ramon Assoc. Prof. Julijana Nikolovska Prof. Radnai Marta Macedonia USA Hungary Prof. Bracco Pietro Prof. Lucien Reclaru Prof. Kielbassa Andrej M. Switzerland Austria Italv Prof. Borutta Annerose Prof. Kotsanos Nikolaos Prof. Sculean Anton Switzerland Germany Greece Prof. Daniel Rollet Prof. Lange Brian Prof. Soltani Mohamed France USA Tunis Prof. Djukanovic Dragoslav Prof. Lopes Luis Pires Prof. Sasic Mirjana Serbia Portugal Serbia Assoc. Prof. Dorjan Hysi Prof. Lynch Denis P. Prof. Veltri Nicola Albania USA Italy Prof. Eaton Kenneth A Prof. Marthaler Thomas Prof. Zimmer Stefan U.K. Switzerland Germany Prof. Wember Matthes Prof. Edwards Gwyn Prof. Meyer Georg U.K. Germany Germany Prof. Feng Chai Prof. Nagy Kathalin France Hungary Prof. Fusun Ozer Prof. Paganelli Corrado Turkey Italy

## CONTENTS

#### ARTICLES



Dănilă M., Pantelimon L.	
The impact of lifestyle in diabetic patients	1
Popescu C.	
Mitochondria - key organelle for military aviation safety	8
Anghel T.	
The art of behavioral management in pediatric dentistry	17
Rotar R., Goguta L., Pricop C., Gavrilovici A., Hategan S., Jivanescu A.	
Digital versus conventional impressions: a comparative evaluation of student and dentist's perception	23
Szuhanek C., Dumitrescu S., Schiller E., Manea N., Luca M., Buzatu R.	
Esthetic and functional results using orthodontic appliances in patients with oral habits in mixed dentition	29
Pop S.I., Păcurar M., Eșian D., Ciotloș M.I., Bratu C.D.	
A retrospective study analyzing the differences in orthodontic measurements between active orthodontic treatments with transpalatal arches, and those with molar anchorages	35
Bucur A., Pop S.I., Bratu D.C., Păcurar M.	
Evaluation of the treatment results of class II, division 1 malocclusions	40
Bălean O.I., Podariu A.C., Galuscan A., Jumanca D., Chioran D., Matichescu A., Roi A.	
The level of knowledge of rural dentists regarding bisphosphonate therapy	45
Buzatu R., Goguta L., Szuhanek C., Cosoroaba R.M., Vâlceanu S.A.	
Chromatic attributes of aesthetic area teeth	54
Goguta L.M., Maroiu A., Buzatu R., Jivanescu A.	
Prevalence of double crown removable partial dentures. Short report	59
Boldeanu L.C., Boariu M., Rusu D., Radulescu V., Calniceanu H., Gaje P., Stratul SI.	
Histologic preparation of un-decalcified hard oral tissue: classic and modern methods vs. imagistic sample analysis	63

Țărmure V., Câmpian RS., Podariu A.C., Băciuț M., Bran S., Ionescu E., Păcurar M., Olteanu C., Jiman P., Pop AS.	
Therapeutic possibilities of progeny syndrome in temporary dentition versus young adult	71
Tofan E.C., Părlătescu I., Țovaru Ș., Tofan V.D., Nicolae C.	
Gingival Involvement in Oral Herpes Simplex Virus infections	77
Ciobanu L., Miricescu D., Didilescu A., Țărmure V.	
Assessment of a panel of risk indicators in severe periodontitis patients	84
Roi A., Rusu L.C., Roi C., Podariu A.C., Urechescu H., Pricop M.	
Retrospective study of mandible fractures complications	91

# The impact of lifestyle in diabetic patients



#### Dănilă M.<sup>1</sup>, Pantelimon L.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Medicine and Pharmacy Târgu Mureş <sup>2</sup>University of Medicine and Pharmacy Timisoara

Correspondence to: Name: Dãnilã Mihaela Address: University of Medicine and Pharmacy Târgu Mureş, Gheorghe Marinescu, nr. 38 Phone: +40 743767623 E-mail address: mihaeladanila\_md@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

Type-2 diabetes remains highly prevalent with an increasing incidence globally. In addition, the number of diabetes patients is expected to increase from 285 million to 439 million by 2030. [1]. Considering the fact that a sedentary lifestyle is considered to be a modifiable risk factor for type-2 diabetes and an independent predictor of poor quality of life, the main objective of this study is to assess the effects of a vegetarian diet (supported by the American Diabetes Association and the American Dietetic Association) combined with physical exercise on the quality of life of people with type-2 diabetes.

Keywords: lifestyle, vegetarian diet, type-2 diabetes, quality of life.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Type-2 diabetes has become one of the main causes of morbidity and mortality in many countries. In addition, the number of patients with diabetes is expected to increase from 285 million to 439 million by 2030. [1]. Diabetic patients tend to have a poor quality of life. A sedentary lifestyle is considered to be a modifiable risk factor for type-2 diabetes and an independent predictor of poor quality of life. Exercise is a key treatment for people with diabetes. The purpose of this study is to conduct a systematic study to assess the effects of a vegetarian diet associated with physical exercise on the quality of life of people with type 2 diabetes.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

It was an observational, retrospective study of 60 patients with diabetes mellitus who presented to Herghelia Lifestyle Health Centre for 10 days between January 2015 and January 2017.

For ten days, all patients served a strictly vegetarian, nutritionally balanced diet in accordance with the provisions of the American Dietetic Association and the American Diabetes Association, without saturated fat or saturated fatty acids trans, without cholesterol, but rich in vegetables, salads, fruits consumed daily, nuts, seeds and whole grains.

The meals were served 3 times a day at fixed times. The patients were encouraged to drink water between meals, therefore they had consumed at least 6 glasses of water by the end of the day.

For the patients with high glycemic values and high grade of obesity, it was recommended to replace dinner with tea or fruit, and to lower or even to drop the insulin dose, it was recommended to walk 6-12 km a day. Also, in the evening, they were advised to go to sleep at 9:00 p.m.

Additionally, the lifestyle intervention also included 4-5 weekly aerobic training sessions (with a duration of 30-60 minutes) out of which 2 to 3 sessions were combined with resistance training.

After the therapy, we compared the outcome of the analyses from the beginning to those at the end to show the impact that lifestyle change had had in just 10 days.

After inserting and processing the data in the Microsoft Office Excel program, we divided the data into three parts, as follows:

- 1) General characteristics of the patients we analysed the group by gender, genetic factors, anti-diabetic medication administered, mean glucose values in relation to the dose of treatment administered, other associated pathologies.
- 2) "The negative impact of lifestyle"-we analysed the risk factors that led to the appearance of type 2 diabetes and maintained it, including stress, low hours of sleep, hyper-caloric diet, not respecting the proportion of carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, the correlation between the waist/hip index and the increased insulin resistance.
- 3) "The positive impact of modified lifestyle in diabetic patients": we compared the analyses of the day of arrival with those on the day of departure to see what changes can bring an ideal lifestyle into the glycemic values.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUTIONS**

A total of 60 patients were included in the study-32 patients were females and 28 were males. In the present group, there is a remarkable increase in the frequency of diabetes after the age of 50, with a maximum of 22 cases in the age group 60-69 years, with predominance

among females. The increased frequency in this age group is supported by the decrease in energy metabolism with aging, increased sedentary and associated cardiovascular disease [2].

21 patients have a history of diabetes in their families; 15 of them have only one parent with diabetes and 6 have both parents with diabetes. We noticed that in patients who have both parents with diabetes, the disease appears earlier compared with those who have one parent with diabetes history or none. Interestingly, the patients without a genetic substrate of diabetes have the similar average age of the onset of disease as those patients who have a single parent with a history of diabetes. This result is explained by the fact that the unhealthy lifestyle of the patients has a greater impact on the body than the heredity itself. [3]



Figure 1. Graphical representation of patients based on gender

AGE GROUP (years)	NUMBER OF CASES	М	F
30-39	1	1	0
40-49	7	4	3
50-59	17	9	8
60-69	22	10	12
≥70	13	4	9
TOTAL	60	28	32

Figure 2. Graphical representation based on age group



Figure 3. Percentage representation of the presence or absence of genetic factor in diabetes patient

Table 2. The presence of heredo-colateral history of diabetes and the age of onset

	F				0 0	
AHC	DZ No.	of cases		No. of cases	Average age of onset	The earliest age
					of DZ	of onset of DZ
YES	21	One	parent	15	52 years old	38 years old
		Both	parents	6	44 years old	28 years old
NO	39	None	2	39	50 years old	35 years old



Figure 4. Distribution of cases according to the medication administered



Figure 5. The mean of glycemic values in relation to the medication administered

According to chart 5, despite the medication, the glycemic values of diabetes patients are still high. We tried to find out the factors that could influence the glycemic values and to find a solution for these causes.



Figure 6. Distribution of cases according to associated pathologies

Cardiovascular diseases explain the mortality of ~ 75% of patients with diabetes. [4] *<u>The negative impact of lifestyle</u>* 

Under pathological conditions such as systemic atherosclerosis and type 2 diabetes, stress and aging become important factors in potentiating production mechanisms in both pathological entities. Prolonged stress causes over-adaption of the body's ability to adapt and is a cause in the development of atherosclerotic lesions present in pancreatic arteries, which influence the secretion of insulin in pancreatic beta cells (...) the reduction of blood flow in the irrigated organ (or pancreas) is evidence of a possible relationship between stress conditions and metabolic disorders in type 2 diabetes. [4]



Figure 7. The impact of stress on diabetes and atherosclerosis related to age

Table 3. The impact of the number of hours of sleep and saturated fatty acids on the atherogenic index and glycemic values

No. of hours of sleep	Saturated fatty acids(g)	Atherogenic index	Glycemic values (mg%)
<mark>3-4 hours</mark>	<mark>80</mark>	<mark>5,83</mark>	<mark>202</mark>
5-6 hours	19	4,94	144
7	37	4,6	138

Analysing the data in the above chart, it was observed that patients who slept 2 hours a night ingested approximately the same amount of fatty acids as those who slept 5-6 hours

per night, but that the atherogenic index and the mean blood glucose index were higher in patients who were less sleepy.

In those who ingested the highest amount of saturated fatty acids and had an average of low sleeping hours, blood glucose values are the highest in the study group.

Experimental animal studies have shown that the atherogenic index and blood glucose levels increase more rapidly in elderly animals, despite the fact that they all have been subject to the same stressors. [4, 5]



Figure 8. Type of physical activity

Table 4. Numerical representation of the parameters monitored according to the physical activity performed

	No physical activity	Little physical activity	Intense physical activity
No. of cases	21: M-14; F-7	<mark>16</mark> : M-5; F-11	3: M-2; F-1
The mean of glycemic values	113 mg/dl	162 mg/dl	104 mg/dl
Mean blood pressure values	141/88 mmHg	144/85 mmHg	138/80 mmHg
Mean of BMI( kg/m2)	37,68 kg/m2	33,65 kg/m2	30,21 kg/m2
Average weight	112 kg	97 kg	88 kg
The mean of cholesterol	234	191	162
The mean of LDL cholesterol	144	104	93
The mean of HDL cholesterol	38	34	49
The mean of triglyceride values	249	275	86
The average of atherogenic index	6,27	4,25	3,30



Figure 9. Distribution of diabetic patients according to the presence / absence of obesity

#### <u>The impact of positive lifestyle on diabetic patients</u> "Diet 60/25/15" - Standard diet recommended at the Lifestyle Herghelia Center:

CARBOHYDRATES 60%	LIPIDS 25%	PROTEIN 15%	For 1000 kcal/day:
-complex carbohydrates	-saturated 5%	-only vegetal	-vegetables and fruits:
- Whole meal bread	-polyunsaturated 13%		-Betacarotene 327%
	-Omega 3 3,8 g		- vit B1- 150%
- without sucrose	- nuts, flaxseed		-vit. B3- 124%
			-vit. B6- 98%
	-polyunsaturated		-vit.C- 243%
	acids/ saturated acids:		-vit E- 153%
	2,24/1		-folic acid 250%
			- Mg 155%
	-zero cholesterol		-Selenium 150%
			-Fe 225%

Table 5. Variation of the analyzed parameters after 10 days of therapy

	ONSET	DEPARTURE	DOWN with	INCREASED with
Weight (kg)	92,30	88,69	1,23 kg p<0,2	
BMI (kg/m2)	33	31,4	1 kg/m2 p<0,1	
Glycemic value	145	119	26 mg% p<0,001	
TAS mmHg	144	130	14mmHg p<0,0001	
TAD mmHg	84	78	6mmHg p<0,0009	
Cholesterol mg%	183	159	24mg% p<0,002	
LDL-cholesterol	111	93	18mg% p<0,001	
HDL-cholesterol	37	39		2mg% p<0,3
Triglycerides	170	129	41mg% p<0,01	
Atherogenic index	5,00	4,38	0,62 p<0,005	

As we can see, patients' average weight decreased by 1.23 kg, blood glucose decreased on average by 26 mg/dl, total serum cholesterol by 24mg/dl, LDL with 18mg/dl, HDL increased by 2mg/dl, triglycerides decreased by 41mg/dl, systolic blood pressure values decreased by 14 mmHg and diastolic by 6 mmHg.

Daily physical exercise reduces cholesterol, blood pressure, improves insulin sensitivity, helps fight obesity, improves blood vessel tone and responsiveness, lowers blood viscosity (platelet aggregation), and prolongs life.

Experimental studies have shown that physical activity increases insulin sensitivity and improves glucose tolerance, both in those without chronic conditions and in patients with diabetes. Physical effort increases GLUT-4 glucose content in the 70% muscle cell membrane, which will increase the amount of glucose taken up by muscle tissue, by lowering the glycosylated haemoglobin. The risk of developing and aggravating diabetes over the next 6 years may be reduced by at least 40% in those who regularly do sports (even without weight loss) compared to those who adopt a sedentary style. [6, 7]

#### CONCLUSIONS

The success in the management of diabetes mellitus consists in teaching patients on the importance of diet and exercise for reducing hospital admissions, control the glycemic values and for improving the quality of life.

The risk of type 2 diabetes starts to rise from a normal body mass index and the waist / hip ratio is considered to be a factor much more potent than the body mass index in the occurrence of type 2 diabetes.

Few hours of sleep, high hours of stressful work and divorce are stressful factors that support diabetes and atherosclerosis of pancreatic arteries. Atherogenic index and insulin resistance values were proportional to the length of years of diabetes, low hours of sleep, increased working hours, and older age.

Management of type 2 diabetes (hyperglycaemia) is achieved, in principle, through proper diet and physical exercise; animal protein brings an increased intake of cholesterol and saturated fatty acids, and along with refined carbohydrates rapidly increase blood glucose, leading to glycemic oscillations. Low intake of dietary fibres, whole grains, and low intake of complex carbohydrates increase the risk of type 2 diabetes.

"Diet 60/25/15" is supported today by the American Diabetes Association and the American Dietetic Association and is rich in strong antioxidants, phytochemical, carotenoids, phytoestrogens, phytosterols, flavonoids, isoflavones that reduce the risk of complications of diabetes, lower cholesterol LDL, protects against cardiovascular disease and strengthens the immune system.

Daily physical exercise reduces cholesterol, blood pressure, improves insulin sensitivity, combats obesity, improves blood tone and reactivity, lowers blood viscosity, and prolongs life.

#### REFERENCES

- Soriguer F, Goday A, Bosch-Comas A, Bordiu E, Calle-Pascual A, Carmena R, Casamitjana R, Castano L, Castell C, Catala M, Delgado E, Franch J, Gaztambide S, Girbes J, Gomis R, Gutierrez G, Lopez-Alba A, Martinez-Larrad MT, Menendez E, Mora-Peces I, Ortega E, Pascual-Manich G, Rojo-Martinez G, Serrano-Rios M, Valdes S, Vazquez JA, Vendrell J: Prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose regulation in Spain: the Di@bet.es Study. Diabetologia. 2012, 55: 88-93. 10.1007/s00125-011-2336-9.
- 2. NP Steyn, J Mann, PH Bennett, N Temple, P Zimmet, J Tuomilehto, J Lindstro and A Louheranta. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of type 2 diabetes. Public Health Nutr. 2004 Feb: 7(1A): 147-65
- 3. Şerban V, Cheta D, Mihai A, Complicatiile cronice ale diabetului zaharat: generalitati, sistematizare, patogenie, Tratat roman de boli metabolice, vol.2, ed.Brumar, 2011, p 21-30
- 4. Seshasai SRK, Kaptoge S, Thompson A, Di Angelantonio E, Gao P, Sarwar N, Whincup PH, Mukamal KJ, Gillum RF, Holme I, Njølstad I, Fletcher A, Nilsson P, Lewington S, Collins R, Gudnason V, Thompson SG, Sattar N, Selvin E, Hu FB, Danesh J, Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration: Diabetes mellitus, fasting glucose, and risk of cause-specific death. N Engl J Med. 2011, 364: 829-841.
- 5. Nwaneri C, Cooper H, Bowen-Jones D: Mortality in type 2 diabetes mellitus: magnitude of the evidence from a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Diabetes Vasc Dis. 2013, 13: 192-207.
- 6. Sebire SJ, Toumpakari Z, Turner KM, Cooper AR, Page AS, Malpass A, Andrews RC. 'I've made this my lifestyle now": a prospective qualitative study of motivation for lifestyle change among people with newly diagnosed type two diabetes mellitus. BMC Public Health. 2018 Jan 31; 18(1):204.
- 7. Den Braver NR, Lakerveld J, Rutters F, Schoonmade LJ, Brug J, Beulens JWJ. Built environmental characteristics and diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis, BMC Med. 2018 Jan 31; 16(1):12.

# Mitochondria – key organelle for military aviation safety



#### Popescu C.

Military Unit 01877 Bucharest, Romanian Air Forces

Correspondence to: Name: Claudiu Popescu MD, PhD Address: Unitatea Militară 01877 București; Șoseaua de Centură, nr. 220, București, România E-mail address: claudiu\_popes\_ro@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

**Aim and objectives:** Inserting mitochondria as part of major impact study on military aviation safety and defining the concept, *operational scientific research*" in military aviation medicine.

**Material and method:** Analytical study, retrospective, historic and descriptive, designed by synthesizing several conceptual studies or relevant scientific modeling conducted during 1997 – 2017, fundamental research of biological mechanisms the human body operates in space.

**Results:** I introduced, for the first time, mitochondria as a study key organelle for military aviation safety. I detailed some of the cell biology mechanisms which mitochondria influence the physiological processes of the human body in space. I detailed and argued the practical applications of the mitochondrial study of military aviation safety, thus laying the foundations for operational scientific research. I highlighted some of the medicomilitary and aviation safety issues deriving from the operation of the Romanian Air Force the modern combat aircraft, F 16. I correlated the mitochondrial genetic pathology with the specific mission of the combat aircraft aviator and I highlighted the role of phylogenetic transmission, especially the maternal line, in various mitochondrial diseases.

**Conclusions:** It is necessary to evaluate the epidemiology of mitochondrial pathology in military aviation and the impact on aviation safety. It is necessary to introduce genetic tests in the aviators periodical medical examinations, to prevent aviation tragedies. An operational scientific research study will be initiated for identification, determination and monitoring the cumulative effect of the chemical toxicity from the space systems on the human body.

Keywords: mitochondria, mitochondrial genetic disease, gravity, aviation safety.

#### INTRODUCTION

Mitochondria are complex organelles, with multiple features and properties of vital importance in the human body's functioning.

Discovered over 150 years ago, the mitochondrion is an Experimental Biology subject of research, continuous, multidisciplinary [1].

Gravity was one of human concerns from the oldest times and for military aviation, overcoming the force of the gravitational acceleration G [2, 3].

Paradoxically, G force, one of the weakest fundamental forces, influences many of the biological processes and stimulates researchers to investigate perception mechanisms in living organisms [4,5].

Safety (aviation) flight must be a permanent concern both those responsible for the area, *the flight surgeon* and, also the medical community in military aviation medicine [3, 6].

New combat aircraft provided by the Romanian Air Force, F 16, oblige operational military aviation medicine to know a new dimension of evolution, to respond to the complexity of the challenges: physiological, psychological, psychosomatic, biological, chemical, biochemical, physical, biophysical, genetic, toxicological factors [1, 3, 6, 7].

#### Aim and objectives

Fundamental research of biological mechanisms the human body operates in space. Defining the concept of,,**operational scientific research**" for the military aviation medicine, in the context of new scientific and technological developments. Inserting mitochondria as part of major impact study on aviation safety in military aviation.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

Analytical study, retrospective, historic and descriptive, designed by synthesizing several conceptual studies or relevant scientific modeling conducted in the period 1997 – 2017, in order to obtain a meaningful scientific study.

The data used in the article were identified partly by searching medical databases / aviation medical (Medline, Medscape, Emmbase, Asma, Avmed, RSAM) and military aviation.

The search terms used were:,,mitochondria",,,mitochondrial genetic disease",,,gravity",,,aviation safety",,,Romanian Air Forces".

Data were staged, algorithm-based and have undergone processes of analysis and meta-analysis.

#### RESULTS

Mitochondria represents for the human cell what the liver is for the human body:,,the energy factory".

**Historically** speaking, mitochondria (Fig. 1) was, for cell biology researchers, the subject of study in electronic microscopy (Fig. 2), one of the pioneers in this field being George Emil Palade [1, 9].

George Emil Palade was awarded the Nobel Prize in physiology and medicine in 1974 "for discoveries on functional cell organization that have played an essential role in the development of modern cellular biology" [10].

Mitochondria have also been among the concerns of researchers in molecular biology and geneticists of all the time.

9



Figure 1. Mitochondria ultrastructure (Blausen et al adaptation) [8]

The discovery of mitochondrial DNA, protein synthesis and the study of mitochondrial biogenesis, they have started a new era in the gene expression of eukaryotic cells.

Henrick Kacser, a Romanian biochemist and geneticist of British nationality, has made an important contribution to the gene transmission of mutations, placing the molecular basis of gene dominance and creating a method of quantitative description of heterozygote versus mutant or wild-type genes [1, 11].



Figure 2. Kidney mitochondria (electronic microscopy made by E. Palade) [1]

On the other hand, overcoming the force of the gravitational acceleration G was also the subject of research for Romanian military aviation with its high value engineers.

Henri Coandă was one of the pioneers of aviation, whose inventions (the Coanda effect) we find in modern combat aircraft configuration (F 16), resulting in greater maneuverability, increasing the capacity of attack, greater flexibility in landing [12, 13, 14, 15].

From the *military aviation safety* point of view, protection against G factor and prevention of G-LOC (loss of consciousness) were the objects of study for aviation researchers [3].

Among the most important factors that decrease the tolerance to G factor are those *respirators* (hypoxia, hypercapnia, hyperventilation, tissue hypo perfusion), *metabolic* (ATP hyposynthesis, different etiologies hypoglycemia, hepatic hypoglycogenolysis), *neurological* (cerebral hypoperfusion, genetic diseases, headache syndrome, stroke history), *muscular* (myopathy, temporary hemiparesis of any etiology), *toxicological* (ethanol, ammonia, hydrazine, monomethyl hydrazine, nitric acid, nitrogen tetraoxide).

Mitochondria, through its roles and functions, provide most of the physiological processes in the human body. Some of these functions, which are the subject of our study, we will detail further:

1. The function of the **oxygen utilization** by the cells is provided by the *aerobic pathway* of the electron transport respiratory chain, oxidative catabolic process, also called oxidative phosphorylation.

The physiological substrate of the mitochondrial respiratory chain is provided by the cytochrome - NADH system (the reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide), complex consisting of cytochromes b - c1, the cytochrome oxidase complex a - a3 and the NADH dehydrogenase complex [16].

A practical application of this mitochondrial function, with important consequences for aviation safety is acclimatization to altitude (Fig. 3), after exposure to hypoxic and hypobaric environment. In order to protect itself from the harmful environment and, also to continue functioning optimally, the human body develops several types of defense mechanisms [7].

Terminology		
Acute Acclimatization (Accommodation)	Minutes	Rise in Heart Rate, Increased Ventilation
Chronic acclimatization	Days	Increase in hemoglobin (initial decrease in plasma volume followed by increased red cell mass), increased capillary density
Adaptation	Years	Alterations in hypoxic ventilatory response
Eiguro 2 Acclimatizati	on nrococco (	Infrom P. at al adaptation) [7]

# Processes of Acclimatization and Relevant

Figure 3. Acclimatization processes (Jefrey R. et al adaptation) [7]

2. The **energy generation** function by the cells is provided by coupling the respiratory chain, described above, with ATP - synthase phosphorylation.

The *aerobic pathway* is the most effective method the production of energy required for the functioning of the human body, the resulting energy is about 36 molecules of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the main intracellular energy resource.

The catabolic anaerobic pathway is a less effective way (Fig. 4), selective and harmful in long-term operation.



Figure 4. The cellular respiration (Jefrey R. et al adaptation) [7]

Thus, from glucose metabolism, by extra-mitochondrial glycolysis, only 2 molecules of ATP and different toxic products with slow release in the body (lactic acid) are produced. Other potential catabolic energy resources (fatty acids, amino acids) cannot be a substrate for the anaerobic pathway [7].

3. Selective **membrane transport** function of the metabolites, with the regulation of membrane permeability, is the main mechanism that helps cells to pass from survival to death by apoptosis. Mitochondrial dysfunction is found in most liver diseases such as: *nonalcoholic liver steatosis (nonalcoholic fatty liver disease - NAFLD), nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH),* drug-induced *hepatotoxicitaty, viral hepatitis* and *hepatic cancer* [17].

Another application of this feature is found in the *ischemia / reperfusion* lesion, which occurs during cardiac, cerebral or hepatic surgery [18].

Nitrogen is transported to the liver in free form of ammonium ion or aminoacids, most, glutamine and alanine [19].

Enzymes involved in hepatic detoxification of ammonium and urea synthesis (glutamate dehydrogenase, carbamoyl phosphate synthase and ornithine transcarbamylase) are represented exclusively in hepatic mitochondria.

Due to the fact that both glutamine and glutamine synthetase are enzymes located in the liver, protein metabolism and glutamine synthesis are running in hepatic mitochondria, mainly [17].

A practical application of this mitochondrial function, with major impact on military aviation safety, is represented by *ammonia metabolism*, resulting from decomposition of *hydrazine*.

Hydrazine, a highly toxic substance for the eye, respiratory system and skin, It is used as a fuel reserve for combat aircraft F 16 and is catalytically converted to ammonium ion and water vapor [7].

Another practical application, potentially toxic to the body and impacting aviation safety, is the phenomenon of *supersaturation*, during decompression. By this phenomenon, an amount of inert gas from the tissues can diffuse through the blood into the lungs and then into the expired air, leaving the remaining amount of gas dissolved in the blood being directly proportional to the absolute value of the environmental atmospheric pressure (Henry's theory of gas) [7].

Considering the above arguments and scientific data, we can postulate that mitochondria is the meeting point between different metabolic pathways, metabolic stressors and apoptosis in hepatocytes [17].

Thus, a new advanced study is necessary, for testing the etiological hypotheses in environment exposed group risk and social negative impact, using the indicators of social impact assessment: DALY, QALY, HLY [18,19].

5. *Replication and transcription* function of mitochondrial DNA

Human cells contain between 500 and 2,000 mitochondria, each of these organelles having its composition two to ten molecules of double-stranded circular DNA. The nucleotide sequence of the mitochondrial DNA was completely deciphered in 1981, revealing some particular elements of the mitochondrial genome, different from the nuclear genome. Mitochondrial DNA is not associated with histonic / nonhistonic proteins and almost does not contain repetitive DNA. Another hypothesis argues that mitochondria have evolved from certain species of prokaryotes.

Thus, considering the above data, we can conclude that mitochondrial genetic system is,,unique" [1, 23].

A practical application of this function, with a major impact on military aviation safety, is the inter-individual variability of the human body's response to the administration of a given toxic substance, depending on the genetic predisposition, age, gender, state of health or previous exposures to that substance.

An example of a toxic substance, applicable to aviation and airspace, is the ethanol. Thus, for each individual, genetic determinations should be made, to identify the,,genetic fingerprint" of the potency of individual reactivity to the action of the toxic substance [7].

The mitochondrial pathology is found in many medical specialties, being one of the subjects of interdisciplinary study.

The epidemiology of general mitochondrial pathology shows an incidence of 1 to 4,000 people, without concrete data about incidence or prevalence of each condition, separately [24].

Among mitochondrial disorders, the most significant for our study and aviation safety, are the mitochondrial genetic diseases, transmitted on maternity line: *MELAS syndrome*, *MERF syndrome* and *hereditary optic neuropathy Leber*.

MELAS syndrome is defined as a genetic disease that carries a number of disorders: mitochondrial (M), encefalomyopathy (E), lactic (L) acidosis (A) and stroke-like attacks (S) [25]. The disease begins in childhood, followed by a respite, with weakness and muscle pain, headache syndrome, loss of appetite, vomiting, vertigo and stroke-like attacks [27].

Other manifestations of the disease, of interest for our study, are: disturbances of consciousness, migraine syndrome and visual disturbances [26].

MERRF syndrome is defined as myoclonic (M) epilepsy (E), with red (R), ragged (R), muscle fibers (F). The main manifestations of the disease, that can affect aviation safety, are: hearing loss, accumulation of lactic acid in the muscle fibers, low tolerance to physical effort, low night vision [28].

**LEBER** hereditary optic neuropathy or optic neuropathy is defined as degeneration of retinal nerve fibers, with the irreversible loss of central vision. The first symptoms of the disease are blurred vision, to one eye or to both eyes, with the gradual and painless loss of vision [28].

The hereditary transmission of mutant mitochondrial DNA, exclusively on maternal line (heteroplasmy), has enabled lineage studies and to re-establish the maternal line of human populations at the origin of humanity, constituting the concept of a common African ancestor on the maternal line, symbolically called, mitochondrial EVE" (Fig. 5) or, continental travels" of our ancestral relatives [23].



Figure 5. Mitochondrial EVE (Covic M. adaptation) [23]

Thus, the physiological factors (micro and macroscopic), metabolic, genetic, toxicological are equally important for military aviation medicine, as well as other factors studied and documented in the literature (physical, mental, psychological), having a key role in aviation safety.

Military aviation medicine and its component, operational military aviation medicine, is facing new challenges, both medical and military, and it is necessary to redefine its place and its role in military medicine, analyzing and developing its capabilities and the augmentation of the potential development in medical research.

The emergence types of modern flight, air pressure variability in the environment, both for civil transport aircraft and in future space exploration missions, simultaneously with rapid transport of military and civilian personnel, obliges the specialist in aerospace medicine to become familiar with the new operational concepts [7].

Considering the arguments set out above and evaluating the,,active" research potential, in our operational structures, we propose the establishment, definition and development of the concept,,*operational scientific research*", with the involvement of all levels actors.

#### CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Epidemiology of mitochondrial pathology evaluation, both in military and civil aviation, and the impact on aviation safety.
- 2. Establishing the mechanism by which mutations in mitochondrial DNA determine neurological damage, increasing the occurrence of G-LOC.
- 3. Creating a correlation algorithm between liver and mitochondrial pathology.
- 4. Investigation of correlative relationship between mitochondrial and psychiatric pathology in military aviation.
- 5. Inserting the genetic testing (including liver disease and toxic susceptibility) in the periodic medical examination of aviators, as an additional measure to prevent aviation tragedies.
- 6. The concept of,,operational scientific research" will become a duty assignment for the flight surgeon, with a decisive role for military aviation medicine and military aviation safety.
- 7. Identify, determine and monitor the cumulative toxic effect of the chemical substances in space systems on the human body, in the context of introducing the new combat aircraft into the Romanian Air Forces.

#### Acknowledgement

The author gratefully thanks to the leadership team of Air Force Major Staff, for the opportunity in publishing, and also the leadership of the 86 Air Base "Lieutenant aviator Gheorghe Mociorniță" and the military aviators team from 53 Squadron Hunting F-16 Fighting Falcon, for the opportunity in achieving, this scientific article.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Lars Ernster and Gottfried Schatz. Mitochondria: A Historical Review. The Journal of Cell Biology. 1981 (accesat la data de 22.11.2017);
- 2. Dennis R. Jenkins. Dressing for altitude, U.S. Aviation Pressure Suits-Wiley Post to Space Shuttle. E-book. NASA Content Administrator. https://www.nasa.gov (accesat la data de 15.11.2017);
- Kathy A. MccloskeyLloyd D. TrippTamara L. CheletteStephen E. Popper. Test and Evaluation Metrics for Use in Sustained Acceleration Research. Human Factors. Vol 34, Issue 4, pp. 409 -428. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872089203400404;
- 4. Randy Wayne and Mark P. Staves. A Down-to-Earth Model of Gravisensing. Gravitational an Space Biology Bulletin 10(2), June 1997;
- 5. Physics: Fundamental Forces and the Synthesis of Theory. Scientific Thought: In Context. Retrieved November 23, 2017 from Encyclopedia.com: http://www.encyclopedia.com/science/science-magazines/physics - fundamental - forces - and - synthesis - theory;
- 6. Leonard Marin Lupu. Medicul de zbor trecut, prezent și viitor. A XXI a Sesiune Anuală de Medicină și Psihologie Aeronautică;
- Jeffrey R. Davis, M.D., Robert Johnson, Jan Stepanek. Fundamentals of aerospace medicine 4 th edition. ISBN 9780781774666. Wolters Kluwer / Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008;

- Blausen.com staff (2014). "Medical gallery of Blausen Medical 2014". WikiJournal of Medicine 1 (2). DOI:10.15347/wjm/2014.010. ISSN 2002-4436;
- 9. Turner, M.R., Kiernan, M.C. Landmark Papers in Neurology. ISBN 9780199658602. Landmark Papers in Oxford University Press, 2015;
- 10. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 1974". Nobelprize.org. Nobel Media AB 2014. http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel\_prizes/medicine/laureates/1974 (accesat la data de 24.112017);
- Henrik Kacser, James A. Burns. THE MOLECULAR BASIS OF DOMINANCE. Genetics, vol. 97, Issue 3-4, pp. 639- 666. First Published March 1, 1981. http://www.genetics.org/content/97/3-4/639;
- 12. Gal-Or, B. Vectored Propulsion, Supermaneuverability and Robot Aircraft. ISBN 9781461389613. Springer New York, 2013;
- 13. B.E. Wake, G. Tillman, S.S. Ochs, J.S. Kearney. Control of High-Reynolds-Number Turbulent Boundary Layer Separation Using Counter-Flow Fluid Injection, 3rd AIAA Flow Control Conference, 2006;
- 14. Coanda, H. "US Patent# 2,052,869." Device for Deflecting a Stream of Elastic Fluid Projected into an Elastic Fluid (1936);
- 15. Coanda H. (1936a), US Patent n. 3,261,162, Lifting Device Coanda Effect, USA;
- 16. Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, et al. Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition. New York: Garland Science; 2002. ISBN-10: 0-8153-3218-1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK21054;
- 17. Davide Degli Esposti, Jocelyne Hamelin, Nelly Bosselut, et al., "Mitochondrial Roles and Cytoprotection in Chronic Liver Injury," Biochemistry Research International, vol. 2012, Article ID 387626, 16 pages, 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/387626;
- Claudiu Popescu, Ioan Romoşan, Matilda Săndesc. The silent burden of a population: chronic hepatitis C. General population screening – Medicine in Evolution, Volume XXII, No. 2, 2016, p. 225 – 233.
- 19. Popescu C. Mihai Claudiu. Infecția cu virus hepatitic C. Epidemiologie, marker neinvazivi. Teza de doctorat în medicină. Timișoara, 2016;
- 20. G. Kroemer, L. Galluzzi, and C. Brenner, "Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death," Physiological Reviews, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 99–163, 2007;
- L. Boon, W. J. C. Geerts, A. Jonker, W. H. Lamers, and C. J. F. Van Noorden, "High protein diet induces pericentral glutamate dehydrogenase and ornithine aminotransferase to provide sufficient glutamate for pericentral detoxificationof ammonia in rat liver lobules," Histochemistry and Cell Biology, vol. 111, no. 6, pp. 445–452, 1999;
- 22. Tischler Marc E., Hecht Pat and Williamson John R.(1977), Effect of ammonia on mitochondrial and cytosolic NADH and NADPH systems in isolated rat liver cells, FEBS Letters, 76, doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(77)80129-4;
- 23. Mircea Covic. Genomul mitocondrial și implicarea mitocondriilor în patologia umană. Revista Viața Medicală, numărul 45 (1451), 2012;
- 24. MELAS. Genetics Home Reference. December 2013. Retrieved 11 April 2017;
- 25. Douglas M. Sproule, Petra Kaufmann. Mitochondrial encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and strokelike episodes: basic concepts, clinical phenotype, and therapeutic management of MELAS syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008 Oct; 1142: 133–158. doi: 10.1196/annals.1444.011;
- 26. Tranchant, C., Anheim, M. (2016). "Movement disorders in mitochondrial diseases". Revue Neurologique. doi:10.1016/j.neurol.2016.07.003;
- 27. DiMauro S., Hirano M. MELAS. 2001 Feb 27 [Updated 2013 Nov 21]. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., editors. GeneReviews® [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993-2017. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1233;
- 28. Chinnery PF. Mitochondrial Disorders Overview. 2000 Jun 8 [Updated 2014 Aug 14]. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., editors. GeneReviews. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993-2017. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1224.

# The art of behavioral management in pediatric dentistry



#### Anghel T.

Faculty of General Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "VictorBabeş", Timişoara, România

Correspondence to: Name: Anghel T. Address: Faculty of General Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "VictorBabeş", PiațaEftimieMurguNr. 2, 300041, Timișoara, România Phone: +40 747501741 E-mail address: ceakra1@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

This article will help dental practitioners to find out how to manage better the relationship with children.

The overall goal of the article is to provide a brief review regarding the main techniques of behavioral management in pediatric dentistry

Keywords: behavior, management, dental fear, child.

#### INTRODUCTION

Behavior management is an essential skill and should be acquired by all members of a dental team treating children.

Treating a crying child is one of the most difficult job for a dentist, so the aim of behavior management is to instill a positive dental attitude in the anxious patient, deliver quality dental care, build a trusting relationship between dentist, child, and parent and create long-term interest on patient's part so as to facilitate ongoing prevention and improved dental health in the future [1]. So, it is important that dentists have a wide range of behavior guidance techniques to meet the needs of the individual child and be tolerant and flexible in their implementation [2,3].

#### DEFINITION

Behavior management refers to the application of various techniques by which the dental health team effectively and efficiently performs dental treatment and thereby instills a positive dental attitude in the patient and behavioral guidance is the process by which medical staff help patients identify appropriate and inappropriate behavior and learn problem solving strategies.

Dental fear and anxiety are the main causes of dental avoidance that leads to deterioration of one's oral health and may impair ones psychosocial functioning and quality of life [4]. Dental fear is an inevitable emotion that appears as a response to the stress induced by various dental procedures. Its intensity varies from nervousness and anxiety to dental phobia and it is considered to be the main barrier for successful completion of treatment [5,6].

Different anxieties fears that children have about visiting the dentist are:

- the uncertainty about what is going to happen, a new experience.
- past negative experiences associated with medical treatment involving pain. Children who have had negative experiences associated with medical treatment may be more anxious about dental treatment [7,8]. Prevention or reduction of pain during treatment can nurture the relationship between the dentist and the patient, build trust, allay fear and anxiety, and enhance positive dental attitudes for future visits [9]. Much more, misinterpreted or ignored changes in behavior due to painful stimuli can cause sensitization for future appointments as well as psychological trauma [10].
- previous fearful dental visits have also been related to poor behavior at subsequent visits.When taking medical history, it is important to ask the parents about previous treatments and the child's response to them.[11]
- the attitude of parents who are unable to contain their own dental anxieties. Bailey et al (1973) reported that there was a relationship between maternal anxiety and child management in children of all ages, especially those aged 4 years or younger [12].
- mass media and cartoons can also contribute to the negative image of the dentist that may lead to development of dental fear.

For managing a child in dental office various factors have to be seen like - the type of behavior, the child's anxiety, age of the child, child rearing techniques, personality variables, parental attitudes toward behavior management techniques, dental treatment to be rendered and the legal implications [13].



Figure 1. The main techniques of behavioral management

#### **I.Preappointment behavior** modification:

**1. Films or videotapes** have been developed to provide a model for the young patient. The goal is to have the patient reproduce behavior exhibited by the model. On the day of the appointment, or perhaps at a previous visit, the new pediatric patient views the presentation.

**2. Live patient modes:** such as siblings, other children, or parents. Many dentists allow young children into the operatory with parents to preview the dental experience.

#### 3. **Positive pre-visit imagery**

Patients are shown positive photographs or images of dentistry and dental treatment in the waiting area before the dental appointment [14].

**3. Preappointment mailings:** precontact with the parent can provide directions for preparing the child for an initial dental visit and therefore can increase the likelihood of a successful first appointment. Precontact offers a practical approach for teaching parents how to prepare their children for a first dental visit.

4.**An evaluation of the child's cooperative potential** is essential for treatment planning. Initially, information can be gathered from the parent through questions regarding the child's cognitive level, temperament/personality characteristics, anxiety and fear, reaction to strangers and behavior at previous medical/dental visits, as well as how the parent anticipates the child will respond to future dental treatment [10].

**II.Behavior shaping** means providing the child with cues and reinforcements that direct them toward more desirable behaviors. Traditional behavior shaping strategies effective in the dental office include Tell-show-do (TSD), modeling and distraction.

#### 1. Tell-show-do

This is a technique of desensitization which is widely used to familiarize a patient with a new procedure, while minimizing the fear of the unknown.

Tell-show-do involves verbal explanations of procedures in phrases appropriate to the developmental level of the patient (tell); demonstrations for the patient of the visual, auditory, olfactory, and tactile aspects of the procedure in a carefully defined, nonthreatening setting (show); and then, without deviating from the explanation and demonstration, completion of the procedure (do). The tell-show-do technique is used with communication skills (verbal and nonverbal) and positive reinforcement [2,15,16,17].

The objectives of tell-show-do are to:

- teach the patient important aspects of the dental visit and familiarize the patient with the dental setting
- shape the patient's response to procedures through desensitization and well-described expectations.

#### 2. Ask-tell-ask

This technique involves inquiring about the patient's visit and feelings toward or about any planned procedures (ask); explaining the procedures through demonstrations and non-threatening language appropriate to the cognitive level of the patient (tell); and again inquiring if the patient understands and how she feels about the impending treatment (ask) [18].

The objectives of ask-tell-ask are to:

- assess anxiety that may lead to noncompliant behavior during treatment;
- > teach the patient about the procedures and how they are going to be accomplished;
- confirm the patient is comfortable with the treatment before proceeding.
- assess the patient's informational needs. Instead of asking, "Do you have any questions?" to which patients often reply, "No," instead ask, "What questions or concerns do you have?" Be sure to ask, "Anything else?"
- > assess the patient's knowledge and understanding

#### 3.Voice control

Voice control is a deliberate alteration of voice volume, tone, or pace to influence and direct the patient's behavior.

The objectives of voice control are to:

- gain the patient's attention and compliance;
- avert negative or avoidance behavior;
- > establish appropriate adult-child roles.

#### 4.Nonverbal communication

Nonverbal communication is the reinforcement and guidance of behavior through appropriate contact, posture, facial expression, and body language [19,20]. Observation of the child's body language is necessary to confirm the message is received and to assess comfort and pain level [9].

Communication may be impaired when the sender's expression and body language are not consistent with the intended message. When body language conveys uncertainty, anxiety, or urgency, the dentist cannot effectively communicate confidence in her clinical skills [21].

The objectives of nonverbal communication are to:

- enhance the effectiveness of other communicative management techniques
- gain or maintain the patient's attention and compliance

#### 5. Distraction

Distraction aims to shift the attention of the patient's attention away from the dental procedure. This may be in the form of music, cartoons, or stories. Another well recognized method is for dentists to talk to patients as they work so that patients listen to them rather than focusing on the procedure..[21]

More sophisticated diversion techniques include the use of video, music, or video which can help in eliminating dental sounds and sight of the dental treatment, hence helping in gaining control of the child [22,23].

The objectives of distraction are to:

- decrease the perception of unpleasantness
- > avert negative or avoidance behavior.

#### 6. Positive reinforcement

The most powerful reinforcers are social stimuli, such as verbal (positive reinforcement:"*You're doing great*", "*That's good*", "*The way you keep your mouth open its amazing*"), positive voice modulation, facial expression, approval by hugging [24].

#### 7. Memory restructuring

Memory restructuring is a behavioral approach in which memories associated with a negative or difficult event (eg, first dental visit, local anesthesia, restorative procedure, extraction) are restructured into positive memories using information suggested after the event has taken place [25].

#### 8. Cry Analyser

Even if there are very few studies done to evaluate the efficacy of audio analgesia pediatric dental patient we consider that the advantages of this must not be ignored.

Gardner and Licklide which introducted this technique in 1959, originally listed seven factors contributing to the audio analgesic effect [27]:

- The noise appears to directly suppress the pain caused by dental operation.
- The noise removes a source of anxiety by masking the sound of the dental drill.
- The music, and the noise, which sounds like a waterfall, has a relaxing effect.
- When both music and noise are presented, the music can be followed only through concentration which distracts attention away from the dental operation.
- Active participation gives the patient a feeling of control over a situation which formerly seemed completely out of his hands.
- The dentist can judge the patient's state of anxiety or discomfort by noting whether the patient is using music or noise, and by observing the intensity of each signal.

In one study, S.Ajinkya, R.Talathi, C.Yussuf and M.Abdul evaluated and compared audio analgesia in management of anxious pediatric dental patient using cry as a parameter [26]. They identified the following types of cries that are commonly encountered:

- **Pain cry**: This cry is characterised by nonstop and uncontrollable crying which is high pitched and loud.
- **Frightened cry**: This cry is characterized by a sharp shrilled extremely high pitched cry followed by small breath catching sobs followed by a sharp shrilled extremely high pitched cry.
- **Obstinate cry**: it is loud high pitched & characterized as a siren like wail, a pause and repeated over and over again. This forms a belligerent cry, represents the child external response to anxiety. Child throws a temper tantrum to thwart dental treatment.
- **Compensatory cry**: Slow monotonous cry, the crying serves to "compensate" for the noise. It's a kind of coping mechanism to unpleasant stimuli.

In their study audio analgesia was used as a behaviour guidance technique considering cry as a parameter. The choice of music was left to the patients, to allow the child to gain control over the unpleasant stimulus and give them feeling of being in familiar environment.

#### CONCLUSIONS

A key component of reducing anxiety in children is to use a technique of behavioral management. Nowadays the balance has shifted toward non-aversive techniques and dentists have a wide range of behavior techniques to meet the needs of the youngest people.

#### REFERENCES

 Wright G. Behavior management in dentistry for children. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Company; 1975

- 2. Feigal RJ. Guiding and managing the child dental patient: A fresh look at old pedagogy. J Dent Educ 2001; 65(12):1369-77.
- 3. Wright GZ, Stigers JI. Nonpharmacologic management of children's behaviors. In: Dean JA, Avery DR, Mc- Donald RE, eds. McDonald and Avery's Dentistry for the Child and Adolescent. 9th ed. Maryland Heights, Mo: Mosby-Elsevier; 2011:27-40.
- 4. Rayman S, Dincer E, Almas K. Managing dental fear and anxiety. N Y State Dent J 2013;79:25-9.
- 5. Chapman H.R., Kirby N.C. Dental fear in children: a proposed model. British Dental Journal 1999; 187(8): 408-412.
- 6. Udoye C.H., Oginni A.O., Oginni F.O.: Dental anxiety among patients undergoing various dental treatments in a Nigerian teaching hospital. Journal of Contemporary Dental Practice 2005; 6(2): 91-98
- 7. Newton J.T., Buck D.J. Anxiety and pain measures in dentistry a guide to their quality and application. J Am Dent Assoc 2000; 131:1449–1457.
- 8. Humphris G.M., Morrison T., Lindsay S.J. The Modified Dental Anxiety Scale: validation and United Kingdom norms. Community Dent Health 1995; 12:143–150.
- 9. Nutter DP. Good clinical pain practice for pediatric procedure pain: Target considerations. J Calif Dent Assoc 2009;37(10):719-22.
- 10. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Behavior symposium Workshop A report Current guidelines/revisions. Pediatr Dent 2014;36(2):152-3.
- 11. Fayle SA, Tahmassebi JF. Pediatric dentistry in the new millennium: 2. Behaviour management helping children to accept dentistry. Dent Update 2003; 30:294–98
- 12. Bailey PM, Talbot A, Taylor PP. A comparison of maternal anxiety and anxiety levels manifested in the child patient. J Dent Child 1973;40: 277–84.
- 13. Guideline on behavior guidance for the pediatric dental patient. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Ref Man 2013;34:175-87.
- 14. Fox C, Newton JT. A controlled trial of the impact of exposure to positive images of dentistry on anticipatory dental fear in children. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2006;34(6):455-9.
- 15. Carson P, Freeman R. Tell–show–do: reducing anticipatory anxiety in emergency pediatric dental patients. Int J Health Prom Educ 1998;36:87–90.
- 16. Law CS, Blain S. Approaching the pediatric dental pa- tient: A review of nonpharmacologic behavior manage- ment strategies. J Calif Dent Assoc 2003;31(9):703-13.
- 17. Townsend JA. Behavior guidance in the pediatric patient. In: Casamassimo PS, Fields HW Jr, McTigue DJ, Nowak AJ, eds. Pediatric Dentistry Infancy through Adolescence. 5th ed. St Louis, Mo. Elsevier-Saunders Co; 2013: 352-70.
- 18. Goleman J. Cultural factors affecting behavior guidance and family compliance. Pediatr Dent 2014;36(2):121-7.
- 19. Eaton JJ, McTigue DJ, Fields HW Jr, Beck M. Attitudes of contemporary parents toward behavior management techniques used in pediatric dentistry. Pediatr Dent 2005;27(2):107-13
- 20. Townsend JA. Behavior guidance in the pediatric patient. In: Casamassimo PS, Fields HW Jr, McTigue DJ, Nowak AJ, eds. Pediatric Dentistry Infancy through Adoles- cence. 5th ed. St Louis, Mo. Elsevier-Saunders Co; 2013: 352-70.
- 21. Chadwick B. Non-pharmacological behavior management: clinical guidelines, 2002 [Online]. The British Society of Pediatric Dentistry [Accessed 2010 Jan 25]. Available from: URL: <a href="http://tiny.cc/9KiD0">http://tiny.cc/9KiD0</a>>.
- Chambers DW. Communicating with the young dental patient. J Am Dent Assoc 1976;93(4):793-9.
- 23. Bankole OO, Denloye OO, Aderinokun GA, Jeboda SO. Th e relationship of childrens predicted behavior to their observed behavior during dental procedures. Afr J Biomed Res 2002;5:109-13.
- 24. Lencher V, Wright GZ. Nonpharmacotherapeutic approaches to behaviour management. In: Wright GZ, editor. Behaviour Management in Dentistry for Children. Philadelphia: Saunders; 1975.
- 25. Gardner WJ, Licklider JC. Auditory analgesia in dental operation. J Am Dent Assoc 1959; 59:1144-9.
- 26. Ajinkya.S, Talathi R, Yussuf.C, Abdul.M, Cry Analyser- A Tool for Behaviour Management Kamath PS. A novel distraction technique for pain man- agement during local anesthesia administration in pedi- atric patients. J ClinPediatr Dent 2013;38(1):45-7.
- 27. Brown RE, Livingston HM, Willard J. Silent Music Soothes the Surgical Patient. Mod Hosp 1949; 72(4):51-3



# Dental Hygienist

**Full title:** European Training Platform for Continuing **Professional Development of Dental Hygienist** Start: 2015/09/01 Finish: 2018/08/31 **Programme:** ERASMUS+ **Sub-Programme:** Key Action – Strategic Partnership **Coordinator:** Karolinska Institutet

# Oral health is a determinant factor for quality of life, essential for well-being, and an integral part of general health.

Our mission is to promote oral health and the cost effective prevention of oral diseases in Europe. In the EU, the socio-economic burden of oral diseases is considerable: they affect the majority of school-aged children and adults and account for 5% of public health spending". The European Platform for Better Oral Health.

The dental hygienist is the key provider of preventive oral care in order to promote and improve the oral health of individuals, families and groups in society. The European inequality in access to oral health care can be tackled by harmonisation of dental hygienist education on ground level and increasing access to continuing education.

# The goals of EuHyDens are:

Demonstrate the importance and role of dental hygienists in the society by improving skills and knowledge.

- Harmonization of dental hygienists qualifications in Europe.
- Recognition of the dental hygienist profession in all EU-member states.
- Mobility of dental hygienists and cross-border cooperation among stakeholders
- Strengthen the position of dental hygienists by encouraging entrepreneurship activities and by promoting communication and mobility among the dental hygienists within the EU-nations.



# **KAROLINSKA INSTITUTET, Sweden**



Institute of Entrepreneurship Development, Greece



**UNIVERSITATEA DE MEDICINA SI FARMACE VICTOR BABES TIMISOARA, Romania** 

LISBOA UNIVERSIDADE **UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA, Portugal** 



**European Dental Hygienists Federation, Spain w** 







Praktikertjänst AB, Sweden





**UNIVERSITATEA DE MEDICINA SI FARMACIE 'CAROL DAVILA' DIN BUCURESTI, Romania** 

## Digital versus conventional impressions: a comparative evaluation of student and dentist's perception



#### Rotar R., Goguta L., Pricop C., Gavrilovici A., Hategan S., Jivanescu A.

Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, "Victor Babes" University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Timisoara

Correspondence to: Name: Luciana Goguta DMD, PhD, Lecturer Address: Piata Eftimie Murgu, nr. 2, cod 300041 Phone: +40 744273092 E-mail address: lucianag@umft.ro

#### Abstract

The aim of this study was to the evaluate differences in perception between experienced prosthodontics specialists, residents and students, regarding conventional and digital impressions, and also to determine which method is more time efficient.

Material methods. Five prosthodontic specialists, five prosthodontic residents and four dental students, made conventional and digital impressions on a typodont model mounted on a manikin. Working times for both impression techniques were recorded and compared. A multiple choice questionnaire was used to assess the participant's perception, preference and effectiveness regarding both techniques and the results were statistical evaluated.

Results. Overall results showed that the digital impression was the preferred method among all test groups and also was the most time efficient.

Conclusions. The null hypothesis that digital impressions is faster and more efficient was confirmed. According to the operator's perception the digital impression technique was accepted as the preferred and effective technique.

**Keywords:** *conventional impression, digital impression, time efficiency, operator's perception.* 

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Nowadays patients demand a more time efficient workflow in the dental office, but at the same time maintaining quality treatments and accurate clinical results(1). CAD/CAM technology and intraoral scanning may provide a better optimized workflow with an increased comfort for the patient and with a similar precision to the conventional treatment.(2) Working with a digital system has advantages such as reduced time for taking an impression, removes the risk of transmitting disease to the dental office, absence of distortion from the impression material and last but not the least an improved patient acceptance(3-7).

Digital impression techniques are a clinically acceptable alternative to conventional impression methods for the fabrication of crowns and short FDPs. For fabrication of implant-supported crowns and FDPs, digital impression systems also result in clinically acceptable fit. Digital impression techniques are faster and can shorten the operation time. Based on this study, the conventional impression technique is still recommended for full-arch impressions (8). On the other hand, the marginal and internal fit is also a very challenging issue and there are already some studies that reveal the superior accuracy of the digital impression compare to conventional impression (9,10, 11, 12). There are also some studies that reveal no difference between conventional and digital impression regarding the marginal fit discrepancy (13, 14). The digital impressions should be as accurate and efficient as conventional impressions. Comparisons were made with clinically relevant data (15).

The aim of this clinical trial was to evaluate the effectiveness and operator's perception towards the digital impression technique compared to the conventional impression technique. The null hypothesis was that digital impressions are faster, more efficient and more "user friendly" than conventional impression.

#### Objective

The aim of this study was to evaluate the operator's perception between dental students, prosthodontics residents and experienced clinicians when making digital and conventional impressions and to determine which is the most time efficient method.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was realized in the Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Victor Babes" Timisoara, Romania. Five prosthodontic specialists, five prosthodontic residents and four students made conventional and digital impressions on a typodont model prepared for fixed partial denture model mounted on a manikin.

#### Conventional impression

The proper tray for both arches was selected (Fig. 1). Each operator took one step single impression for both arches, the upper with the prepared abutment and the lower with opposing teeth, using addition silicone with two consistencies (putty and low viscosity). This resulted in a total number of 14 impressions. The effectiveness and clinical outcomes of the conventional impression technique was evaluated by measuring the total treatment time, including the individual steps: A) mixing the silicone B) placement of the impression material in the tray, and C) actual impression procedure(upper and lower impression). The treatment time was measured in seconds and recorded for each step by a second operator.



Figure 1. Half arch conventional impression

#### Digital impression

The next step was to take the digital impression of the prepared tooth (Fig.2). The digital impressions were performed using the introral scanner PlanScan, Planmeca. Each operator scanned the upper and the lower areas of interest and also the bite registration was recorded(Fig 3). All digital scanning procedures were carried out according to the manufacturer's guidelines and performed by each operator. The overall scanning times were recorded in seconds.



Figure 2. Digital impression of the prepared tooth

After scanning upper arch, lower arch and the buccal bite, digital model were obtained and analized.(Fig.3).



Figure 3. Digital model of the prepared abutment

The operators were asked to fill a questionnaire regarding their opinion towards both ways of taking the impression, and their answers were quantified. The questionnaire included the following questions:

1. Which was the preffered impression technique?

2. Which impression technique was more efficient?

3. Which impression technique do you believe will allow you to become more proficient?

For time efficiency statistical analysis was performed using paired T-test within each group followed by ANOVA test when all three groups were compared.

#### RESULTS

Time efficiency for both impression techniques is presented in Table 1. The mean overall impression times in the specialist group were statistically significantly different between conventional and digital impression, with a p value of 0.04. In the resident and student groups, the differences between impression times were extremely statistically significant, with a p value lower than 0.001.

The mean overall treatment time of the conventional impression technique was the lowest for the clinician group with a value of 281±68.25 sec followed by the resident group (344.8±8.14) and the student group(346.25±16.68). However the results were not statistically signifiant with a p value of 0.058.

The mean overall treatment time for the digital impression was the lowest for the resident group with a value of 141.4±23.21 sec followed by the student group (186.25±43.01 sec) and the specialist group(196.2±74.77 sec). In this situation as well, the results were were not statistically signifiant with a p value of 0.25(Table 2).

	Conventional Impression Time(sec)	Digital Impression Time(sec)	p-Valı
	160	106	
	311	235	
Specialist	297	301	
-	322	182	
	315	157	
Mean	281	196.2	
Standard deviation	68.25	74.77	
Paired t- Test	$\rightarrow \rightarrow -$	$\rightarrow \rightarrow$	0.044
	341	178	
	347	137	
Prosthodontics Resident	344	122	
	335	148	
	357	122	
Mean	344.8	141.4	
Standard deviation	8.14	23.21	
Paired t- Test	$\rightarrow \rightarrow -$	$\rightarrow \rightarrow$	0.000
	322	141	
	355	199	
Student	349	165	
	359	240	
Mean	346.25	186.25	
Standard deviation	16.68	43.01	
Paired t- Test	$\rightarrow \rightarrow -$	$\rightarrow$	0.001
	↓↓	↓↓	
Amorra Tast	p value is 0.058275	p value is 0 25878	

Table 1. Time efficiency for both impression techniques(Statistical significance level p-0.05

Table 2. Mean overall treatment time. All data are presented as mean ± SD(Statistical significance level p-0.05.)

Group	Conventional	Digital	p Value
Specialist	281±68.25	196.2±74.77	0.0449
Resident	344.8±8.14	141.4±23.21	0.0001
Student	346.25±16.68	186.25±43.01	0.0018

63.3% of the participants declared that the preferred impression technique was the digital impression, followed 28.6% of the participants having no preference over the type of impression, and last those who preferred the conventional impression, 7.10% (Fig.4).

Which was the preffered impression technique?



Figure 4. Graphical representation of operator's preferences regarding the impression techniques

Regarding the efficiency, 92.9% considered that the digital impression allows for a better workflow in the dental office, while 7.1% chose the conventional impression (Fig.5).





78.6% of the participants believed that digital impressions will allow for better future clinical results while 21.4% declared that either type of impression can lead to proficient results (Fig.6).



Which impression technique do you believe will allow you to become more proficient?

Figure 6. Graphical representation of operator's opinions regarding future results with either type of impression
### DISCUSSIONS

There are only a few studies regarding the patients' and dentists' perception of the type of impression: conventional or digital (15, 1). The study realized by Lee & all(10) concludes that the conventional impression was more difficult to perform for the student group than the clinician group; however, the difficulty level of the digital impression was the same in both groups. It was also determined that the student group preferred the digital impression as the most efficient impression technique, and the clinician group had an even distribution in the choice of preferred and efficient impression techniques. In this study in all three groups, digital impression was the preferred method. Also the digital impression was more efficient than the conventional method and as a result the null hypothesis was confirmed.

The test groups were standardized and homogenized by including operators who had little or no experience with digital and conventional impressions in their dental history.

In this study the primary focus was on the time efficiency and the preference of the operators regarding the two impression techniques. However, due to the fact that this was an *in vitro* study, the measurements were made in the absence of clinical factors such as: patient temperature, presence of saliva, patient movements, humidity levels and as such, *in vivo* measurements may generate different results. Also the precision of each impression was not taken into consideration and only visual inspection of the impressions was performed.

The results of this study have revealed clinical evidence that the digital impression technique can be applied successfully for the impressions of restorative procedures based on clinical outcomes and the operator's preferences.

The major advantage of digital impressions is reducing the chair time. The results of study indicate that the efficiency outcomes of the digital impression technique were higher than that of the conventional impression technique, with respect to treatment time taken up and the perceptions of the operators.

### CONCLUSIONS

Within the limitations of this study, the following conclusions can be drawn:

1. The conventional impression technique was less efficient than the conventional impression technique. The overall treatment time for the digital impression technique was shorter than that for the conventional impression technique. Thus, the null hypothesis was confirmed.

2. When compared with the conventional impression technique, the digital impression technique was accepted as the preferred and effective technique, according to the operator'sperception.

- 1. Joda T, Brägger U. Patient-centered outcomes comparing digital and conventional implant impression procedures: a randomized crossover trial. Clin Oral Implants Res 2016; 27:185-9.
- 2. Yuzbasioglu E, Kurt H, Turunc R, Bilir H. Comparison of digital and conventional impression techniques: evaluation of patients' perception, treatment comfort, effectiveness and clinical outcomes. BMC Oral Health 2014; 30:14-7.
- 3. Hondrum SO. Changes in properties of nonaqueous elastomeric impression materials after storage of components. J Prosthet Dent 2001;85:73-81. 9.
- 4. Kapos T, Evans C. CAD/CAM technology for implant abutments, crowns, and superstructures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2014;29:117-36
- 5. Lee CY, Wong N, Ganz SD, Mursic J, Suzuki JB. Use of an intraoral laser scanner during the prosthetic phase of implant dentistry: a pilot study. J Oral Implantol 2015; 41:126-32. 12.

- 6. Joda T, Brägger U. Digital vs. conventional implant prosthetic workflows: a cost/time analysis. Clin Oral Implants Res 2015; 26:1430-5. 11
- 7. Rodriguez JM, Bartlett DW. The dimensional stability of impression materials and its effect on in vitro tooth wear studies. Dent Mater 2011; 27:253-8. 10.
- 8. Ahlholm P, Sipilä K, Vallittu P, Jakonen M, Kotiranta. Digital Versus Conventional Impressions in Fixed Prosthodontics: A Review. JProsthodont. 2016 Aug 2. doi: 10.1111/jopr.12527. [Epub ahead of print] Review.
- 9. Chochlidakis KM, Papaspyridakos P, Geminiani A, Chen C, Feng IJ, Ercoli C. Digital versus conventional impressions for fixed prosthodontics: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prosthet Dent. 2016 Aug; 116(2):184-190.
- 10. Lee SJ1, Gallucci GO. Digital vs. conventional implant impressions: efficiency outcomes. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2013 Jan; 24(1):111-5.
- 11. Ng J, Ruse D, Wyatt C.A comparison of the marginal fit of crowns fabricated with digital and conventional methods. J Prosthet Dent. 2014 Sep; 112(3): 555-60.
- 12. Su TS, Sun J Comparison of marginal and internal fit of 3-unit ceramic fixed dental prostheses made with either a conventional or digital impression. J Prosthet Dent. 2016 Sep; 116(3): 362-7.
- 13. Abdel-Azim T, Rogers K, Elathamna E, Zandinejad A, Metz M, Morton D. Comparison of the marginal fit of lithium disilicate crowns fabricated with CAD/CAM technology by using conventional impressions and two intraoral digital scanners. J Prosthet Dent. 2015 Oct; 114(4): 554-9.
- 14. Tsirogiannis P, Reissmann DR, Heydecke G. Evaluation of the marginal fit of single-unit, complete-coverage ceramic restorations fabricated after digital and conventional impressions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prosthet Dent. 2016 Sep; 116(3): 328-335.
- 15. Lee SJ, Macarthur RX 4th, Gallucci GO. An evaluation of student and clinician perception of digital and conventional implant impressions. J Prosthet Dent. 2013 Nov; 110(5): 420-3.

## Esthetic and functional results using orthodontic appliances in patients with oral habits in mixed dentition



### Szuhanek C., Dumitrescu S., Schiller E., Manea N., Luca M., Buzatu R.

2<sup>nd</sup> Department, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Victor Babes Timisoara

Correspondence to: Name: Dr Stefania Dumitrescu Address: Piata Eftimie Murgu, nr. 2, cod 300041 Phone: +40 723371097 E-mail address: stefaniadumitrescu03@yahoo.com

### Abstract

Thumb sucking and tongue thrusting are the most common oral habits. These habits develop during the early stages of life, but if they persist during the mixed dentition stage, they can lead to various modifications and the development of malocclusion and esthetic problems.

This article describes two cases of patients with mixed dentition and esthetic modifications due to oral habits such as thumb sucking and tongue thrusting. The cases shown have been successfully treated by removable, respectively fixed tongue crib orthodontic appliances. Both cases show satisfactory correction of habits and esthetic results.

Keywords: oral habits, habit breaking appliance, mixed dentition, orthodontics.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Oral habits, some of which include thumb sucking, thumb biting, lip sucking, tongue thrusting and mouth breathing, are known to produce various destructive effects on the oro-facial system [1, 2]. The harmful and lasting effects of any habit are influenced by a series of factors, such as duration, intensity and frequency of the habit per day. [1,4]

Prolonged thumb sucking habits and tongue thrusting are the most commonly seen repetitive behaviours, both of which can lead to a number of side-effects, including aesthetic problems. [3, 6]

Thumb sucking habit is characterized by the repeated and forceful sucking of the thumb, associated with a strong contraction of the lip and buccal musculature. It is considered a normal childhood behavior up to the age of 3-4 years, but if the habit extends into the mixed dentition, it can lead to a series of problems: development of anterior open bite, increased overjet, labial inclination of the upper incisors associated with lingual inclination of the lower incisors, Class II malocclusions, but also compensatory tongue thrust. [1,5]

Tongue thrusting habit consists in the protruding of the tongue through the incisors during swallowing, but also when the tongue is at rest. This habit can happen when the transition between infantile and adult swallowing pattern is delayed. Tongue thrusting can be associated with other oral habits, such as mouth breathing and can also lead to open bite, overjet and Class II malocclusions. [1]

The treatment of oral habits during mixed dentition consists in the elimination of the etiology, retraining exercises and use of orthodontic appliances. The tongue crib appliance is a very efficient habit breaking appliance. It forms a mechanical barrier and prevents tongue thrusting between the frontal teeth, but also the placement of the thumb inside the mouth, limiting thumb sucking. Patient compliance is something that has to be taken into consideration when choosing a habit breaking appliance. Thus, for the treatment of oral habits, there is a choice between removable and fixed tongue crib appliances. [3]

This article presents 2 cases in which the aesthetic problems that resulted from tongue thrusting and thumb sucking habits were successfully corrected using orthodontic appliances.

### CASE REPORTS

### Case 1

The patient was a 7 year old boy whose parents' main complaint was "the appearance of the frontal teeth". Intraoral examination showed mixed dentition and an open bite. The patient had proclined and rotated upper central incisors, increased overjet and a slight midline deviation (Fig. 1). Functional examination suggested atypical swallowing with tongue thrusting habit.



Figure 1. Pre-treatment intraoral aspect

**Treatment Progress** 

In the beginning, the patient and his parents were made aware of the association between the aesthetic problems and the tongue thrusting habit. The selected treatment was a removable acrylic orthodontic appliance, with a labial bow, an active baseplate in order to achieve palatal expansion and a tongue crib for preventing the patients' habit from continuing (Fig. 2).

The patient was also trained to swallow correctly, and was asked to regularly do tongue exercises, the goal being to achieve an adult swallowing pattern. The patient was recalled for checkup every month.



Figure 2. Removable acrylic orthodontic appliance with a tongue crib

### **Treatment Results**

At the end of the 11-month treatment, the open bite was successfully corrected, retroclination of the upper central incisors and a normal overjet were achieved, and the aspect of the smile improved significantly (Fig. 3). The patient and his parents were satisfied with the aesthetic treatment results.



Figure 3. Post-treatment intraoral aspect

### Case 2

A 9 year old girl presented with a complaint of "forwardly placed upper teeth". The parents reported that the child had a thumb sucking habit. Intraoral examination revealed mixed dentition and damage due to the child's habit, that was localized in the upper left side of the mouth. The patient had proclined upper incisors on the left side.



Figure 4. Pre-treatment intraoral aspect

**Treatment Progress** 

The effects of the thumb sucking habit were explained to the child and she was asked to discontinue the habit. The initial treatment start was with a removable plate, without achieving the compliance of the patient, The choice of treatment was a fixed habit breaking appliance with a tongue crib, with molar bands that were placed and cemented on the upper first molars, associated with a removable acrylic palatal expander (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. Removable orthodontic appliance and fixed habit breaking appliance with tongue crib

### **Treatment Results**

After a 2-year treatment, the proclination of the upper left incisors was corrected and satisfactory aesthetic results were achieved. (Fig.6)



Figure 6. Post-treatment intraoral aspect

### DISCUSSIONS

The patients with mixed dentition had a history of tongue thrusting, respectively thumb sucking and both of them complained of the aspect of their teeth due to these oral habits, their main goal being fixing the aesthetic problems.

The orthodontic appliances proved useful in resolving these issues. Both the removable and the fixed habit breaking appliances with a tongue crib were efficient in discontinuing the oral habit. The patients' compliance to stop the damaging oral habit was also a very important factor that helped achieve the positive results.

Thus, in cases with satisfactory patient compliance, aesthetic problems due to various oral habits can be corrected successfully, using a fixed or removable habit breaking appliance.

- 1. Rajesh J Kamdar, Ibrahim Al-Shahrani. "Damaging Oral Habits". J Int Oral Health. 2015 Apr; 7(4): 85–87
- 2. S K Srinath, Rani Satish. "Management of Thumb Sucking Habit in a 8 Year Old Child A Case Report". International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR), Volume 4 Issue 3, March 2015.
- 3. Reji Abraham, Geetha Kamath, Jasmeet Singh Sodhi, Sonia Sodhi, Chandki Rita, S. Sai Kalyan. "Habit Breaking Appliance for Multiple Corrections". Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Case Reports in Dentistry, Volume 2013, Article ID 647649

- 4. Orlando Tanaka, Wagner Oliveira, Melissa Galarza, Vanessa Aoki, and Bruno Bertaiolli. "Breaking the Thumb Sucking Habit: When Compliance Is Essential". Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Case Reports in Dentistry, Volume 2016, Article ID 6010615
- 5. Saima S, Chaudhary S, Chaitra TR, Manuja N, Sinha A. "Management of thumb sucking habit using Blue Grass Appliance: A Case Report". Annals of Dental Specialty Vol. 4; Issue 2. Apr – Jun 2015
- 6. Nidhi Pruthi, Girish M Sogi, Shailee Fotedar. "Malocclusion and deleterious oral habits in a north Indian adolescent population: A correlational study". European Journal Of General Dentistry 2013, Vol. 2, Issue 3, Page: 257-263.

## A retrospective study analyzing the differences in orthodontic measurements between active orthodontic treatments with transpalatal arches, and those with molar anchorages



### Pop S.I.<sup>1</sup>, Păcurar M.<sup>1</sup>, Eșian D.<sup>2</sup>, Ciotloș M.I.<sup>3</sup>, Bratu C.D.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tirgu Mureş <sup>2</sup>Department of Pedodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tirgu Mureş <sup>3</sup>Student, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Tirgu Mureş <sup>4</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, "Victor Babeş" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timişoara

Correspondence to: Name: Ciotloş Minodora-Iulia Address: Str. Târnavei, nr. 6, Târgu Mureş Phone: +40 743912162 E-mail address: minodoria@gmail.com

### Abstract

**Aim and objectives:** to compare mesial movement of the upper first molars after orthodontic extraction with two types of anchorage methods; namely, the transpalatal arch (TPA), and molar anchorage.

**Material and methods:** 16 patients were included in the study (8 with TPA, 8 with molar anchorage). Data was collected from 2 cephalograms and 2 casts for each patient, one set was taken before and another one after the treatment. On the casts the measurements were: the first inter-molar distance; the anterior dental arch length; the distance between the first molars (left and right) in the sagittal plane; the angle between the mesiobuccal cusp of the upper first molars, and the median. The cephalograms were processed using Ricketts analysis.

**Results:** The only difference between the parameters of the two groups was showed in the angles between the mesiobuccal cusps of the upper first molars and the medians (p=0.038).

**Conclusions:** No important differences were demonstrated between the two types of anchorages.

Keywords: anchorage loss, transpalatal arch, orthodontics

### **INTRODUCTION**

Different types of malocclusion are treated in association with extractions. Patients that can benefit from this form of treatment are, for example, the ones with short arches, with anterior crowding, or with a deviated median line. [1]

Even though there is controversy surrounding extractional treatment, studies have shown that treating class II/1 cases with premolar extraction will not determine a distal movement of the mandible with a negative influence of the facial esthetics.[2, 3] Other studies analyzed patients (that were class II and were treated with extractions) 15 years after the treatment was performed. They could not find any negative effect of the extractions over the facial esthetics or the mandibular position. [4, 5]

The extractions are necessary especially when there is a severe lack of space. That is the case of many patients with class II/1. Some of them have a genetic etiology: maxillary protrustion and/or mandibular retrognathia. Others have vicious habits related to the soft oral tissues: labial incompetence, lips or tongue interpositions. Mouth breathing can also be a promoting factor. These patients have larger ANB angle than normal and they might have an open bite or a deep bite. [6]

However, the anchorage is vital to a successful outcome of the orthodontic treatment of such clinical cases. Transpalatal arches (TPA) are used not only to reinforce the anchorage, but to also tip and rotate the molars, increasing the chances of obtaiting an occlusion close to the ideal. [7]

### Aim and objectives

The primary goal of this study was to compare mesial movement of the upper first molars after orthodontic extraction with two types of anchorage methods; namely, the transpalatal arch, and molar anchorage (the 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> molars were connected on each side of the arch with ligatures).

### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study was designed as a retrospective study. The survey was carried out in Tîrgu Mureş, Romania.

Data from a total of 16 patients (from 11 to 29 years old) with class II/1 malocclusion that was treated at the Natural Smile Dental Clinic were collected. All the subjects included required extraction of both of the first upper premolars. They were divided in two groups: 8 of them were treated using molar anchorage, the other 8 received a TPA. For each patient we did measurements on 2 casts and 2 cephatograms. One set was taken before the treatment, the other set corresponded with the end of the treatment. They had no comorbidities and were not taking any medication.

On the study casts the measurements were taken as follows:

-the first inter-molar distance (fig.1);

-the anterior dental arch length (fig.1);

-the distance between the first molars (left and right) in the sagittal plane (fig.1);

-the angle between the mesiobuccal cusp of the upper first molars, and the median (fig.2).



Figure 1. The measurement on the casts: IM is the first intermolar distance; SS is the anterior dental arch length; The M-V marks the mesiobuccal cusps



Figure 2. The arrows indicate the angles between the mesiobuccal cusp of the upper first molars, and the median



Figure 3. The red arrow shows the segment that was measured for the Ricketts analysis

The first molars' position was also determined on the patients' cephalograms using Ricketts analysis (the distance between the distal surface of the first upper molar, and a vertical line that passes through Pt- Pterygo-maxillary fissure, fig.3).

Data were entered and analyzed in Microsoft Excel 2010. Statistical analysis was conducted on the gained data. Mean and standard deviation were established. To determine the differences between the measurements in the two groups Student-T test was applied ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

### RESULTS

The total sample of 16 patients was comprised of 6 (37.5%) males and 10 (62.5%) females. The mean age of evaluated patients was 16.8 years. Data were statistically analyzed with Student-T test and the variables are presented as mean and standard deviation (Table 1).

Table 1. Statistical analysis

The before-after difference for the following parameter:	Molar anchorage (mean+/-standard deviation)	ATP (mean+/-standard deviation)	Comparison		
the first inter-molar distance	0 ± 1,414	-2,27 ± 2,939	p=0.1184		
the anterior dental arch length	-3,8 ± 2,588	-1,8 ± 4,039	p=0.3173		
the distance between the first molars (left and right) in the sagittal plane	1,8 ± 1,924	-0,67 ± 3,478	p=0.1526		
the angle between the mesiobuccal cusp of the upper first molars, and the median-left	3,2 ± 7,981	-5,87 ± 7,8	p=0.038		
the angle between the mesiobuccal cusp of the upper first molars, and the median-right	1 ± 5,385	-4,07 ± 9,331	p=0.2695		

Our results show no significant differences between the parameters of the two groups, except in the angles between the mesiobuccal cusps of the upper first molars, and the medians (p=0.038). Ricketts analysis did not reveal a significant difference between the anterior movements of the first molars.

### DISCUSSIONS

The results of this study confirm the efficiency of both types or anchorages, but also their resemblance. As the Table 1 shows, only for the angles between the mesiobuccal cusps of the upper first molars, and the medians (p=0.038) was a statistical difference, showing that the TPA has a higher efficiency derotating the molars.

The results are not surprising and are comparable to what others studies have shown. For example: Heather L. Zablocki studied the cephalograms of matched samples of 30 patients to see the TPA's ability to enhance orthodontic anchorage during extraction treatment. His results published in the American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics showed that the TPA does not provide a significant effect on either the anteroposterior or the vertical position of the maxillary first molars during extraction treatment. [8]

Another study published in the European Journal of Orthodontics by Anders Dahlquist shows that the effectiveness of the TPA was significant mostly for the derotation of the first molars that were mesiopalatally rotated. [9]

A similar study to ours (in material and method) was the study of Gaetana Raucci et al. They analyzed maxillary changes in patients undergoing treatment with TPA and fixed appliances. Their material consisted of casts and cephalograms of 36 patients taken before the TPA, after the TPA, right after the fixed appliances were removed and 3 years after the fixed appliances were removed. On the cephalograms they measured the inclination of the incisors. On the casts they measured the arches' length, the intercanine distance, the interpremolar distance and the anterior dental arch length. [10]

Adel Alhadlaq et al wrote another study related to canine retraction and TPA. They did measurement on the cephalograms before and after the orthodontic treatment for 20 patients. They applied the Ricketts analysis and measured the anteroposterior movement of the first molars the same way that we did. They evaluated the movement of the distal side of

the upper first molar towards a vertical line that was perpendicular on Frankfurt's plane and hit the Pt point. [11]

Our studie's results are comparable and reinforced by the international medical literature, in spite of being a limited one, with a low number of participants.

### CONCLUSIONS

- This study did not find any important statistic differences regarding the mesial movement of the upper first molars after orthodontic extraction using two types of anchorage methods: the ATP and the molar anchorages.
- The orthodontic treatments using any of the two types of anchorage are efficient in treating different malloclusions.
- The TPA might enhance the anchorage and does derotate the first molars.

- 1. Dewel, B. F. "Serial extraction in orthodontics: Indications, objectives, and treatment procedures." American Journal of Orthodontics 40.12 (1954): 906-926.
- 2. Paquette, David E., John R. Beattie, and Lysle E. Johnston. "A long-term comparison of nonextraction and premolar extraction edgewise therapy in "borderline" Class II patients." American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 102.1 (1992): 1-14.
- 3. 18. Johnson, Darryl K., and Richard J. Smith. "Smile estheties after orthodontic treatment with and without extraction of four first premolars." American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 108.2 (1995): 162-167.
- 4. Luppanapornlarp, Suwannee, and Lysle E. Johnston Jr. "The effects of premolar-extraction: a long-term comparison of outcomes in "clear-cut" extraction and nonextraction Class II patients." The Angle orthodontist 63.4 (1993): 257-272.
- 5. Young, Toni M., and Richard J. Smith. "Effects of orthodontics on the facial profile: a comparison of changes during nonextraction and four premolar extraction treatment." American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 103.5 (1993): 452-458.
- 6. Raucci, Gaetana, et al. "Maxillary arch changes with transpalatal arch treatment followed by full fixed appliances." The Angle Orthodontist 85.4 (2014): 683-689.
- 7. 3. James A. McNamara, Jr., D.D.D, Ph. D; William L. Brdon. Orthodontic and Orthopedic Treatment in the Mixt Dentition; Needham Press, 1993; 10: 179-192
- 8. Heather L. Zablocki, James A. McNamara Jr, Lorenzo Franchi, Tiziano Baccetti; Effect of the transpalatal arch during extraction treatment; The American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics, 2008
- 9. Dahlquist, Anders, Urs Gebauer, and Bengt Ingervall. "The effect of a transpalatal arch for the correction of first molar rotation." The European Journal of Orthodontics 18.1 (1996): 257-267.
- 10. Raucci, Gaetana, et al. "Maxillary arch changes with transpalatal arch treatment followed by full fixed appliances." The Angle Orthodontist 85.4 (2014): 683-689.
- 11. Alhadlaq, Adel, Thamer Alkhadra, and Tarek El-Bialy. "Anchorage condition during canine retraction using transpalatal arch with continuous and segmented arch mechanics." The Angle Orthodontist 86.3 (2015): 380-385.

# **Evaluation of the treatment results of class II, division 1 malocclusions**



### Bucur A.<sup>1</sup>, Pop S.I.<sup>2</sup>, Bratu D.C.<sup>3</sup>, Păcurar M.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Resident Doctor, Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Iuliu Hațieganu, Cluj Napoca <sup>2</sup>Department of Orthoodntics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy of Tîrgu Mureş, Tîrgu Mureş <sup>3</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, "Victor Babeş" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timişoara

Correspondence to: Name: Pop Silvia Izabella Address: Aleea Carpați Nr 53/68, loc. Tîrgu Mureş, jud. Mureş Phone: +40 742013062 E-mail address: kecsetisilvia@yahoo.com

### Abstract

### AIM AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this study was to investigate the post-treatment results in maxillary and mandibular arches in treatment with functional appliances followed by fixed appliances, compared to only fixed orthodontic therapy.

### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The sample consisted of the records of 15 patients divided into two groups, one treated only with fixed appliances, and the second group, fixed combined with functional appliances. Study casts and cephalometric radiographs were analyzed before and after treatment. Ricketts, Steiner and Wits analysis was used. The data was submitted to calculations in Excel program. Statistical analysis was done in order to determine the significant differences.

### RESULTS

Statistically significant changes in SNA, ANB, I-NA, I-NB angles, overjet, overbite and in molar relationship were observed between initial and final records of both groups.

### CONCLUSSIONS

Regarding the differences between the two groups, only Co-Gn has showed a significantly change. Further studies are needed in order to determine whether or not fixed appliance treatment time was decreased in the group treated with both functional and fixed appliances.

Keywords: stability, orthodontics, malloclusion.

### INTRODUCTION

The importance of early treatment of class II division 1 malocclusions arises out of the existence of anteroposterior discrepancy between upper and lower dentition, which ultimately affects the quality of life of the pacient. [1]

Growing time is an adequate period to obtain succesful results, by offering the clinican the ability to influence growth changes. [2] Longitudinal studies have demonstrated that changes obtained during the active treatment period tend to relapse toward the initial malocclusion in the posttreatment years due to different factors: facial growth, initial treatment time and type of the used appliances.

The esthetic issues correlated with this anomaly can have great impact in the psychological and social aspects of the pacient's behaviour. [3]

### Aim and objectives

The main objectives of this study were:

- ► To investigate the changes in maxillary and mandibular arches after wearing functional appliance followed by fixed appliance, opposed to fixed orthodontic therapy only.
- To compare the before and after status regarding certain indeces and perimeters correlated to canine and molar relationship.

### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study analyzed a number of 15 records of pacients with Class II division 1 malocclusion, (10 females and 5 males, aged between 9 and 18 years ol), treated in Tirgu Mureş city. The subjects adressed a private dental centre, where they were treated by a orthodontic specialist. The material consisted of 30 study casts (figure 1) (before and after treatment), 30 cephalometric radiographs (before and after), a regular compass and ruller, and the negatoscope. Each patient records consisted of study casts and radiological examinations, followed by the measurement of certain indeces and parameters.



Figure 1. Examined study casts

The patients records were divided into two groups:

Group 1: 14 study casts and 14 cephalometric radiographs of pacients treated with functional appliance followed by fixed appliance.

Group 2: 16 study casts and 16 cephalometric radiographs of pacients who underwent only fixed orthodontic therapy. Both groups were treated using a non-extractional technique.

Using Ricketts, Steiner and Wits analysis, several parameters were measured on the cephalometric radiographs (table I).

Initial and Parameters			SNA	i.NA (° și mm)
			A-N.perp.	i.pl.bisp.
			Co-A	i.NB (° și mm)
		T.º 1	SNB	IMPA
	and	id Final	Pg-N.perp	SNGo.Gn
			CO-Gn	FMA
			ANB	Overjet
			АоВо	Overbite
			Molar status	

Table I. Initial and final parameters measured on the cephalometric radiographs

The following indeces were measured on the study casts:

- Upper anterior perimetry
- Lower anterior perimetry
- Upper intermolar distance
- Lower intermolar distance
- Upper intercanine distance
- Lower intercanine distance
- Irregularity index IRI (Little)

Data was brought together using Excel program and then was submitted to statistical analysis using Student 'T' Test.

### RESULTS

Results revealed the fact that SNA and ANB angles had almost identical values in the two examined groups, group 1 showed higher values regarding SNB angle and CO-A and CO-Gn distances, compared to group 2, while group 2 showed important values of SN-GO.Gn angle and FMA angle. The value of the overjet was similar in the two groups (figure 2).



Group 2 showed higher values regarding lower anterior perimetry, lower intercanine distance and the Irregularity index (figure 3).



Figure 3. Comparison between perimeters on the study casts

Applied to our study and knowing that the value of "p" is significant only if it is less than 0.05, it can be observed that only Co-Gn distance showed relevance, expressed by p=0.0294 (table II).

			SNA°	SNB°	ANB°	A- N.perp (mm)	Pg- N.perp (mm)	Co.A (mm)	Co.Gn (mm)	S.GoGn°	
	Group 1	Mean	81	79.2	3	1.667	6.25	86.8	110.6	30,8	
		mean ± standard deviation	81 ± 3,317	79,2 ± 5,762	3 ± 1,225	1,67 ± 0,577	6,25 ± 2,217	86,8 ± 3,701	110,6 ± 2,302	30,8 ± 5,891	
	Group	Mean	81	78	3	5.6	12,167	81.5	106,83	33.83	
	2	mean ± standard deviation	81 ± 3,899	78 ± 4,05	3 ± 1,095	5,6 ± 5,03	12,17 ± 8,519	81,5 ± 5,32	106,83 ± 2,483	33,83 ± 12,303	
		P =	1	0.6945	1	0.239	0.2189	0.0937	0.0294	0.7441	

### DISCUSSIONS

On the basis of these findings and within the limitations of our study it could be concluded that the wearing of functional appliance (e.g. activator) before fixed orthodontic therapy does not influence the treatment outcomes in a significant way, except the fact that the difference between the two groups regarding Co-Gn distance shows a mandibular groth stimulated by activators. Some authors [8] stated that activators are most effective only in a mild-to-moderate Class II skeletal discrepancy and they should be used on growing patients in order to avoid potential trauma due to the proclination of upper incisiors.

Proclined upper incisors and labial incompetence between 9-12 years old are treated with Andresen functional appliance, although most of the orthodontists choose to finish the treatment using fixed therapy [10-11].

Fixed appliances alone are successfully used in order to gain Class I molar and canine relationships, they could not influence the growth of the maxilla and mandible [6-9].

Based on the data found in other specialized literature studies, fixed therapies only are as effective as functional followed by fixed appliance and they have a few more advantages: require less time and less costs, their wearing doesn't depend on the child's compliance [5]

Our study is in accordance with Nanda s [7] findings: differences that appeared after one-phase treatment disappeared when both groups received fixed appliance treatment. [7]

### CONCLUSIONS

Following our study, we could establish the fact that only Co-Gn distance showed significant difference whithin the two groups.

A drawback of our study is the reduced number of examined cases. Further studies are to be conducted based on an increased patient lot.

- 1. Tulloch JF, Proffit WR, Phillips C. Outcomes in a 2-phase randomized clinical trial of early Class II treatment, Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2004 Jun;125(6):657-67.
- 2. Klontz H., Goals, concepts and guidelines for comprehensive correction of class II maloclussions, The Tweed Profile, 2009, vol.III, 3-7 ;
- 3. Kuiper's MA, Kuijpers-Jagtman AM.Orthodontics in general practice 3. Angle Class II/1 malocclusion: one-phase treatment preferred to two-phase treatment. Ned Tijdschr Tandheelkd. 2008 Jan;115(1):22-8
- 4. De Vincenzo J. Changes in mandibular length before, during, and after successful orthopedic correction of Class II malocclusions, using a functional appliance. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 1991;99:241–257.
- 5. Mitchell L., Fixed appliances. An Introduction to Orthodontics, 3rd edition. New York, Oxford University Press Inc; 2007
- 6. Esequiel Eduardo Rodríguez Yanez, 1001 tips for Orthodontics and its secrets, 2007, Venezuela, ISBN-13: 978-9381714393
- Ravindra Nanda, Retention and stability in orthodontics, 1993, London, United Kingdom, ISBN-13: 978-0721643427
- 8. Hotz R, Orthodontics in Daily Practice, Hans Huber Publishers Viena Berna, Stuttgart, 1974;
- 9. Marsan G. Effects of activator and high-pull headgear combination therapy: skeletal, dentoalveolar, and soft tissue profile changes. Eur J Orthod. 2004 Jun; 26(3):293-302.
- 10. Robert Bohlin, Andreas Bousios, Treatment alternatives for patients with Class II division 1 malocclusion, Odontologiska institutionen Karolinska Institutet
- Nelson B., U. Hägg, K. Hansen, M. Bendeus. A long-term follow-up study of Class II Malocclusion correction after treatment with Class II elastics or fixed functional appliances. Eur J Orthod. 1997 Apr; 19(2):185-93.

### The level of knowledge of rural dentists regarding bisphosphonate therapy



# Bălean O.I., Podariu A.C., Galuscan A., Jumanca D., Chioran D., Matichescu A., Roi A.

Victor Babeş University of Medicine and Pharmacy Timişoar, Faculty of Dental Medicine

Correspondence to: Name: Octavia-Iulia Bălean Address: Str. Nicolae Iorga, Nr 4, Ap 9, Timișoara, România Phone: +40 748677191 E-mail address: balean.octavia@yahoo.com

### Abstract

The aims of the following study were to evaluate how the anamnesis is performed in rural dental practice cabinets in the counties of Caras Severin and Timis, the collaboration between dentists and primary care physicians and to assess the level of knowledge regarding the approach of patients undergoing bisphosphonate therapy. To reach our goal, we submitted a questionnaire to 130 dentists from rural areas in the counties of Timis and Caras-Severin, Romania. The questionnaire was structured to obtain data on how anamnesis is performed in the dental office, on the level of dental practitioners' knowledge on dental effects of bisphosphonate therapy, on the trademark names of bisphosphonates and on the management of bisphosphonate therapy. One of the most important roles in the approach of a dentistry patient is the implementation of a detailed and correct anamnesis, in order to gather all the information regarding the patient's medical history before the initiation of bisphosphonate treatment. In addition, the anamnesis should be performed through the whole treatment period.

Keywords: Dentists, Anamnesis, Bisphosphonates, Level of knowledge.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Recently, bisphosphonates have become one of the most used drugs prescribed in the treatment of osteoporosis, oncological diseases, as well as Paget's disease. Osteonecrosis of the jaw has emerged over the last 10 years as an adverse effect of amino-bisphosphonates. In 2003, Marx reported the first cases of osteonecrosis of the jaw associated with bisphosphonates (1). Afterwards, the number of cases with jaw osteonecrosis caused by oral or intravenous bisphosphonate treatment has increased. (2)

Bisphosphonates are synthetic compounds of pyrophosphate (a bone turnover regulator) containing in their molecule the P-C-P structure with 2 carbon-linked side chains, R 1 and R 2. Chain R1 is represented by the hydroxyl or amino group and has an increased affinity for calcium. The R2 chain gives bisphosphonates an antiresorptive potency which increases by elongation with an amino group. (3)

Oral surgery procedures are considered the major risk factor for jaw osteonecrosis. Of these, dental extraction is the most common cause, 52-61% of patients whom have undergone dental extractions have been diagnosed with jaw osteonecrosis. Also, periodontal diseases and the use of incorrectly adapted dental denture are well known local risk factors for jaw osteonecrosis.(4)

Bisphosphonates linked risk factors are the bisphosphonate type, the duration of treatment, the method of administration (2,5). In order to prevent adverse effects determined by bisphosphonates, patients should be carefully evaluated before treatment initiation. (6) Therefore, dentists are required to know the classes of BSF drugs and their side effects in order to obtain an improved therapy management.(7) The aim of the study was to evaluate the level of knowledge of rural dentists over the attitude adopted towards patients undergoing treatment with BSF.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

A transversal study was carried out on a group of 130 dentists from rural areas from the counties of Timis and Caras Severin, Romania. They were distributed at a conference with a 98% response rate from all participants in the training.

The method of data gathering was done through a questionnaire that was structured in 2 large parts. The first part addressed the manner in which the dentists performed the anamnesis and their collaboration with the primary care physician. The second part of the questionnaire assessed the dentist's level of knowledge and the medical approach used regarding bisphosphonate therapy. The questionnaire contains explicit multiple choice questions. The questionnaire was distributed by a single person and the participants were not allowed to consult any sources of information.

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

The first part of the questionnaire assessed the anamnesis (frequency, the person who performs it, if it is either written or oral, the amount of details and its use during the treatment period).

80% of the patients whom had an appointment only had an initial session, which could lead to the loss of information during periodic treatments, and only 20% of the patients had their anamnesis repeated at the beginning of each treatment session.



38% of the dentists performed anamnesis both as a free discussion with the patient and a through a questionnaire, 52% through a free discussion, and only 10% through a questionnaire.

In Romania, a national questionnaire was implemented to assess the health status, which has led to attention being paid to the effects of bisphosphonates in the dental system, the knowledge of commercial names and the importance of the dose and how they are administered. Thus, we can say that access to international literature has led to the introduction of new data on bisphosphonate therapy.



DENTAL RECORD TYPE

48% of the dentists recorded all the details, while 38% recorded only the relevant ones and 14% did not complete the dental checklist. Failure to complete dental records and lack of details may lead to the loss of valuable information, providing a wrongful approach of the therapeutic plan and causing undesirable complications.

### THE STRUCTURE OF DENTAL RECORD



The importance and necessity of anamnesis should not be diminished. Most dental practitioners periodically update the patient's record (60%), while 30% did not update it, and 10% did not fill in the patient's record at all.



Interdisciplinarity is compulsory in order to provide an appropriate treatment.

The collaboration between the dentist and the primary care physician should be constant, the latter can be an important provider of important information regarding the patient's clinical condition.

Thus, 26% of the participants ask for the contact details of the primary care physician, 36% only ask for their name, 12% only ask for the phone number and 26% do not ask for any information regarding the primary care physician.



### INFORMATION REQUIRED REGARDING THE PRIMARY CARE PHYSICIAN

70% of the dentists got in touch with primary care physicians. When the patient claims to have chronic illnesses only 4% get in touch with the primary care physicians for every patient and 26% never got in touch the primary care physicians.



In most cases, the collaboration between the dentist and the patient's primary care physician is maintained by providing data from medical letters. Only 6% of the participants had failed to obtain the patient's medical history, and 14% did not get in touch with the primary care physician.

#### ATTITUDE OF THE PRIMARY CARE PHYSICIAN



The patient is asked for information regarding the contact details of the primary care physician, in order to obtain valuable medical information regarding the patient's medical history. However, some of the inquired participants did not contact the primary care physician, a situation which inevitably leads to an alteration of the medical act.



### DENTAL RECORD TYPE

36% of the participants performed the anamnesis only by verbal communication, 14% through both verbal communication and written information, 25% of them actually interviewed the patient through a questionnaire and 25% by written information.

Although the correlation between bisphosphonate therapy and jaw osteonecrosis has recently been discovered, the gravity of complications leads to the need for a complete knowledge regarding the implications of this treatment plan. (8)

Regarding the data on patients' general medication, 44% of the participants ask for information about the treatment of osteoporosis and oncological diseases, 20% ask for information regarding the treatment of osteoporosis, Paget's disease and oncological diseases, 18% inquire about the treatment of oncological diseases and 18% inquire for osteoporosis treatment. All of these diseases may contain bisphosphonates in the therapeutic regimen.



The study revealed that the knowledge of dentists in the rural area is quite high, 38%, of the participants are well informed about the effects of bisphosphonates, the trade names, while 40% of the participants have been informed about the effects of bisphosphonates, however they fail to recognize their trade names, and 22% were unaware of the bisphosphonate adverse effects.



LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE REGARDING BISPHOSPHONATES

After the patient informs the dentist that he is under bisphosphonate treatment, most participants send the patients to the specialist doctor, 14% of the participants discontinue the treatment prescribed by the specialist and 12% perform the dental treatment under antibiotic prophylaxis.

51

#### DENTIST'S APROACH TOWARDS A PATIENT UNDERGOING BISPHOSPHONATE TERAPY:



### CONCLUSIONS

One of the most important roles in the approach of a dentistry patient is the implementation of a detailed and correct anamnesis, in order to gather all the information regarding the patient's medical history before the initiation of bisphosphonate treatment. In addition, the anamnesis should be performed through the whole treatment period.

In this study, most dentists know how to recognize the medical indications of bisphosphonates, which did not explain the increased number of secondary maxillary osteonecrosis due to bisphosphonate therapy.

Despite the fact that the literature is abundant in information regarding bisphosphonates and their adverse effects, there are dentists who do not know the effects of these drugs.

In addition to ignoring the patient's bisphosphonate treatment, dentists apply dental maneuvers, which can inevitably lead to a deterioration of the patient's clinical condition.

Dental medicine does not deal with the health of the teeth but also with a good state of the dental system.

In conclusion, it is important that each dentist should perform a detailed anamnesis and to be aware of the medical management of patients undergoing bisphosphonate treatment. Therefore all physicians must be trained on how to approach patients undergoing bisphosphonate treatment.

- 1. Marx RE (2003) Pamidronate (Aredia) and zoledronate (Zometa)induced avascular necrosis of the jaws: a growing epidemic. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 61:1115–1117
- 2. Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Assael LA, Landesberg R, Marx RE, Mehrotra B (2009) American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons position paper on bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws 2009 update. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 67:2–12
- 3. Daniela Trandafir, Violeta Trandafir OSTEONECROZA MAXILARELOR INDUSĂ DE BIFOSFONAȚI: REVISTA LITERATURII Jurnalul de Chirurgie (Iași), 2012, Vol. 8, Nr. 2 118-128
- 4. Konstantinos Vahtsevanos, Athanassios Kyrgidis, Evgenia Verrou, Eirini Katodritou, Stefanos Triaridis, Charalampos G. Andreadis Longitudinal Cohort Study of Risk Factors in Cancer Patients of Bisphosphonate-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.21.9584 Journal of Clinical Oncology 27, no. 32 (November 2009) 5356-5362

- 5. Rugeiro SL, DodsonTB Fantasia J, GooddayR, aghaloo T, Mehtrotra B, O Ryan F, American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons Position Paper on Bisphosphonate-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaws 2014 Update J.Oral Maxillofac Surg 72:1938-1956
- 6. A. M. Vandone M. Donadio M. Mozzati M. Ardine M. A. Polimeni S. Beatrice L. Ciuffreda M. Scoletta Impact of dental care in the prevention of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw: a single-center clinical experience Annals of Oncology, Volume 23, Issue 1, 1 January 2012, Pages 193–200
- 7. Lana El Osta Badi El Osta Sara Lakiss Martine Hennequin Nada El Osta, Bisphosphonaterelated osteonecrosis of the jaw: awareness and level of knowledge of Lebanese physicians Supportive Care in Cancer September 2015, Volume 23, Issue 9, pp 2825–2831
- 8. Paula Baptistella de Lima Veruska Lima Moura Brasil Jurema Freire Lisboa de Castro Flávia Maria de Moraes Ramos-PerezFábio Abreu Alves Maria Luiza dos Anjos Pontual Danyel Elias da Cruz Pere Knowledge and attitudes of Brazilian dental students and dentists regarding bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw Supportive Care in Cancer December 2015, Volume 23, Issue 12, pp 3421–3426

# Chromatic attributes of aesthetic area teeth



### Buzatu R., Goguta L., Szuhanek C., Cosoroaba R.M., Vâlceanu S.A.

Faculty of Dental Medicine, Faculty of Dental Medicine

Correspondence to: Name: Luciana Goguță Address: Str. Gheorghe Lazăr 42, Timișoara Phone: +40 744273092 E-mail address: lucianag@umft.ro

### Abstract

Introduction: Qualitative assessment of geometric and chromatic landmarks of patients' dento-facial structures and identification of all inappropriate aspects is the primary stage from which any treatment should begin, the ultimate goal of which is the aesthetic rehabilitation of the smile.

Case report: A 20 year old patient presented with a fracture at the mesial angle of the upper central incisor. In order to rehabilitate disharmonies, the direct technique of restoration with the silicone key was applied.

Conclusions:: In dental-facial aesthetics, as in any other medical specialty, in order to establish an appropriate treatment plan, the physician must take into account both the subjective and the objective aspects of the "disease."

Keywords: silicon key technique, disharmony, aesthetic.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Color, although a self standing entity, needs to be looked at as a piece in a puzzle, that in order to be built needs a lot of other pieces. Color represents just one of the many attributes of aesthetic dentistry, adding the geometric attributes of the smile aesthetic (1)

When we talk about tooth color, it needs to be defined in terms of shades, saturation and brightness, also it is paramount we also mention the other optical characteristics of the tooth surfaces: opalescence, florescence, and translucency (2)

In 1931, Clark, using the Munsell system of organizing color, published the first study over color of natural teeth; the values measured by Clark for the 3 parameters of color were: shades between 6YR and 9,3Y, saturation between 0 and 7 and brightness between 4 and 8. Referencing the three characteristics of color described by Munsell, we need to make a few specifications. The shade of teeth is determined primarily by the dentin. In the case of vital, healthy teeth, shade is situated somewhere in the yellow color spectrum (from yellow-yellow to red –yellow) (3)

If we refer to the classic standard Vitapan color key, the shade of teeth is predominately included in the category A, with a small procentage in the category B. the color saturation is dictated also by the dentin, but it is influenced by the translucency and thickness of the enamel. The thicker the enamel layer is the lower the saturation level of the tooth is giving the impression of a diffuse saturation. (4) in the cervical region of the crown where the layer of the enamel is thinner. The color of the tooth is characterized by a dens saturation. The brightness of teeth is determined in principal by quality and thickness of the enamel, in the areas with a thick enamel, the optical effects are characterized by high brightness levels.

The fluorescence of teeth is the consequence of impressing the pigments at the dentin level and of the enamel- dentin junction, by the ultraviolet radiation of the incident light, resulting in a bright with or blue light emission. (5) clinically this is translated by the appearance on the surface of the tooth of an area of white or blue iridescence.

The opalescent (white/milky) aspect of teeth is due to the different refraction indices, of the organic and inorganic components of the enamel, but mostly hydroxyapatite crystal properties of dispersing the incident light. (6)

Translucidities' and opalescence of tough dental structures are two parameters that are difficult to explain and quantify in the dental office. Translucently represents one of the main landmarks in the aesthetic of dental restorations, by means of which, some may pass as natural, while others may look artificial. (7)

### **CASE REPORT**

A patient came in with a dental shape disharmony generated by an incisor angle fracture, mesial on the 11 central tooth. Young adult 20 years old.(figure 1) for an aesthetic rehabilitation we applied a direct restoration using the silicon key technique, and also using Filtek Supreme XT (3M ESPE) composite resin.

We used the silicone key, to define the contour of the future restauration, because such restorations of an incisor angle fracture on a front tooth are procedures that require a lot of attention and detail in order to obtain a correct and functional and symmetrical incisor line.

In order to obtain this silicon key, in the first step, we made a temporary composite resin –mock up- restoration, following a perfect marginal, palatal, proximal and functional adaptation. Afterwards we took an impression in silicone putty (figure 2) in order for it to contain the palatal faces and incisor lines of the temporary restored tooth and the neighboring teeth. (in order to obtain a good stability of the material after its hardening)

After removing the mock-up, we prepare the tooth, (beveling the margins of the enamel and realizing the adhesive sub layer) the impression is repositioned at the same level and it works as a confirmatory, for rebuilding the final restoration. This technique reduces a lot of the finishing maneuvers, especially incisory and palatal. (figure 3) The chromatic initial analysis has shown the uniformity in color and opacity at the entire level of the vestibular surface, we applied identical layers of shades(A2), but of different opacity: A2B palatine, A2E vestibular. After finishing the retouching and finishing maneuvers, (figure 4) we can whiteness the morphological and chromatic symmetry of the two superior incisors.



Figure 1. Dental shape disharmony generated by an incisor angle fracture, mesial on the 11 central tooth-joung adult 20 years old



Figure 2. Silicon key technique



Figure 3. The resin stratification by appling identical layers of shades (A2) but different opacity



Figure 4. Final aspect of the restauration

### DISCUSSIONS

Experimental studies done on the topic of chromatic stability of composite resins, have demonstrated the fact that after polymerization, the color can suffer changes. The resin becomes, most commonly, darker and less saturated. Exceptions are the shades of micro charged composites used for bleached teeth, those become more luminous.(8) Because of this, sometimes, for a more accurate match, to determine the color by means of applying a bit of the resin on the surface of the tooth that needs to be restored. As time passes, composite resins, suffer an aging process, followed by a modification of the color; the main causes are ; degrading of main free radicals in the structure of the material, penetration of coloring sources in food and beverages, mouth washes, nicotine stains, retention of plaque on rough surfaces et (9) Old restorations become, usually, darker and saturated, and the micro infiltrations, and the secondary marginal cavity determine the appearance of a brownish color in the interface tooth/restoration generating anesthetic aspects.

### CONCLUSIONS

Clinically, composite resins are translucent materials; their degree of translucency depends on the optic behavior ( the absorption degree and dispersion of light radiation) of the components included in the composition of the materials, during the technological process of the fabrication ( filling particles, pigments, opaque's ). On the other hand, the optical properties of composite materials, depend on the thickness of the material layer, the color of the surface it covers, and the wave length of incident light. Because the absorption coefficient of the light differs from one shade of composite material to the next ( bigger for grey shades, smaller for universal shades and luminous ones.) and by photopolimerizations, the color of the material, may suffer modifications, the production companies are obliged to give notice regarding the level of translucency of the shades in the composite raisin kits ( low, medium or high translucency).

- 1. Blitz N., et al Diagnosis and Treatment Evaluation in Cosmetic Dentistry, American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry, 2004;
- 2. Chip Steel, et al- Photographic Documentation and Evaluation in Cosmetic Dentistry, American Academy of Cosmetic Dentistry;
- 3. Cohen M. Interdisciplinary Treatment Planing Principles, Design, Implementation Quintessence Publishing Co Inc, 2004;
- 4. Fradeani M.- Esthetic Analisys, A Systematic Approach to Prothetic Treatmernt vol 1, Quintessence Publishing Co Inc, 2004;
- 5. Fradeani M., Barducci G.- Esthetic Rehabilitation in Fixed Prosthodontics Prothetic Treatmernt A Systematic Approach to Esthetic, Biologic and Functional integration vol 2, Quintessence Publishing Co Inc, 2008;
- 6. Genon C.R., Genon P- Esthetique et Parodontie: les cles du succes, Editions CdP, 2001;
- 7. Magne P., Belser U. Bonded Porcelain Restorations in the Anterior Dentition A Biomimetic Approach Quintessence Publishing Co Inc, 2003;
- 8. Paravina R.D., Powers J.M.- Esthetic Color Training in Dentistry, Elsevier Mosby, 2004;
- 9. Vâlceanu Anca Estetica în Medicina Dentară Ed. Brumar Timișoara 2004

# **Prevalence of double crown removable partial dentures. Short report**



### Goguta L.M.<sup>1</sup>, Maroiu A.<sup>2</sup>, Buzatu R.<sup>3</sup>, Jivanescu A.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania <sup>2</sup>Department of Dental Materials, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania <sup>3</sup>Dental Esthetics Department Faculty of Dentistry, University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania

Correspondence to: Name: Roxana Buzatu Address: Piata Eftimie Murgu, nr. 2, cod 300041 Phone: +40 721236147 E-mail address: drbuzaturoxana@gmail.com

### Abstract

Aim and objective: To determine the prevalence of removable partial dentures on telescopic crowns in adult and senior population.

**Material and method:** 397 patients aged between 35 and 87 years were treated by using removable partial dentures. The removable partial dentures on double crowns and the distribution of the double crown retainer type were counted: conical double crowns, resilient double crowns or galvanoformed double crowns. The overall satisfaction of the patients was measured on a scale from 1 to 5.

**Results and discussions:** From the treated cases (n =397), the removable dentures on telescopic crowns where 19,85%. Only 2% from these double crown retainers were galvanoformed, 15% were resilient and 93% the conical. The overall satisfaction was 4 (32,4%) and 5 in most of the treated cases (67,6%).

**Conclusions:** The removable dentures on telescopic crowns are still viable solutions in extended edentulous arches treatment, in middle age and senior patients.

Keywords: double crowns, removable partial dentures, galvanoformed double crowns.

### INTRODUCTION

Removable dental prostheses, given suitable pretreatment and follow-up regimes, can provide satisfactory solutions [1, 4, 7, 8]. Longitudinal follow-up studies of 5 to 10 years report that conical crown-retained partial dentures have a lower failure rate compared to those retained with clasps or precision attachments. Double crown-retained or telescopic prostheses have been successfully used in partially edentulous patients. This type of retainer provides guidance, support, and protection from dislodging movement, and it transfers bite forces physiological, along the long axis of the abutment teeth. Furthermore, the denture can easily be retrieved when an abutment needs to be extracted [1]. Both clinical and statistical data indicated the superiority of the restorations made with electroplated secondary crowns and metal framework [6]. The treatment is, therefore, a promising therapeutic option. In Romania the removable partial dentures retained on double crowns are used in patients with general health problems with few teeth or in patients who cannot afford implant supported fixed partial dentures.

### Aim and objectives

**Aim and objectives** of this study were to calculate the rate of the double crown retained RPDs comparative to other RPD types and the patient overall satisfaction.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was realized in the Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "V Babes" Timisoara, Romania. Telescopic RPD were counted from the total RPD inserted. 397patiens aged between 35 and 87 years, treated in the clinic and wearing RPDS were examined between 2012-2017. The distribution of each type of telescopic- electroplated secondary crowns retained RPD and resilient double crowns retained RPD related to all the double crown retained RPD was registered. Each treated patient has signed and informed consent in accordance with the Ethical Comity of the University. The inclusion criteria for the patients in this study was: the patient had at least one RPD with metal framework and had to respond positive at one year recalls after the RPD insertion in the mouth. The overall satisfaction, 2 – acceptable, 3- functional, 4- functionality and comfort, 5- improved oral health-related quality of life. The appeared problems were registered and treated.

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

The ratio telescopic RPD 16% versus RPD 84% with metal framework is presented in Fig.1.

The ratio galvanoformed RPD (2%) versus resilient RPD (5%) versus other telescopic dentures 93% is presented in Fig.2.





Figure 1. Telescopic RPDs (16%) RPDs (84%)



Even the galvanoformed secondary crowns are not very used (2%), due to their high price, the retention on the abutment teeth is very smooth and forces exerted on insertion and removal of the prosthesis are not harmful Fig.3. The satisfaction of the patients with this type of RPD is high (5) and there were no complications. The patients included in this study reported an overall satisfaction of 4 (32,4%) and of 5 (67,6%) in most of the cases treated with double crown retained RPDs. The most common accident after the end of the treatment was the debond of the primary crowns (12), but this could be easily solved.

An interesting research [2] find out that the individual telescopic abutment survival rate over a 60-month period was 80.6%. This observation was significantly influenced by sex and tooth vitality and mobility. The risk of loss of telescopic crowns was significantly influenced also by the tooth distribution on the dental arch. It was mentioned also that telescopic removable partial dentures were proven to be a favorable treatment concept for severely reduced dentitions in selected cases and that is in accordance with the results of this study.



Figure 3. Galvanoformed secondary crowns in a patient treated by using a double crown retained RPD: **a**. panoramic X-ray; **b**. primary crowns; **c**. secondary galvanoformed crowns; **d**. cast metal framework; **e**, **f**. final aspect of the RPD in the mouth

The medium-term double-crown-retained removable dental prosthesis survival appears acceptable. This kind of prosthesis might be a viable treatment option for patients with a reduced dentition [5].

Treatment with different double crown-retained RPDs improved oral health-related quality of life [3]. It was also shown that treatment with electroplated removable partial dentures (RPDs) and cast RPDs improved oral health-related quality-of-life initially. Over a period of 36 months the effect was significant. The cast conical design seems to have advantages with regard to long-term oral health-related quality-of-life [6]. In this study was also obtained the improvement of the oral health-related quality-of-life for 5 years.

### CONCLUSIONS

The double crown retained removable partial dentures are viable treatment in well selected cases with few teeth on the arch. However, more clinical research is necessary to confirm the present in vivo results in larger patient groups.

### Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully thanks to the dental technician who realized the technical work of the presented case, **Rares Poruțiu** "Radent" Timisoara.

- 1. Beschnidt SM, Chitmongkolsuk S, Prull R.Telescopic crown-retained removable partial dentures: review and case report. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2001 Nov;22(11):927-8, 929-32, 934 passim; quiz 942.
- 2. Frictional telescopic crowns in severely reduced dentitions: a 5-year clinical outcome study. Int J Prosthodont. 2012 May-Jun;25(3):217-20.
- 3. Grossmann AC, Hassel AJ, Schilling O, Lehmann F, Koob A, Rammelsberg P. Treatment with double crown-retained removable partial dentures and oral health-related quality of life in middle- and high-aged patients. Int J Prosthodont. 2007 Nov-Dec;20(6):576-8.
- 4. Moldovan O, Rudolph H, Luthardt RG. Clinical performance of removable dental prostheses in the moderately reduced dentition: a systematic literature review. Clin Oral Investig. 2016 Sep;20(7):1435-47.
- 5. Schwindling FS, Dittmann B, Rammelsberg P. Double-crown-retained removable dental prostheses: a retrospective study of survival and complications. J Prosthet Dent. 2014 Sep;112(3):488-93.
- 6. Stober T, Danner D, Bömicke W, Hassel AJ. Improvement of oral health-related quality-of-life by use of different kinds of double-crown-retained removable partial dentures. Acta Odontol Scand. 2016;74(1):1-6
- 7. Szentpétery V, Lautenschläger C, Setz JM. Longevity of frictional telescopic crowns in the severely reduced dentition: 3-year results of a longitudinal prospective clinical study.Quintessence Int. 2010 Oct;41(9):749-58.
- 8. Verma R, Joda T, Brägger U, Wittneben JG. A systematic review of the clinical performance of tooth-retained and implant-retained double crown prostheses with a follow-up of ≥ 3 years. J Prosthodont. 2013 Jan;22(1):2-12.
- 9. Zahn T, Zahn B, Janko S, Weigl P, Gerhardt-Szép S, Lauer HC. Long-term behavior of double crown retained dentures with metal and metal-free secondary crowns and frameworks made of Vectris(©) on all-ceramic primary crowns: a prospective, randomized clinical trial up to 14 years. Clin Oral Investig. 2016 Jun;20(5):1087-100.

## Histologic preparation of undecalcified hard oral tissue: classic and modern methods vs. imagistic sample analysis



## Boldeanu L.C.<sup>1</sup>, Boariu M.<sup>2</sup>, Rusu D.<sup>1</sup>, Radulescu V.<sup>1</sup>, Calniceanu H.<sup>1</sup>, Gaje P.<sup>3</sup>, Stratul S.-I.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania <sup>2</sup>Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania <sup>3</sup>Department of Histology, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania

Correspondence to: Name: Darian Rusu Address: Department of Periodontology, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara, Romania, Bv.Revolutiei nr.9, 300041 Timisoara, Romania Phone: +40 744471187 E-mail address: rusu.darian@gmail.com

### Abstract

Bone physiology has been better understood in the 1950s, with the development of plastic-embedding techniques for microscopic examination of the un-decalcified sections of bone tissue.<sup>1</sup> In the past, bone histology required removal of its most important component, the mineral. New technologies were refined since then. This review presents classic and new methods in preparing un-decalcified bone tissue samples, especially bone-implant samples. Some practical recommendations on the histological processing of un-decalcified bone samples are presented, as well as up-to-date cutting/grinding equipments, fixation methods, embedding materials and staining techniques. Data relating to information processing using special histological techniques in comparison to micro-computed tomography are provided.

Keywords: dental implants, osseointegration, histologic techniques, microCT, histomorphometry
#### INTRODUCTION

The use of un-decalcified bone-implant samples allows the differentiation of immature from mature bone tissue, as well as the quantification of variables, such as the bone-implant interface (BIC, %), mineralization (%), percentages of new bone area (NB, %) and total bone area (TB) on the threads. Results from the histomorphometric measurements on the soft tissue can be also included: the distance between the margin of peri-implant mucosa (PM) to the marginal bone crest (BC) or to the most coronal point/peak of contact between bone and implant (B/I). These are some of the measurements that can be made on ground sections on this type of samples.

Originating from the processing of samples of metallic alloys for metallographic analysis, the cutting-grinding technique of histologic samples, first described by Donath and Breuner (1982)<sup>2</sup>, using the EXAKT cutting-grinding system (EXAKT Vertriebs, Norderstedt, Germany) and glycol-methacrylate (GMA) as an embedding medium, uses today methylmetacrylate (MMA), and, more recently, epoxy resins.<sup>3</sup>

Up to date, there is no consensus in the literature on the effectiveness of these methods of analysis of non-demineralized implant-bone-oral soft tissues samples, which made the selection of the one with the highest histologic relevance, cost-effectiveness and shortest duration difficult.

The present paper reviews various methods of processing un-decalcified hard and soft oral tissues including metallic dental implants for histologic analysis.

#### SEARCHING METHODOLOGY

Electronic searches for articles dating back as far as 2005 were performed in the PubMed, Elsevier ScienceDirect and Wiley Online databases for relevant publications until December 2017. The studies were included if they met the following criteria: complete explanation of the process of harvesting, fixation and preparation of the specimen, embedding, cutting and grinding, staining, reading of the histomorphometric and  $\mu$ CT results. From 150 studies found, 3 met the above inclusion criteria.

#### Harvesting, fixation and preparation of the specimens

When a tissue sample is harvested for histologic analysis, the use of a good fixative solution to stop autolysis (the dissolution of cells by intracellular enzymatic digestion) and putrefaction (the breakdown of tissue by bacterial action) by inactivating the enzymes, bacteria and molds that begin to form immediately after death is mandatory. It also protects the tissue from excessive shrinkage and volume modification, thus it will not disolve or distort. The fixative solution must protect the tissue during the embedding process (the impregnation of the polymer at a high temperature), and from the mechanical damage during sectioning. Furthermore, for the fixation of the specimens, a specific solution is used; for example, buffered formalin contains salts that can precipitate on the tissue surface during drying. This is not a problem for the usual histology specimen, but when chemical or scanning electron microscopic analysis is performed, this should be recognized as an artifact. Other fixatives, for example glutaraldehyde or paraformaldehyde, can be useful for electron microscopy or for histochemistry, but these fixatives do not penetrate tissue as good as formalin and, subsequently, are not as useful for most routine histology. As an alternative to formalin, tissues can be fixed in 70% ethanol, if the specimen has received intravital fluorochrome labeling.<sup>4</sup>

Specimens of implants and surrounding tissues are usually obtained from living individuals using a trephine bur. Each bone sample containing the implants, hard and soft tissues is block-sectioned and immersed in a fixative solution of 4% formalin or buffered

formalin for 1 week. <sup>5</sup> Then the samples are dehydrated in a series of increasing concentrations of ethanol, using a dehydration system with agitation and a vacuum.<sup>6</sup> Chemical fixation may be enhanced by the use of physical fixation, such as heat and vacuum. Heat is used to precipitate proteins, accelerate fixation, but not as a stand-alone method. Dehydratation uses increasing concentrations of ethanol, from 70% to 99% during 15 days.<sup>2</sup> 70% ethanol is generally accepted as the "golden standard fixative" for long-term storage of bone 7, but this does not mean that the original specimen should be primarily fixed in this solution. Bone should be adequately fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin or alternate fixative and then stored in 70% ethanol. This is used to eliminate the effects of decalcification, which can sometimes occur during long-term storage in formalin-based solutions. Concentrations of fixatives are also important, as they will be determined by the cost, solubility and necessity. As an example, a formalin concetration over 10% causes unnecessary hardening, while ethanol concentration bellow 70% does not dehydrate enough. Fixatives, such as ethanol, methanol and acetone, remove the free water from tissues, leading to the precipitation and coagulation of the proteins. 8 For example, Blanco et al. (2013) fixated the samples in 10% formalin for 1 week, while Erdogan et al. (2013) used 10% buffered formalin, and Calvo-Guirado et al. (2015) used 4% formalin. 9,10

In general, the most used fixative is 10% neutral buffered formalin, that preserves mucopolysaccharides, but in the absence of a buffer it will form a "formalin pigment" artifact which is not suitable for certain stains. Also, 10% alcoholic formalin cuts fixation time in half and preserves glycogen, but dissolves fat and lipids and does not preserve iron-bearing pigments. For long-term storage, it is important to place the tissue in 70% ethanol. Acetone at -4°C is used for fluorescent antibody techniques and for preservation of enzymes, especially phosphatases and lipases, however, some shrinkage and distortion may occur. <sup>11</sup>

#### Embedding

Embedding techniques appeared in the mid 1800s in response to the improvements of microscopy observations in light microscopy. As the resolution of microscopes increased, so did the need for improved quality of the tissue specimens to be analised, and, since then, embedding techniques using waxes and resins have been developed and perfected for different specific aims and types of specimens. Paraffin is most suitable for embedding soft tissues and decalcified hard tissues for thin sections of 3-6  $\mu$ m, and hard embedding materials such as glycol methacrylate, methyl methacrylate (MMA), or Spurr's resin are chosen for undecalcified hard tissue, for heavy-duty (metallic specimens) sectioning ranging from 50-200 $\mu$ m.

Dehydration follows fixation, and has the goal of removing all the water contained within the specimen, to allow uniform penetration of the resin. This process is essential because the resins used are not water-soluble. It is obtained by immersing the specimen in alcohol solutions of increasing concentration, for a specific time that vary from 15 min to 24h, depending on the size of the specimen (time may be reduced when vacuum is applied). For the infiltration stage, commonly used resins for infiltrating and embedding are Technovit 7200 Kulzer, Technovit 8100 Kulzer, Technovit 9100 Kulzer, Epon, L-R White, Spurr's resin and other MMA resins. All of them are initially fluid, but they solidify during polymerization. Resin embedding takes place into molds that do not react with the resin, and results hard blocks containing the tissues to be trimmed and cut for examination. <sup>4</sup> The classical and most used material for infiltration techniques is glycometacrilate (Technovit 7200®, VLC - Heraus Kulzer GMBH). <sup>5</sup> The infiltrated specimens are placed into embedding molds, and polymerisation is performed under ultraviolet light, first under low-intensity UV light for 4h, followed by high-intensity UV light for 12h, and finally by keeping the samples heated for 24h, to ensure complete polymerization. 6 In a report of using Technovit 9100N as an embedding media for immunohistochemical staining, Rammelt et al. (2007) conclude that

embedding of histological specimens in Technovit 9100N allows both morphological and immunohistochemical evaluation of the bone-implant interface on non-decalcified sections. Compared with paraffin embedding, mofological details of bone tissue are preserved better, and redistribution of matrix proteins is avoided.<sup>12</sup>

#### Technique of cutting and grinding

Donath and Breuner (1982) described a method for successful preparation of histological slides of previously non-sectionable ceramic or metallic material included in bone and soft tissue for therapeutic purposes. The Säge-Schliff ("sawing and grinding") technique was developped to permit the histological study of mineralized jawbones including teeth or metallic or ceramic implants. The purpose was to retain elements like dental restorations, crowns, enamel with calculus and plaque *in situ*, and also to preserve the tissue surrounding the implant and to the teeth.<sup>2</sup>

Various researchers describe different bone sectioning systems: Blanco et al. (2010) uses the Exakt System, as well as Calvo-Guirado et al. (2015) and Erdogan et al. (2013). Following the fixation of the samples glued to a sample holder, longitudinal sections of 200µm in bucco-lingual direction are cut with a band saw. They are mechanically polished using 1200 and 4000 grit silicon-carbide papers (Struers, Copenhagen, Denmark), until 70 µm thick samples are obtained. <sup>9</sup>

#### **Staining techniques**

In general, the stains used for non-decalcified samples are basic fuchsin and toluidine blue. The toluidine blue staining is commonly used because is easy to perform and fast – it takes 15 minutes to complete the coloration. The toluidine blue has a specific affinity for nucleic acids, and therefore binds to nuclear material of tissues with a high DNA and RNA content. Mastocytes are stained in purple and nuclei in blue, mineralized laminated tissue presents as uncolored to pale blue and calcified matrix is dark blue. <sup>13</sup> Acid fuchsin stains cementum, dentin, bone and the soft tissues with different red colorations, and also collagen fibers. Acid fuchsin has a good penetration in the resin and stains the tissues very strongly. <sup>14</sup>

#### Analysis of the specimens

The more detailed and complex implants appear to be, the more researches attempted to develop an optimisation for the implant design or surface, however, it is sometimes difficult to register a detailed bone response after a given time, with enough resolution and cost effectiveness, using current histological methods.

Micro-computed-tomography ( $\mu$ CT), first described by Feldkamp et al. in the late 80's was used in order to describe the bone architecture in relation to bone disorders. <sup>8</sup> A voxel is composed of 1mm of images and it is produced by a clinical CT, while  $\mu$ CT produces approximately 1,000,000 times smaller than regular CT scanning. <sup>15</sup>

Vandeweghe et al. (2013) consider histology as an evidence for both qualitative and quantitative information, but points to the problem of the reduced number of sections, which represents a limitation of the research. <sup>16</sup> Their study compared histological evaluations (using a light microscope Eclipse ME600, Nikon, Japan) and microCT (microCT 40, Scano Medical, Basserdorf, Germany). The slices resolution had 36  $\mu$ m on  $\mu$ CT and 40 $\mu$ m on ground sections using the Exakt sawing and grinding equipment. First, the 3D reconstruction was done, followed by the embedding and sectioning for histomorphometry, in order to compare the BIC (bone-implant contact) percentage and the BA (bone area) percentage.  $\mu$ CT is a fast, non-destructive method and allows a 3D-evaluation, when compared to histological sections. In the mentioned study, signifficant differences between the two methods appeared only in the BA at 2 weeks in favor of titanium implant; histology resulted in a higher value in time over the HA implants, while  $\mu$ CT did not. Differences between the two methods can appear depending on the cut direction and slice thickness, as Sarve et al. (2011)<sup>7</sup> recently

demonstrated.  $\mu$ CT can allow evaluation of the total circumferential space and 3D reconstruction, while histomorphometry is limited to one or a few slices. An optical comparison made by Van Oossterwyck et al. (2000) concluded that both methods have similar results. <sup>17</sup> The limitations of the  $\mu$ CT method are the price, the "noise" around implant that can affect the result (Schouten et al. 2009), the blurred border around the implant due to metallic artifacts and the relatively poor resolution of the image (Stoppie et al. 2005). Other studies failed to find a correlation between the classical parameters and  $\mu$ CT measurements. In fact, some bone quality parameters obtained by  $\mu$ CT scanning in peri-implant tissues did not seem linearly correlated to biomechanical variables.<sup>8,11</sup>

Histology is still considered as the "golden standard", but has limitations. For example, cutting and grinding can affect the implant in the bone blocks and can influence results. The biggest problem of the histology method is that it is a 2D replica of one slice, hence, we are not sure if that section represents the whole situation accurately.  $\mu$ CT contains more information of bone characteristics, as density, but histology about the cells content is missing.<sup>7</sup>

The level of osseointegration is usually measured by histological assessment of bone to implant contact (BIC) areas in un-decalcified hard tissue sections. One major disadvantage of non-decalcified sectioning is a significant loss of biological tissues during the histological processing of serial sections and therefore, only a maximum of 2-3 slices are available which may not reflect the entire healing processes at the investigated site. Also, the amount of time needed for the processing of hard tissue sections, delaying data analysis and results delivery. This evaluation is limited to 2D, and so, different orientations cannot be investigated, and large biopsies are needed for analysis. Micro-CT is non-destructive and non-invasive tool and has numerous advantages including a fast and automated characterization of structural features such as bone volume density or the assessment of BIC values in different planes and also 3D. Also, it can be used intravital, in different time points within the same sample.

To verify if micro-CT and histomorphometry give the same results, BIC is used comparatively between 2D and 3D slices, in which corresponding image elements are aligned (Becker et al. 2015).



Figure 1. The "Chamfer matching algorithm" applied to compare the 2D (histomorphometric) and 3D (micro-CT) slices of an osseointegrated dental implant (altered after Becker et al. 2015).<sup>18</sup>



Figure 2. Example of histomorphometric landmarks for an osseointegrated screw-type dental implant: (A) boneimplant contact (BIC) % over the entire implant length, (B) epithelial downgrowth related to the whole implant length starting with a reference point (here – the first microthread), (C) difference in bone mass measured in triangular areas inside and outside the macrothreads (altered after Bousdras et al. 2007).<sup>19</sup>

Table 1 presents several studies where the authors preferred histomorphometry to comparatively observe the modification of bone immediately after the implatation. BIC% values (the percentage of implant lengh at which there is direct bone implant contact without other tissue) are presented in comparison to  $\mu$ CT results.

Table 1. Results of selected studies measuring the distance between the margin of peri-implant mucosa (PM) to the marginal bone crest (BC), or to the most coronal point/peak of contact between bone and implant (B/I) in comparison histomorphometry and micro-CT for the same samples, in the same time

Author	Bio-model	Time of histomorphometry/ scanning	Observations	Histomorphometric result	µCT result
Vandeweghe S. <i>et al</i> 2013	Rabbit	2 weeks	Ti implants in the condyle of the distal femur	25.25±7.22	24.11±6.93
			HA implants in proximal tibia	28.49±17.15	33.74±8.75
		4 weeks	Ti implants in the condyle of the distal femur	28.86±8.73	24.53±5.63
			HA implants in proximal tibia	42.51±9.45	42.19±14.46
Bernhard R. et	Minipig	4 weeks	Xive®(Friadent,	88.97 ± 18.37	84.70 ± 17.72
al 2012	10		Dentsply, Germany)	$70.56 \pm 20.52$	$78.66 \pm 20.52$
			implant in maxila	62.31 ± 17.28	65.90 ± 17.52
				87.57 ± 21.67	$69.29 \pm 26.23$
				$77.42 \pm 35.54$	$70.01 \pm 25.78$
				84.37 ± 20.38	$73.84 \pm 22.10$
Gabler C. et al	Rat	6 weeks	Custom-made conical	$32.4 \pm 27.9$	51.3 ± 11.6
2015			titanium alloyed	53.5 ± 19.2	$62.0 \pm 9.6$
			(Ti6Al4V) implants in		
			tibiae	45.7± 22.9	51.8 ± 13.3

One can note from the values in Table 1, that *in vivo* studies of bone-implant-contact (BIC) are difficult to compare, because of differences in several parameters: animal model, the anatomical part of the section, the age of the animal that influences the bone composition. Also, the observed healing period differed form 2 weeks to 6 weeks in these studies as well as the type, shape and surface of the implants used. <sup>13</sup> Vandeweghe et al. determined that BA (bone area) and BIC data obtained from histomorphometry and micro-CT correlated well, although the histomorphometry values are slightly higher than those obtained with micro-CT. However, BIC is poorly visualised on micro-CT images due to artifacts from the metal implant, and so, this method of examination is not recommended for evaluating BIC.<sup>16</sup>

The nature of the specimen and the specific goals of the study should determine the most appropiate methods of fixation, embedding, sectioning and staining. Although a number of different methods are being used for preparing sections of un-decalcified tissues and implants, ethanol or formalin fixation, plastic embedding and hand grinding to be cost-effective methods for many types of specimens.<sup>20</sup> The histological process of un-decalcified bone and implant samples is slightly complicated because of containing both mineralized hard tissues and soft tissues. Decalcification uses agents the can deteriorate the tissue structure and it can appear diferences that can be observed on clear staining of details by the histological stain.  $\mu$ CT depends on the mineralisation rate of the bone tissue, therefore, the newly formed bone, which is not as mineralized in the early phases of bone formation, cannot be quantified through this method.<sup>13</sup>

#### CONCLUSIONS

Histomorphometry can be used according to detailed protocols for separating the samples, staining, embedding, slice sectioning, by using different resins and stains, to obtain indicators of osseointegration at different timepoints, in different experimental models.  $\mu$ CT can be used for a fast, full 3D reconstruction of the area of interest, allowing a fast but costly result, while histomorphometry is more cost-effective for the amount of information that can be obtained.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Bernhardt R., Kuhlisch E., Schulz M. C., Eckelt U., Stadlinger B. Comparison of bone-implant contact and bone-implant volume between 2D-histological sections and 3D-SRmicroCT slices. Eur Cell Mater.2012, 23:237–248.
- 2. Donath K., Breuner G.: A method for the study of un-decalcified bones and teeth with attached soft tissues. The Säge-Schliff (sawing and grinding) technique.J Oral Pathol 1982;11:318-326.
- 3. Gabler C., Zietz C., Bieck R., et al., "Quantification of Osseointegration of Plasma-Polymer Coated Titanium Alloyed Implants by means of Microcomputed Tomography versus Histomorphometry," BioMed Research International, vol. 2015, Article ID 103137, 8 pages, 2015.
- 4. Yuehuei H. An, Kylie L. Martin: Handbook of Histology Methods for Bone and Cartilage. The Human Press: Totowa, New Jersey, USA. ISBN 0-86903-960-9
- 5. Bennet HS., Wyrick AD., Lee SW., McNeil JH. Science and art in prepairing tissues embedded in plastic for light microscopy, with special reference to glycol methacrylate, glass knives and simple stains. Stain Technol, 1976, 51:71-97.
- 6. Blanco J., Mareque S., Liñares A., Pérez J., Muñoz F., Ramos I., Impact of immediate loading on early bone healing at two-piece implants placed in fresh extraction sockets: An experimental study in the beagle dog10.1111/jcpe.12070 J Clin Periodontol 2013, 40:421–429.
- 7. Sarve H., Lindblad J., Borgefors G., Johansson CB. Extracting 3D information on bone remodeling in the proximity of titanium implants in SRmuCT image volumes. Comput Methods Programs Biomet 2011; 102(1):25-34.

- 8. De Sanctis M., Vignoletti F., Discepoli N., Zucchelli G., Sanz, M., Immediate implants at fresh extraction sockets: bone healing in four different implant systems. Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 2009; 36: 705–711.
- 9. Blanco J., Liñares A., Villaverde G., Pérez, J., Muñoz, F. Flapless immediate implant placement with or without immediate loading: a histomorphometric study in beagle dog. Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 2010, 37: 937–942.
- Calvo-Guirado JL., López-López PJ., de val JE Maté Sánchez, Mareque-Bueno J., Delgado-Ruiz RA., Romanos GE. Influence of collar design on peri-implant tissue healing around immediate implants: A pilot study in Foxhound dogs. Clin. Oral Impl. Res. 2015, 26:851–857
- 11. He T., Cao C., Xu Z., Li G., Cao H., Liu, X., Zhang C., Dong Y.. A comparison of micro-CT and histomorphometry for evaluation of osseointegration of PEO-coated titanium implants in a rat model. Scientific Reports, 2017; 7.10.1038/s41598-017-16465-4.
- 12. Rammelt S., Corbeil D., Manthey S., Zwipp H.,Hanisch U. Immunohistochemical in situ characterization of orthopedic implants on polymethyl metacrylate embedded cutting and grinding sections. J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 2007; 83A: 313–322.
- 13. Von Wilmowsky C., Moest T., Nkenke E., Stelzle F., Schlegel K. Implants in bone: Part II. Research on implant osseointegration Material testing, mechanical testing, imaging and histoanalytical methods. Oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2013; 10.1007/s10006-013-0397-2.
- 14. Eltoum I., Fredenburgh J., Myers RB., Grizzle W.: Introduction to the theory and practice of fixation of tissues. J Histotechnol; 2001, 24:173-190.
- 15. Baffone G. M., Botticelli D., Pantani F., Cardoso L. C., Schweikert M. T., Lang, N. P. Influence of various implant platform configurations on peri-implant tissue dimensions: an experimental study in dog. Clinical Oral Implants Research, 2011, 22: 438–444.
- 16. Vandeweghe S., Coelho PG., Vanhove C., Wennerberg A., Jimbo R. Utilizing micro-computed tomography to evaluate bone structure surrounding dental implants: A comparison with histomorphometry. J Biomed Mater Res Part B 2013:101B:1259–1266.
- 17. Van Oossterwyck H., Duyck J., Vader Sloten J., Van der Perre G., Jansen J., Wevers M., Naert I. Use of microfocus computed tomography as a new technique for characterizing bone tissue around oral implants. J Oral Implantol 2000;26(1):5-12.
- 18. Becker K., Stauber M., Schwarz F., Beißbarth T. Automated 3D-2D registration of X-ray microcomputed tomography with histological sections using chamfer matching and simulated annealing. Computerized Medical Imaging and Graphics. 44.. 10.1016/j.compmedimag.2015.04.005.
- Bousdras VA., Walboomers F., Jansen JA., Cunningham JL., Blunn G., Petrie A., Jaecques S., Naert IE., Sindet-Pedersen S., Goodship AE. Immediate functional loading of single-tooth TiO2 grit-blasted implant restoration. A controlled prospective study in a porcine model. Part II: Histology and histomorphometry. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2007 Dec;9(4):207-16.
- 20. Gramanzini M., Gargiulo S., Zarone F., Megna R., Apicella A., Aversa R., Salvatore, M., Mancini M., Sorrentino R., Brunetti A. Combined microcomputed tomography, biomechanical and histomorphometric analysis of the peri-implant bone: A pilot study in minipig model. Dental Materials. 2016; 32. 10.1016/j.dental.2016.03.025.

## Therapeutic possibilities of progeny syndrome in temporary dentition versus young adult



# Țărmure V.<sup>1</sup>, Câmpian RS.<sup>2</sup>, Podariu A.C. <sup>3</sup>, Băciuț M.<sup>4</sup>, Bran S.<sup>4</sup>, Ionescu E.<sup>5</sup>, Păcurar M.<sup>6</sup>, Olteanu C.<sup>1</sup>, Jiman P.<sup>7</sup>, Pop AS.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Iuliu Haţieganu", Cluj-Napoca
<sup>2</sup>Department of Oral Rehabilitation, Oral Health and Dental Office Management, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Iuliu Haţieganu", Cluj-Napoca
<sup>3</sup> "Victor Babeş" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara
<sup>4</sup>Department of Oral and Maxilofacial Surgery, Faculty of Dental Medicine, "Iuliu Haţieganu" University of Medicine and Pharmacy Cluj-Napoca
<sup>5</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, "Carol Davila" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest
<sup>6</sup>Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Târgu-Mureş
<sup>7</sup>Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Iuliu Haţieganu", Cluj-Napoca

Correspondence to: Name: Țărmure Viorica Address: Splaiul Independentei, nr.3, Cluj-Napoca Phone: +40 744530891 E-mail address: tarmurev@yahoo.com

#### Abstract

Objectives: Evaluation and treatment of patients with class III abnormalities of which were addressed Orthodontics Clinic Cluj-Napoca, Romania, between 2015-2017. Intercept option for treatment, orthodontic and surgical-orthodontic difficult, depending on patient age, extension of skeletal deformity, extent of the soft tissues and dental compensation, and patient compliance.

Materials and methods: The study was conducted on a sample of 324 patients who sought treatment in 2015-2017. The diagnosis was made based on clinical and paraclinical examination and treatment was individualized based on age and index of difficulty of each case. Statistical data processing was performed using the program Statistics 7.0.

Results:78 patients (24.07%) had a syndrome of clinical forms of progeny. Anomaly interests 6-9 years age group the rate of 39.74%, 9-12 years the ratio is 24.35% over 12 years as a percentage of 35.89%. 91.02% of patients had associated anomalies. Gender distribution was 57.69% girls and 42.30% boys.

Conclusion: A step by step analysis influence progeny syndrome treatment individualization, which predicts an option for single orthodontic treatment or one combined surgical-orthodontic complex.

Keywords: progeny syndrome, interception, ortognatic surgery.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The need for early identification and treatment of malocclusion, class III is accepted worldwide. Serious form of dento-maxillary, progeny syndrome requires monitoring since early childhood. Thus, temporary teeth, progeny syndrome diagnosed with frontal reverse occlusion requires immediate therapeutic measures, the interception of the anomaly, treatment to prevent worsening of anomaly or transmit occlusion phenomena installed. Usual treatment of class III set in temporary teeth and mixed will significantly decrease the number of patients will require ortognatic surgery. The child grows older, the treatment becomes more difficult and time increases. The permanent teeth orthodontic treatment is only a stage prior to surgery, which is indicated after the growth process.

#### Aim and objectives

Evaluation and treatment of patients with class III abnormalities of which were addressed Orthodontics Clinic ClujNapoca, Romania, between 2015-2017. Option for intercept treatment, orthodontic and surgical-orthodontic difficult, depending on patient age, extension of skeletal deformity, extent of the soft tissues and dental compensation, and patient compliance. The choice of treatment is especially difficult, as the increase of skeletal involvement and occlusion of malocclusion.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted on a sample of 324 patients who sought treatment in 2015-2017. The diagnosis was made based on clinical and paraclinical examination and treatment was individualized based on age and index of difficulty of each case. Statistical data processing was performed using the program "Statistics 7.0".

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

78 patients (24.07%) had a syndrome of clinical forms of progeny(Fig 1). Clinical forms encountered in the study were represented in proportion of 67.94% for reverse gear, 20.51% of progeny false, 6.41% of progeny anatomical and 5.12% of undershot functional (Fig. 2). Anomaly interests 6-9 years age group the rate of 39.74%, 9-12 years the ratio is 24.35% over 12 years as a percentage of 35.89%(Fig 3). 91.02% of patients had associated anomalies. Gender distribution was 57.69% girls and 42.30% boys (Fig 4).



Figure 1. Frequency of progeny syndrome



Figure 2. The frequency of clinical forms of progeny syndrome





Figure 3. Distribution of age groups of patients withprogeny syndrome

Figure 4. Distribution on sex of progeny syndrome

Found a 91.02% rate of associated anomalies (Fig. 5).Meet etiological factors were 62.82% rate of local factors, 20.51% functional factors and 16.66% and hereditary factors (Fig. 6).



Figure 5. Association with other anomalies dentomaxillary

Figure 6. Frequency of etiological factors in the syndrome progeny

Individualized treatment based on age and gravity anomaly and involvement of bone structures will be illustrated by presenting some clinical cases suggestive of each type of anomaly.



Figure 7. G. D., 5 years, functional undershot

Figure 5. Association with other anomalies dentomaxillary

Figure 6. Frequency of etiological factors in the syndrome progeny



Figure 8. G. D., 5 years, extra-oral traction



Figure 9. G. D., five years, part occlusion final phase

Case should be monitored by growth phase.

Case 2 – C.R., 19 years, mandibular prognathism.



Figure 10. C.R., Appearance exo-oral - initial phase



Figure 11. C.R. Endo-oral aspect



Figure 12. (a) teleradiography profile - initial phase, (b) teleradiography profile - intermediate phase



Figure 13. Teleradiography superpositions

Table 1. Teleradiography values - initial values and after orthognathic surgery

TWEED	initial	After orthognathic surgery	
<b>FMA</b> = 25+/-3	34	31	
<b>IMPA</b> = 88+/-3	86	89	
<b>SNA</b> = 82	81	85	
<b>SNB</b> = 80	93 🗆	86 *	
<b>ANB</b> = +2	+12 🗆	+1 *	
Ао-Во	+15 mm 🗆	+3 *	
<b>HFA</b> = 65mm	69 mm 🗆	67	
<b>HFP</b> = 45mm	56 mm 🗆	44	
> <b>Z</b> = 78	84↓	82	
<b>axaY</b> =65+/-5	61	59	
SASSOUNI	Skeletal Class III 16 mm Alveolar Class III 9 mm OB 3mm	Skeletal Class I Alveolar Class I OB 3 mm	



Figure 14. (a) OPT after orthognathic surgery, (b) occlusal appearance intermediate phase

Ending the orthodontic treatment will continue with finishing phase and contention of the result.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Individualization of treatment in the progeny syndrome should be based on age and gravity anomaly.

In temporary dentition treatment with simple miofunctional devices and myogymnastic exercises the phenomena specific to class III are resumed, creating the possibility of harmonious development of the dento-maxillary apparatus.

Depending on the involvement of maxillary dental appliance components, treatment is intercepted, single or combined orthodontic surgical-orthodontic complex.

#### Acknowledgements

All authors contributed equally.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Cocârlă E., Ortodonție. Ed. Medicală Universitară Iuliu Hațieganu, Cluj Napoca, 1995
- 2. Chien-Chun Kuo, Yi-Jane Chen, Eddie Hsiang-Hua Lai, Chung-Chen Jane Yao, Jenny Zwei-Chieng Chang. *Long-term stability of an adult Class III open-bite malocclusion treated with multiloop edgewise archwire*. Journal of Dental Sciences, Volume 4, Issue 3, September 2009, Pages 149-158
- 3. Ann E. Zionic Alexander, James A. McNamara Jr., Lorenzo Franchi, Baccetti T., *Semilongitudinal cephalometric study of craniofacial growth in untreated Class III malocclusion*. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, Volume 135, Issue 6, June 2009, p: 700.e1-700.e14
- 4. Vladimir León-Salazar, Guilherme Janson, Marcos Roberto de Freitas, Renato Rodrigues de Almeida, Rubén León-Salazar. *Nonextraction treatment of a skeletal Class III malocclusion*. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, Volume 136, Issue 5, November 2009, p: 736-745

# **Gingival Involvement in Oral Herpes Simplex Virus infections**



#### Tofan E.C.<sup>1</sup>, Părlătescu I.<sup>1</sup>, Țovaru Ș.<sup>1</sup>, Tofan V.D.<sup>2</sup>, Nicolae C.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Oral Medicine/Oral Pathology Discipline, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy Carol Davila, Bucharest <sup>2</sup>Independent collaborator, Oral Surgery Specialist

Correspondence to: Name: Ioanina Părlătescu Address: Str. Eforie, nr. 4-6 floor 3 room 18, Bucharest,050037 E-mail address: pentacristina@yahoo.com; ioaninap@yahoo.com, ioanina.parlatescu@umfcd.ro

#### Abstract

The aim of the study is to assess the clinical features of gingival involvement in viral infections caused by herpes simplex virus (HSV). 165 medical charts of patients diagnosed with oral viral infection, over a period of 20 years, were analyzed. All patients presented with oral lesions in the clinical department of Oral Pathology Discipline, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", Bucharest where they were diagnosed and treated. Gingival involvement was reported in 55.1% of cases and in 12% gingival lesions were the only sign of the underlying herpetic infection. Because of the change in clinical appearance and symptoms, supplementary laboratory tests are now required in order to confirm the diagnosis. Further studies should be conducted in order to confirm these finding.

Keywords: gingiva, herpes simplex virus, gingivostomatitis, recrudescent infection.

#### INTRODUCTION

#### HERPES SMPLEX VIRUS (HSV)

The Herpesviridae family contains nine viruses that are pathogenic in humans. Of these most frequently encountered are HSV-1, HSV-2, varicella-zoster virus (VVZ), Epstein Barr virus and cytomegalovirus (CMV). The structure of the herpes virus is: internal corecontaining the viral genome, an icosahedral nucleocapsid and an outer lipid envelope containing viral glycoproteins on its surface that are derived from host cellular membranes [1].

HSV-1 is a  $\alpha$ -herpesvirus and it is a ubiquitous virus to which the majority of humans are exposed during their lifetime. Usually the exposure occurs by the teenage years, but occasionally it may occur later in adulthood [2]. Primary herpetic infection usually arises between 6 months and 5 years and is rarely seen in adults [3]. The incubation period is 6-7days [5].

Classically the herpes virus infection is divided into two types: type 1 usually occurs above the waist, most frequent in or around the mouth, and type-2 that usually occurs below the waist in the anogenital region [3]. Because of changes in sexual practice it is not uncommon to see oral lesions caused by HSV-2 and vice versa.

HSV is neuroinvasive and neurotoxic. Infection occurs by inoculation of the oral mucosa with infected secretions. After this the virus travels along the sensory nerve axons and establishes a chronic infection in the sensory ganglion [1] - usually the trigeminal ganglion. Here he remains latent. Reactivation results in viral shedding clinical recrudescence-usually as herpes labialis [4]. Studies have shown that the virus can be identified in the saliva of patients that don't have active oral lesions. This may explain why the herpetic virus infection is very common. 70% of middle-aged adults had contact with the virus, but most of these infection were subclinical [3].

#### PRIMARY HERPETIC GINGIVOSTOMATITIS

In primary infection produces a distinctive intraoral ulcerative pattern known as herpetic gingivostomatitis [3]. Patients experience a viral prodrome of 1-3 days with fever, malaise, cervical lymph node enlargement, nausea, loss of appetite and headache. Oral signs of the gingiva and oral mucosa are noticed shortly after the prodromal signs. Gingival edema, erythema, vesicles and ulcers are prominent features of primary infection. Ulcerative lesions begin as small vesicles that usually group in clusters, they rapidly break down to form coalescing, irregularly shaped ulcerations that are usually shallow [2]. Pain is severe thus making eating and drinking very difficult- in some cases hospitalization is required. Absent or poor oral hygiene leads to halitosis, coated tongue and bacterial gingivitis. Rarely acute ulcerative gingivitis follows as a secondary bacterial infection [5]. Excessive drooling and the fact that the saliva is heavily infected with HSV leads to cross-infection and skin lesions. In children with oral habits digits may present painful whitlow consequence of autoinoculation. In the absence of treatment full recovery is expected in 10 to 14 days.

Diagnosis

Diagnosis is clinical but if possible microbiology and serology investigations should be performed in order to confirm which strain of virus is involved. Viral studies include:

- PCR: highly accurate but expensive, also since it determines the antigen not the antibodies a positive PCR dose not necessarily mean an active infection [1];
- Electron microscopy;
- Culture: it has high sensitivity and it permits testing for sensitivity to antiviral drugs, but takes time and it's expensive;
- Smears from the base of lesions:
  - basic citology: doesn't distinguish HSV from VVZ;

- direct fluorescent antigen detection: more accurate then routine cytology
- Serology: primary infection is associated with elevated levels of Ig M
   Differential diagnosis

Differential diagnosis

In some cases ulcers may resemble minor aphtous stomatitis but large gingival involvement leads away from this diagnostic. Other viral infections must be considered especially Coxsackie virus: herpangina and hand-mouth-foot; in these instances the gums are not involved and lesions aren't usually clustered. Chickenpox and shingles, erythema multiforme and leukemia [4] must also be ruled out.

Treatment

Acyclovir is the antiviral most frequently used. Topical usage of an acyclovir elixir in the first three days shortens the duration of symptoms and infectivity [3]. Also famciclovir and valacyclovir demonstrated equal efficiency. Ibuprofen or acetaminophen is used to alleviate pain and reduce fever. Also protective coating agents may be applied before meals in order to relive pain and allow eating and drinking.

#### SECUNDARY INFECTION

RECRUDESCENT ORAL HSV INFECTION

Reactivation of the virus may be asymptomatic with shedding of the virus in saliva and oral secretions-representing an important risk factor for transmission because no systemic signs are present. Symptomatic reactivation generates oral ulcers especially on the attached gingiva, hard palate, and dorsum of the tongue [1]. Extensive oral lesion are rarely seen in healthy adults. Immunocompromised patients present frequent reactivations with extensive lesions. In these cases systemic acyclovir is a viable option, sometimes daily intake of low doses of antiviral may be recommended in order to prevent frequent reactivation [6].

Some of the trigger factors incriminated are: dental procedures, UV exposure, local trauma, stress.

RECURRENT HERPES LABIALIS

The virus survives in the nerve ganglia of the area and its DNA is incorporates in to the hosts DNA [3]. Reactivation may be due to dental procedures, pregnancy, age, excessive UV exposure, trauma- among others. Prodromal signs usually include: itch, burning sensation, soreness, redness, paresthesia of the affected area. Lips are the most frequent sight of involvement, especially at the muco-cutaneos junction. The basic lesion is the vesicle of 1-3mm diameter [3]. Clustered vesicles filled with clear fluid tend to coalesce. These vesicles rupture and a brown crust is formed. Because of the mobility of the area involved the crust frequently cracks generating oozing and bleeding. In absence of treatment healing occurs in 7 to 10 days.

Treatment is controversial in recurrent herpes labialis. Antiviral therapy must be evaluated from patient to patient in order to assess the risk/benefice ratio. Viral resistance to acyclovir must be a warning sign against overuse. Topical antiviral medication such as acyclovir cream, panciclovir cream and docosanol cream are efficacious [1].

#### Aim and objectives

The objective is to present to dentists the signs of gingival involvement in acute infection with HSV. The study is a descriptive analysis both of **topography** and extension of lesions. Dental practitioners must be able to recognize and treat adequately both primary and secondary infections. In most instances patients seek out advice from their dental provider and not from the pediatrician or family physician. Studies have shown that elaborate dental procedures and oral surgery trauma (sometimes after local anesthesia injection) lead to reactivation of latent infection in 8-10% of cases [1]. Knowing that HSV infection is diagnosed meanly by history and clinical appearance we find it further more important to underline the features of this infection. Dental practitioners must know that frequent reactivation with

widely spread oral lesions requires further investigation as they are sign of immunodeficiency. Dental practitioners must educate their patients in order to avoid cross infection. It is also their responsibility to help patients manage their suffering by adequate medication to alleviate the symptoms, proper oral hygiene practices to avoid secondary bacterial infection and adequate nutrition in order to prevent dehydration. Since gingival manifestation is a distinctive sign of oral HSV infection we find it appropriate to outline all type of lesions that involve gums, in order to facilitate a proper diagnoses.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study was performed in the clinical department of Oral Pathology Discipline, Faculty of Dental Medicine, University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Carol Davila", Bucharest from 1997 to 2017. The medical charts of 170 patients with herpetic infection were reviewed.

They were divided into 2 study groups. Study group one included 90 patients with primary herpetic infection. The inclusion criteria's were:

- Patients history:
  - No recollection of a previous episode of oral/extra-oral HSV
  - Prodromal signs
- Clinical features:
  - Multiple vesicullar-ulcerative lesions
  - Multiple areas affected

And study group 2 which included 80 patients with recurrent herpetic infection. The inclusion criteria's were:

- Patients history: recollection of one or more episodes of oral herpetic lesions prior to this one or general symptoms
- Clinical features: vesicullar-ulcerative lesions on the keratinized gingiva or on the lips at the muco-cutaneous junction

We analyzed: sex, age, time from onset, presentation date, prodromal signs, extent of lesions, laboratory tests for viral string confirmation, use of local and systemic drugs.

#### RESULTS

A total of 170 medical charts were analyzed. From the first study group (S1) 3 patients were eliminated because of insufficient data resulting 87 cases that were further analyzed. From the second group (S2) 2 patients were eliminated for the same reason resulting a study group of 78. The primary study group (PSG) includes both study group 1 and 2 and sums up to 165 patients. Of these 95 were females and 70 men. Female mean age was 31.6 years and male average was 19.5 years. Because age is important for differential diagnose each study group was individually analyzed.

In the primary infection group F: M ratio was 0.8:1 (46M- 52.8% and 41F- 47.1%). Mean age of the group was 17.7 years old (18.8 years females and 16.8 years men).

In the second study group F: M ratio was 2.12:1 (53F- 67.9% and 25M- 32%). Mean age was 36.1 years old, with the mean age of females' 37.9 years and men average age 32.4 years.

Laboratory tests showed HSV1 infection in all cases, but also with HSV2 in 2 cases both females, one 18 years old and one 28 years old.

Gingival involvement was reported in 91 cases. Of these 63 (69%) were from the first study group and 28 (30.7%) from the second one. Female: male ratio was 0.98:1 (49-53.8% F and 50-54.9% men). Laboratory tests confirmed viral infection with both HSV1 and HSV2 in 2 cases with gingival lesions. Some of these patients presented with prodromal symptoms (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Prodromal symptoms in patients with herpetic gingivitis

In 12 (13.1%) cases clinical findings were confined to the gingiva, making gingival involvement the only sign of an acute herpetic infection. 25% of these cases were accompanied by high fever, 33.3% presented with enlarged lymph nodes and 25% accused asthenia.

Among the patients with herpetic gingivitis the next oral areas were involved (Table 1):

Site of involvement	Number-Percentage%
Tongue-margins	9-9.8%
Tongue- tip	15-16.4%
Tongue- dorsal surface	11-12%
Tongue- ventral surface	9-9.8%
Hard palate	30- 32.9%
Lip- upper	20-21.9%
Lip- lower	43-47.2%
Labial mucosa	6-6.5%
Floor of mouth	5-5.4%
Buccal mucosa	32-35.1%
Retro-molar area	4-4.3%
Soft palate, tonsillar pillar and pharynx	19- 20.8%

Table 1. Oral sites of involvement in patients with gingival lesions

Taking into considerations all patients from the primary study group the distribution of oral lesions was as follows (Table 2).

Table 2. Oral sites of involvement in patients with oral herpetic infection

Site of involvement	Number-Percentage%
Hard palate	48-29%
Soft palate	17-10%
Tongue	64-38.7%
Buccal mucosa	46-50.5%
Floor of mouth	8-4.8%
Retro-molar area	4-2.4%
Vermillion border-upper lip	53-32.1%
Vermilion border-lower lip	87-52.7%
Lip- mucosa	6-3.6%
Tonsillar pillar	11-6.6%
Gingival lesions	91-55.1%

Regarding the number of areas that presented lesions patients were included in 3 different groups: group 1-1 affected area (32.1%), group 2- less than 3 areas involved but more than one (47.2%), group 3- more than 3 areas involved (20.6%). (Figure 2)



Figure 2. Number of areas that presented lesions- group 1 (1 area), group 2 (1-3 areas), group 3 (>3 areas)

112 patients (67.8%) presented themselves within one week from noticing the lesion(s) or experiencing prodromal signs. The other 53 (32.1%) waited between 10 days and 2 weeks before seeking medical advice. In all patients with general symptoms oral lesions followed within 1 to 4 days.

43 patients (26%) were following an antibiotic treatment when they presented, usually prescribed by the family physician. Of these 12 (27.9%) were diagnosed with recurrent herpetic infection and 32 (74.4%) with primary herpetic infection.

#### DISCUSSIONS

The first significant difference between our study and the literature is the age of the primary infection group. We found the mean age to be 17.7 years old, while Neville states that it arises between 6 months and 5 years of age [3] and C. Scully reports it to appear between 2-4 years old [5]. This may be explained by the fact that our study was performed in a medical department of oral pathology. Children less than 5 years old are rarely referred to us, they usually seek out the pediatrician's advice. It is he who diagnoses and treats the primary HSV infection. Most of the patients were between 16-23 years old, which is in correlation with the findings of other studies.

This may also account for the large number of patients with herpetic gingivostomatitis that were following antibiotic treatment when they presented themselves. Most patients recall visiting the pediatrician or the family physician after 2 days of experiencing prodromal signs and, at his/hers advice follow an antibiotic treatment, only to notice after 1-2 days the presence of oral lesions.

Another explanation may be derived from the fact that some patients had lesions on the tonsillar pillar. This could have been mistaken for bacterial pharingotonsillitis and treated with antibiotics.

The oral sites we found to be typically involved (attached gingiva- Figure 3A,3B and dorsum of tongue-Figure 3C, ventral tongue, soft palate, hard palate- Figure 4) are in accordance with the findings of other studies [10, 11].



Figure 3A. Gingival ulcers in primary herpetic gingivostomatitis





Figure 3B. Gingival and labial ulcers in primary herpetic gingivostomatitis



Figure 3C. Small ulcer on the dorsal tongue in primary herpetic gingivostomatitis

Figure 4. Clustered ulcers in secondary herpetic infection

We found that the type of herpetic infection (primary/recrudescent) associate a higher frequency among some oral sites of involvement. There for it is important to know patients history in order to establish if the infection is primary or recrudescent, usually patients with secondary infection recall one/more episodes of vesicular lesions [12, 13].

Although Christie&co have shown that recrudescent herpes simplex infection may sometimes mimic primary herpetic gingivostomatitis [14]. Because of these findings differential diagnosis can no longer be accurate if it's based only on clinical signs. Therefor confirmatory laboratory diagnosis is no longer required when patients are, or may be immunocompromised as Arduino&co suggested in one of their articles [15] but in all patients with wide extensive lesions.

Another relevant difference is that of the percentage of patients with gingival involvement- we found herpetic gingivitis in 55% of case (of these 68% were from the first study group), which is in contradiction with Neville's statement that all patients with primary gingivostomatitis have gingival involvement [3].

#### CONCLUSIONS

The variability and diversity of clinical features, the change in age, and the change in treatment responsivity transforms the classic herpetic infection into a polymorph oral pathology. As more and more studies have shown extensive lesions that mimic primary herpetic gingivostomatitis are now more commonly encountered in adolescents and young patients. In order to establish a correct diagnosis patient's history and clinical aspect are no longer sufficient, laboratory tests become mandatory.

Patient's symptomatology has also shifted to more aggressive features. Malaysia and asthenia are more commonly encountered, as well as lymph node enlargement and fever, even in recrudescent forms.

Dental practitioners must be advised that gingival involvement can be the only sign of an active infection (our study reported it in 12% of cases). This can raise serious difficulties in

reaching a correct diagnose, especially if other systemic signs are absent. It also represents a health risk issue since these patients are infectious.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Greenberg M.S., Glick M., "Burket's Oral Medicine: Diagnoses and Treatment", Eleventh Edition, BC Decker Inc, Hamilton, London, 2008
- 2. Bruch J.M., Treister N.S.: "Clinical Oral Medicine and Pathology", First Edition, Humana Press, New York, 2010
- 3. Neville B.W., Damm D.D., White D.H., "Neville's Color Atlas of Oral Pathology", Second Edition, BC Decker Inc, Hamilton, London, 2014
- 4. Scully C., Flint S.R., Bagan J.V.: "Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases", Forth Edition; Informa, London, UK, 2010
- 5. C. Scully, R. Welbury, C. Flaitz, O. Paes del Almeida: "A color atlas od orofacial health and disease in children and adolescents: Diagnosis and Management" Second Edition, ISIS Medical Media, UK, London, 2002
- 6. R.A. Cawson, E.W. Odell "Cawson's essential of Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology" Eight Edition, Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier, Philadelphia, 2008
- 7. W.P. Hoolbrook, G.T. Gudmundsson, K.T. Ragnarsson "Herpetic gingivostomatitis in otherwise healthy adolescents and young adults" Acta Odontol Scand 2001; 59; 113-115
- 8. P.J. Chauvin, A. Ajar "Acute herpetic gingivostomatitits in adults: A review of 13 cases including diagnosis and management" J Can Dent Assoc 2002; 68; 247-251
- 9. J. Katz, I. Marmary, "Primary herpetic gingivostomatitis: No longer a disease if childhood?" Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1991; 19; 309
- 10. Kolokotronis A, Doumas S. "Herpes simplex virus infection, with particular reference to the progression and complications of primary herpetic gingivostomatitis." Clin Microbiol Infect 2006; 2013:202–11
- 11. Quinn JP, Dalziel RG, Nash AA "Herpes virus latency in sensory ganglia--a comparison with endogenous neuronal gene expression." Prog Neurobiol. 2000 Feb; 60(2):167-7
- 12. Arduino PG, Porter SR" Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 infection: overview on relevant clinicopathological features." J Oral Pathol Med. 2008 Feb; 37(2):107-21.
- 13. Miller CS, Danaher RJ "Asymptomatic shedding of herpes simplex virus (HSV) in the oral cavity." Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2008 Jan; 105(1):43-50.
- 14. Christie SN1, McCaughey C, Marley JJ, Coyle PV, Scott DA, Lamey PJ. "Recrudescent herpes simplex infection mimicking primary herpetic gingivostomatitis." J Oral Pathol Med. 1998 Jan;27(1):8-10
- 15. Arduino PG1, Porter SR "Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 infection: overview on relevant clinicopathological features." <u>J Oral Pathol Med.</u> 2008 Feb;37(2):107-21. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0714.2007.00586.x.

## Assessment of a panel of risk indicators in severe periodontitis patients



#### Ciobanu L.<sup>1</sup>, Miricescu D.<sup>2</sup>, Didilescu A.<sup>3</sup>, Țărmure V.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>PhD Student in Dental Medicine, Division of Microbiology, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania
<sup>2</sup>Senior Lecturer, Division of Biochemistry, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania
<sup>3</sup>Professor, Division of Embryology, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest, Romania
<sup>4</sup>Associate Professor, Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Iuliu Haţieganu University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj-Napoca, Romania

Correspondence to: Name: Ciobanu Lidia Address: Blvd. Camil Ressu 49, Bl. H26, Sc. D, Ap.61, Bucharest, Romania Phone: +40 724962500 E-mail address: lidia.ciobanu@ymail.com

#### Abstract

Aim and objectives The purpose of this study was to analyse a panel of risk indicators in a group of twenty-two patients with severe periodontitis. We also aimed to test possible associations between these indicators and the severity of periodontitis assessed by clinical attachment loss (CAL) mean values.

**Material and methods** Periodontal status was assessed based on the CDC/AAP periodontitis case definition for population-based studies. Risk indicators, including age, gender, weight and height, level of education, and smoking habits, were recorded. Salivary cortisol level, as a marker of chronic stress, was also measured.

**Results** The mean age of the patients was 44.86 (SD 12.81; range 24 to 72). Ten females (45.5%) were enrolled. Testing possible associations between risk indicators and CAL mean values showed no statistical significant correlations, although trends of positive correlations were found between males, BMI, and CAL, respectively

**Conclusions** The present results suggest that a high BMI, as well as masculine gender, could have been important risk factors for severe periodontitis in this study group.

Keywords: periodontal disease, risk factors, prevalence.

#### INTRODUCTION

Periodontal disease may appear in various forms, such as gingivitis or periodontitis, and the main etiological factor is represented by the dental plaque. Depending on the inflammatory response, periodontal disease can be grouped into gingivitis and periodontitis. Gingivitis represents the inflammatory condition of the soft tissues surrounding the teeth (gingiva), and it can be influenced by several factors like: smoking, drugs, hormonal changes, etc. [1]. Periodontitis is a chronic inflammation which involves the destruction of the supporting structures of the teeth (periodontal ligament, bone, and soft tissues) and the rate of progression is slow to moderate, with periods of rapid progression. The progression and severity of the disease may be associated with one or more risk factors which can influence the host response [2].

Modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors can influence the periodontal tissue response to dental plaque [3]. The modifiable risk factors are represented by smoking, diabetes mellitus, microorganisms, psychological factors, nutrition, alcohol consumption, socioeconomic status and stress levels. The non-modifiable risk factors are represented by genetic factors, host response, osteoporosis, aging, and other diseases [4].

#### Aim and objectives

The aim of the present study was to investigate a panel of risk indicators of severe periodontitis. In addition, we aimed to test possible associations between these indicators and the severity of periodontitis assessed by clinical attachment loss (CAL) mean values.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### Subjects

A cross-sectional, pre-treatment study was conducted between October 2014 and August 2017. The investigation protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Science Research from Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy. Twenty-two subjects with severe periodontal disease were recruited from a dental private office in Bucharest. Subjects under 18 years old or with systemic diseases, such as: uncontrolled diabetes mellitus, osteoporosis, chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis, HIV/ AIDS, autoimmune diseases etc., were excluded.

#### Clinical data

Demographic data, including age, sex, weight and height, level of education, profession, medical history, medication used and smoking habits (recorded as smoker/non-smoker), was collected. Patients' self-reported height (in meters) and weight (in kilograms) were used to calculate body mass index (BMI; kg/m<sup>2</sup>) using the standard formula. The dental chart included information about brushing frequency, auxiliary methods for dental hygiene and professional cleaning.

#### **Oral examination**

Clinical examination was performed in all present teeth, excluding third molars. The periodontal parameters, used and measured at four inter-proximal sites for each tooth, were: presence of bleeding on probing (BOP), probing pocket depth (PPD) and CAL. PPD (the distance from the gingival margin to the bottom of the pocket) and CAL (the distance from the cement-enamel junction to the bottom of the pocket/sulcus) were measured using a conventional periodontal probe. Severe periodontitis was diagnosed according to the clinical

case definitions proposed by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention [5]. Participants enrolled in this study signed a written informed consent.

#### Salivary cortisol assessment

Salivary cortisol level, as a marker of chronic stress, was measured. The patients were recommended to harvest saliva in the morning, after waking up, before brushing teeth, smoking, eating or drinking. Saliva was harvested in sterile containers, the day before administration of any kind of periodontal treatment. The samples were maintained at -20°C before processing. Cortisol determination was performed using a kit with serial number DSNOV20 from NovaTec Immundiagnostica GmbH. Salivary cortisol quantitative determination was performed using a colorimetric immuno-enzymatic method.

#### Statistical analysis

Data distributions were expressed as means, standard deviations (SD), ranges, and percentages, as appropriate. Associations between two continuous variables were tested using Pearson's correlation coefficient. Statistical comparison of the pre-treatment continuous measurements between the dichotomous variable based groups was performed using an independent t-test.

Statistical analyses were performed using Stata/IC 14 (StataCorp. 2015. Statistical Software. College Station, TX, USA). A p-value of 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 44.86 (SD 12.81; range 24 to 72). Ten females (45.5%) were enrolled. Six patients were current smokers (27.3%), of which four were males. Eleven patients (50%) completed tertiary education, whilst the other half completed secondary education level. Fifteen patients (68.2%) were urban residents. The mean BMI was 25.85 (SD 6.55; range 17.72 to 47.34). Ten patients (45.5%) underwent at least one professional cleaning during preceding year. Daily tooth brushing twice a day was reported by 20 patients (90.9%). Only one patient (4.6%) was using auxiliary methods for dental hygiene. The mean salivary cortisol level was 9.75 ng/mL (SD 7.93; range 1.72 to 30.71).

Testing possible associations between risk indicators and CAL mean values showed no statistical significant correlations, although trends of positive correlations were found between males, BMI, and CAL, respectively (Table 1; Figs. 1, 2).

Patient crt no	BMI ( $kg/m^2$ )	Gender (male/female)	Mean CAL (SD) [mm]
1	21.26	female	4.08 (0.11)
2	26.85	male	3.25 (0.36)
3	27.53	female	3.83 (0.23)
4	19.61	female	4.25 (0.16)
5	23.88	male	4.01 (0.35)
6	27.77	male	4.18 (0.44)
7	20.03	female	3.49 (0.4)
8	22.94	female	3.75 (0.22)
9	24.97	male	3.83 (0.55)
10	25.21	male	2.68 (0.12)
11	20.03	female	4.23 (0.81)
12	21.26	female	3.81 (0.73)
13	25.35	male	5.44 (0.16)
14	28.48	female	3.46 (0.2)
15	47.34	male	3.97 (0.32)
16	30.49	male	3.95 (0.23)
17	26.42	male	4.16 (0.67)
18	17.72	female	3.73 (1.05)
			· ·

Table I. BMI, gender and mean CAL measurements per patient

Patient crt no	BMI (kg/m²)	Gender (male/female)	Mean CAL (SD) [mm]
19	27.78	male	4.47 (1.12)
20	27.7	male	3.45 (1.57)
21	19.15	female	2.7 (0.37)
22	36.95	male	5.35 (0.77)



Figure 1. Mean CAL values depending on gender



Figure 2. Distribution of CAL mean values depending on BMI

#### DISCUSSIONS

Age, gender, education level, socio-economic condition, systemic diseases, genetic predisposition represent factors which can have a role in the occurrence and evolution of the periodontal disease. To all these, local factors may be associated, such as improper oral hygiene, toothless, malocclusions, parafunctions or incorrect prosthetic, surgical, orthodontic treatment [6].

Prevalence and severity of periodontal disease increase with age. It is possible that the degenerative changes related to aging may increase susceptibility for periodontitis [7]. A study performed on 531 dentate individuals aged 25-75 years, examined the location of the alveolar bone in relation to cement-enamel junction and the presence of angular bony defects. The result of the study showed that bone loss was observed in 11 % of the subjects and was non-existent in ages below 35 years. It was also demonstrated that the mean annual rate of bone loss among subjects of 70 years old was 0.28mm, as compared to 0.07mm in 25-year-old patients. Thus, the increased severity of periodontal disease and bone loss with age are probably related with the length of periodontal tissues' exposure to the bacterial plaque or other risk factors [8].

Gender plays a role in periodontal disease. Men have poorer oral hygiene and more loss of attachment than women. A study performed on 4,290 randomly selected participants from the normal population (Study of Health in Pomerania) determined higher periodontal destruction among males, as compared with female population. The study revealed that the means of attachment loss and extent of sites 4 mm or greater were significantly lower in women than in men. Although this was a sign of healthier periodontal tissue, the number of teeth was lower in women than in men in all age categories, except the youngest (30 years or younger) [9].

High BMI is considered a risk factor for periodontitis. There is a 16% increased risk for periodontitis at 1 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for increased body mass. Obesity is defined as a BMI greater than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, overweight are people between 25-30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and normal weight is between 19-25kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Obesity is associated with deep probing pockets [3]. It modulates host immune responses, resulting in increased susceptibility to infections. Adipocytes are metabolically active and release a variety of inflammatory mediators. The possible mechanisms which can explain the association between obesity and periodontitis are: obesity associated with a systemic and locally increased inflammatory response; obesity's influence on dental plaque quantity and composition; and finally, a combination of both [10].

Current studies showed that persons who are socioeconomically disadvantaged can be related with gingivitis and poor oral hygiene. Socioeconomic disadvantage and racial discrimination may lead to stress [11].

Stress is a physiological and psychological condition caused by physical, mental and emotional stimuli, which tend to disrupt the functioning of an organism and on which a body normally seeks to avoid [12]. Chronic stress affects the host immune cellular response through the high liberation of neurotransmitters, such as epinephrine, norepinephrine and P substance which interacts directly with lymphocytes, neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages through the receptors which can accelerate the tissue destruction function [13].

The present results, in spite of the fact that no statistical significant associations were found between the above described risk indicators and periodontal status expressed by CAL means of full-mouth measurements, may be considered a good starting point for larger crosssectional studies, as well as for prospective observational cohort studies.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In order to obtain an accurate general image of the periodontal status and integrate the periodontal disease in the systemic context, risk indicators information should be collected in order to elaborate an adequate and individualized treatment plan. A high BMI and masculine gender could have been important risk factors for severe chronic periodontitis in this study group.

#### Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Sectorial Operational Programme Human Resources Development (SOP HRD), financed from the European Social Fund and by the Romanian Government under the contract number POSDRU/ 187 / 1.5 / S / 155463.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Kinane D. Causation and pathogenesis of periodontal disease. Periodontol 2000. 2001;25(1):8–20.
- 2. Refulio Z, Rocafuerte M, de la Rosa M, Mendoza G, Chambrone L. Association among stress, salivary cortisol levels, and chronic periodontitis. J Periodontal Implant Sci. 2013;96–100.
- 3. Dibart S, Dibart JP. Practical Osseous Surgery in Periodontics and Implant Dentistry. 1st ed. Wiley-Blackwell; 2011.
- 4. Timmerman M, Weijden G. Risk factors for periodontitis. Int J Dent Hyg. 2006;4(1):2–7.
- 5. Page RC, Eke PI. Case Definitions for Use in Population-Based Surveillance of Periodontitis. J Periodontol. 2007;78(7s):1387–99.
- 6. Mârțu S, Solomon S, Potârnichie O, Păsărin L, Mârțu A, Nicolaiciuc O, et al. Evaluation of the prevalence of the periodontal disease *versus* systemic and local risk factors. International Journal of Medical Dentistry 2013;3(3):212–8.
- 7. Newman M. Carranza's Clinical Periodontology. 12th ed. Carranza F, editor. Elsevier Saunders; 2015.
- 8. P. N. Papapanou and J. L. Wennstrom. Radiographic and clinical assessments of destructive periodontal disease. J Clin Periodontol. 1989;16:609–612.
- 9. Meisel P, Reifenberger J, Haase R, Nauck M, Bandt C, Kocher T. Women are periodontally healthier than men, but why don't they have more teeth than men? Menopause. 2008;15(2):270–5.
- 10. Ekuni D, Yamamoto T, Koyama R, Tsuneishi M, Naito K, Tobe K. Relationship between body mass index and periodontitis in young Japanese adults. J Periodontal Res. 2008;43(4):417–21.
- 11. Borrell, L, Crawford N. Socioeconomic position indicators and periodontitis: Examining the evidence. Periodontol 2000. 2012;58(1):69–83.
- 12. Mannem S, Chava VK. The effect of stress on periodontitis: A clinicobiochemical study. J Indian Soc Periodontol. 2012;16(3):365–9.
- 13. Boyapati L, Wang HL. The role of stress in periodontal disease and wound healing. Periodontol 2000. 2007;44:195–210.

# **Retrospective study of mandible fractures complications**



#### Roi A.<sup>1</sup>, Rusu L.C.<sup>1</sup>, Roi C.<sup>2</sup>, Podariu A.C.<sup>3</sup>, Urechescu H.<sup>2</sup>, Pricop M.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Victor Babeş" Timişoara (Oral Pathology Department, Dental Medicine, UMFVBT, Timisoara) <sup>2</sup>University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Victor Babeş" Timişoara (Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Department, Dental Medicine, UMFVBT, Timisoara) <sup>3</sup>University of Medicine and Pharmacy "Victor Babeş" Timişoara (Preventive Medicine Department, Dental Medicine, UMFVBT, Timişoara)

Correspondence to: Name: Roi Alexandra Address: Timişoara, Splaiul T. Vladimirescu nr.14A, Oral Pathology Department Phone: +40 726808000 E-mail address: Alexandra.moga@umft.ro

#### Abstract

The etiology of facial trauma, especially of mandible fractures varies based on the multitude of existing cultures and societies. Mandible fractures have been studied for a long time without the possibility to formulate an ideal treatment approach that can prevent the occurrence of unexpected complications. Several factors need to be taken into consideration when a treatment is indicated, in such a matter that the complication incidence is reduced to minimum. The aim of the present study is to evaluate the incidence of mandible fractures complications, enrolling in the study a number of 30 patients that were treated in the Maxillofacial Surgery Clinic in Timisoara, during march 2014-october 2016. The inclusion criteria was the diagnosis of mandible fracture with or without any further complications and the results and conclusions of the study were based on the statistical analysis obtained using the programmes SPSS 16, Epi Info 6 and OpenEpi 3.01.

Keywords: Mandible fracture, complications, trauma, retrospective study, treatment.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The fractures of the mandible represent one of the most frequent injuries in adults that are treated in the maxillofacial surgery. The explanation might be in the fact that the mandible is a proeminent, unsustained bone that belongs to the cranio-facial complex, without an effective support when it comes to excessive forces. The anatomy of the mandible describes the fact that it is formed by two hemimandibles that are united in the middle by a symphysis. Each hemimandible consists of a horizontal and a vertical ramus that unite at an angle. The condyle is the one that articulates to the glenoid fosa, forming in this way the temporomandibular join which represents a diarthroidal joint with two motion movements: rotation (around an horizontal axis) and a forward translation. The capsule of the joint contains a cartilaginous disc that can be displaced or ruptured when a condylar fracture occurs. Another region of interest is the alveolar rigde, that one part of the mandibular bone which sustains the teeth and consists of compact cortical bone.

When it comes to the blood supply and innervation, these are assured by the inferior alveolar artery and the innervation by the inferior alveolar nerve that enters at the mandibular foramen together with the artery, and traverses the medullar cavity below the level of the dental roots [1]. Also, there are two main groups of muscles inserted and involved in the mandible's movements: the masticatory muscles and the suprahyoid ones. Their involvement is upon the displacement of the segments that are fractured, the different forces of the muscles determining various degrees of mobility. The muscles of mastication tend to move the segments postero-superior, and the suprahyoid muscles displace the segments antero-inferior.

The incidence towards the mandibular fractures is very high and the prevalence rates that are reported by several studies show that the occurrence is between 60% and 81% [2]. The mandibular fractures are the most common type of facial fractures, with an arising incidence in the adult population. A high complication rate is associated with this type of trauma, oscillating from 5.4% to 36.8%, based on different studies [2, 3]. Infection is the most predominant posttraumatic complication, but the data varies considerably depending on ethno-social and geographical conditions [4]. The association between the risk of infection and the mandibular fractures is a fact, especially in the tooth-bearing area. The explanation regarding this issue is that these fractures are wide open and permanently exposed intraorally to an increased amount of bacteria.

Based on more studies, the major causes of the mandibular fractures were altercations (47.5%), from which automobile accidents (27.3%) and motorcycle accidents (4.2%), these representing one third of the fractures. The rest of the percentage regarding the causes of the mandibular fractures is grouped in four major categories: falls (7.1%), sport accidents (5.4%), work-related accidents (3.0%) and other causes (5.5%) [5].

Mandibular fractures represent two-thirds of all craniomaxillofacial fractures [6], with various locations of the fracture lines. According to a study performed by Stacey et al. [7], their conclusion was that the most encountered mandible fracture was that of the condylar process 36%, than that of the mandibular corpus 21% and of the mandibular angle 20%. Another study reveals the fact that physical altercations tend to produce a higher incidence of fractures located at the angle because a lateral blow of the mandible occurs, meanwhile the parasymphyseal, symphyseal, body and condylar fractures are more commonly associated with accidents [8]. The location of the fractures is also influenced by the age of the patients, sex and social provenience. Another important decision factor upon the necessary treatment is if the fractured segments are in position, or they suffered a displacement due to the different muscles insertions and actions. Based on this, if the fractures of the mandible are not adequate treated, they can cause a high risk of morbidity. The purpose of the treatment must provide a correct healing, taking care of the functional and cosmetic aspects also [9]. The

treatment that can be applied focuses on the possibilities in obtaining a full recovery, taking consideration the local conditions (edentulous patient, open fracture, into complete/incomplete fracture line). Complications are not completely ruled out from the final outcome of the treatment. During the decision of the treatment strategy, the age of the patient, the comorbidities, the trauma type and the localization of the fracture line are important definitory factors. The treatment can be either surgical (open treatment) using the internal fixation system or orthopedically with rigid-elastic intermaxillary fixation. The complications that can occur are divided into four categories: infection, non-union, malunion and temporomandibular joint ankylosis. Complications can occur whether the fractures are surgically or nonsurgically treated, and the incidence varies by local and general factors. Historically, rigid fixation of fractures was generally considered an unacceptable treatment because of the high associated complication rate [10].

#### Aim and objectives

The aim and objectives of this observational retrospective study are to evaluate the incidence and correlations of mandible fractures complications. These were analysed based on different factors such as: sex, age, type of fracture, localization of the fracture and type of the treatment. This study was based on an analysis of the cases that addressed the clinic during the period March 2014-October 2016.

Based on the fact that the mandible fractures have a high incidence upon the population, in this study the main objective is to identify the complication rates in the 30 cases of mandible fractures and their implications. The specific objectives are to establish the type of the complications and the correlation between with various variables (age, sex, type of fracture, type of treatment and localization of the fracture line). The identification of the existing relationships between different situations and their frequencies can help us provide a statistic analysis of this number of cases.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

In this study, a retrospective analysis was performed from a total of 30 cases of mandible fractures that were admitted in the Cranio-Maxillo-Facial Surgery Clinic from Timisoara, between the period March 2014 - October 2016. The patient's charts and records, operative reports and radiographies were analysed and the information included in the statistics. The type of study was a longitudinal one, based on the information provided by the charts, focusing on the representative variables: age, gender, type of fracture, type of complication and treatment. A quantification of the frequencies and percentages of the qualitative variables was performed, followed by a statistic comparison. The patients were introduced in a data basis created in Microsoft Excel 2010 (*Fig. 1*) with the following fields: patient number, gender, age, localization of the fracture line, type of fracture, complications and treatment. Some of the fields were subdivided as following:

- complications were divided into secondary (S) and late (T);
- the localization of the fracture line was subdivided into paramedian (PM), body (C), condyl (CD) and mandibular angle (U);
- the gender of the patients: male (M), female (F);
- the type of fracture: with displacement (D), without displacement (FD);
- the type of treatment: orthopaedic (O) and surgical (CH)

NR	AGE	GENDER	TYPE OF	COMPLICATIONS	IOCALIZATION	TRFATMENT
1	27	M	D	S	С	CH
2	31	М	D	-	С	СН
3	25	М	D	Т	С	СН

			TYPE OF			
NR.	AGE	GENDER	FRACTURE	COMPLICATIONS	IOCALIZATION	TREATMENT
4	36	М	D	S	PM	CH
5	42	М	D	-	U	CH
6	47	М	D	Т	С	СН
7	48	F	D	Т	С	CH
8	50	М	FD	S	С	0
9	29	М	D	-	С	СН
10	35	М	FD	-	PM	0
11	42	М	D	S	С	CH
12	55	М	D	S	С	СН
13	44	F	FD	-	U	0
14	10	М	FD	-	С	0
15	23	М	FD	-	CD	0
16	36	М	D	Т	U	СН
17	48	М	D	Т	С	CH
18	29	М	D	Т	С	CH
19	51	F	FD	-	CD	0
20	13	М	FD	-	С	0
21	56	М	D	S	PM	СН
22	44	М	D	-	С	СН
23	22	М	FD	S	PM	0
24	52	М	FD	-	U	0
25	60	М	FD	S	PM	0
26	53	F	D	-	U	СН
27	40	М	D	Т	С	СН
28	48	М	D	S	С	СН
29	39	М	D	-	С	СН
30	41	М	FD	-	U	0

Figure 1. The data basis organized based on the variables that will be analysed

The statistical analysis was performed on the file that was created, with the help of the programs: SPSS 17, EpiInfo 6 and OpenEpi 3.01 (*Fig.2, Fig.3*). The analysis consisted of: the calculation of the frequences and percentages of the qualitative variables; the calculation of the arithmetic average and standard deviations for the quantitative variables; the statistic comparison of the average samples with the tests t-Student; the statistic comparison of the results was made using the decision criteria of the statistical tests: p>0.05- unsignifiant difference (NS), p<0.05 – signifiant difference (S), p<0.01 – very signifiant difference (FS), p<0.001 – extreme signifiant difference (ES).

		AGE	GENDER	TYPE OF FRACTURE	COMPLICATII
Ν	Valid	30	30	30	30
	Missing Mean	0 39,20	0	0	0
	Median	41,50			
	Std. Deviation	12,724			
	Minimum	10			
	Maximum	60			

Figure 2.

	Statistics				
		LOCALIZATION	TREATMENT		
N	Valid	30	30		
	Missing	0	0		
	Figure 3.				

#### RESULTS

After the analysis of the frequencies and percentages for the qualitative variables, the results show us that regarding the variable COMPLICATIONS, it resulted that secondary complication (infection) has a frequency of 30% (9 cases) and the late ones are found in 23,3% (7 cases), form the cases that were included in the study there were 14 cases that had no complications (46,7 %) (*Fig.4*). The incidence of the fractures related to the AGE of the patient revealed the fact that the higher percentage, 76,6% (3 cases) occurred at the age of 48, and the lowest percentage (3,3%) at the age of 10 (*Fig.6*). The statistical analysis based on the GENDER of the patient admit an increased percentage associated to males, 86,7% (26 cases), meanwhile the cases that involved females had a percentage of 13,3% (4 cases).

COMILICATIONS						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	-	14	46,7	46,7	46,7	
	S	9	30,0	30,0	76,7	
	Т	7	23,3	23,3	100,0	
	Total	30	100,0	100,0		
Figure 4.						

COMPLICATIONS

CEN	DED
GEIN	DEN

GLADER						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	F	4	13,3	13,3	13,3	
	М	26	86,7	86,7	100,0	
	Total	30	100,0	100,0		

Figure 5.

The type of treatment applied to the 30 cases included in the study was 63,3% (19 cases) a surgical one, and in 36,7% (11 cases) orthopaedic treatment (*Fig.6*). Regarding the localization of the fracture line, it concluded that the fractures that were localized at the body had the higher percentage 56, 7% (17 cases), followed by those located at the angle of the mandible 20%(6 cases), the paramedian ones 16, 7%(5 cases), and the lowest percentage was associated to the ones located at the condyle 6, 7%(2 cases). The statistical comparison between the average samples using the t-Student test provided the percentage regarding the incidence of the secondary and late type of complications, associated with the existence of fractures with displacement and without displacement (*Fig.7*).

GENDER

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	F	4	13,3	13,3	13,3
	М	26	86,7	86,7	100,0
	Total	30	100,0	100,0	

		D	FD	р	
GENDER	М	17 (89,5)	9 (81,8)	0,8951	
	F	2 (10,5)	2 (18,2)	-	
COMPLICATION	S	6 (31,6)	3 (27,3)	0,4532	
	Т	7 (36,8)	-		
	-	6 (31,6)	8 (72,7)	0,3108	
LOCALIZATION	С	14 (73,7)	3 (27,3)	0,5569	
	CD	-	2 (18,2)	-	
	PM	2 (10,5)	3 (27,3)	-	
	U	3 (15,8)	3 (27,3)	-	
TREATMENT	CH	19 (100)	-	-	
	0	-	11 (100)	-	
AGE	MEDIE	42	41	0,8607	
	STD.DEVI	9,58	17.061		

Figure 6.

The secondary type of complications were more encountered in the cases of mandible fractures with displacement (31, 6% - 6 cases) than in the ones without displacement (27,3% - 3 cases). The late type of complications were associated only with the fractures with displacement (100% - 7 cases). The type of complications associated with the gender of the patients proved that 9 cases of secondary complications were male patients and 1 case of a late type of complication was a female patient (the secondary type of complications were not present in the cases included in this study).

#### DISCUSSIONS

The statistical analysis provides comprehensive information about the selected cases, correlating various variables to the incidence of the complications that can occur when mandible fractures are diagnosed. The limitation of this study is represented by the small number of the cases that were included, in comparison with other similar existing studies and the fact that the variable related to the presence of teeth in the fracture site was not documented. However, the results are similar to those encountered on our scientific research. Other publications reported also as the most frequent localizations of mandible fractures are the condyl, angulus, body and parasymphysis ones. This study also reveals the fact that infection was not detected in any of their patients during the follow up period [9]. Another study demonstrates that the most frequent complication in the mandible fracture cases that were enrolled in their research was infection, a secondary complication, represented by 32% of the cases. Also, other similar studies have shown the fact that the most associated complication with mandibular fractures is infection [10, 12]. Mainly, infections have minor consequences, but they can evolve to more significant complications including malunion, non-union, osteomyelitis and deformities of the bone. But, the infection rate found in a research says the fact that their research found that age and gender had no impact on postoperative infection rates [11], which in the present study implies existing differences. A closed reduction (orthopaedic treatment, intermaxillary fixation) had the lowest complication rate, fact that can be explained by the decision of this type of treatment that is an elective one for less complicated fractures.

This study showed the fact that the complication rate associated with mandible fractures remains a high one, especially associated with the open reduction type of treatment (surgical) than to the closed reduction one (orthopaedic treatment). The most encountered complications were the infections, frequently associated to the fractures that suffered a displacement of the fragments. According to more data, infection is the most posttraumatic complication and can be determined by a various range of conditions. A delayed medical care

can also be involved in the appearance of several complications, and seems to be the determinant factor for infection in mandibular fractures [13].

#### CONCLUSIONS

The conclusions that emerge from this study are based on the analysis of 30 mandibular fractures and the complications that were encountered. The statistical analysis assessed the fact that males are more exposed to mandible fractures and also the complications rate is higher in their case; the prevalence of the complication represented by infection is higher than other types of complications; infection was encountered in a higher percentage in association with fractures that had a displacement of the fragments; related to the fracture site, the higher incidence of complications was reported within the fractures that were localized at the body (corpus) of the mandible.

#### REFERENCES

- Stacey D.H., Doyle F.J., Mount D.L., Snyder M.C., Gutowski K.A. Management of Mandible Fractures. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. 2006; Vol. 117(no.3):13. DOI: 10.1097/01.prs.0000209392.8522
- 2. Atanasov DT. A retrospective study of 3326 mandibular fractures in 2252 patients. Folia Med (Plovd iv). 2003; Vol. 45: 38–42. PMID: 12943057
- 3. Freidl S, Bremerich A, Gellrich NC. Unterkieferfrakturen. Eine epidemiologische Studie anhand eines 10-jahrigen Kollektivs. Acta Stomatol Belg. 1996; Vol. 93: 5–11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcms.2006.07.865
- 4. Feller KU, Schneider M, Hlawitschka M, Pfeifer G, Lauer G, Eckelt U. Analysis of complications in fractures of the mandibular angle a study with finite element computation and evaluation of data of 277 patients. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 2003; Vol.1:290–295. PMID: 14563329
- 5. Fridrich L.K., MS, Pena-Velasco G., Olson A.J.R. Changing Trends With Mandibular Fractures: A Review of 1,067 Cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992; Vol. 50:586-589.
- 6. Chen L.C., Zenga J., Patel R, Branham G., Complications and Reoperations in Mandibular Angle Fractures. JAMA Facial Plastic Surgery. 2018; DOI: 10.1001/jamafacial.2017.2227
- 7. Stacey DH, Doyle JF, Mount DL. Management of mandible fractures. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2006; Vol. 117:48e.
- Pickrell B., Serebrakian A., Maricevich R. Mandible Fractures. Semin Plast Surg. 2017; No.31:100– 107. DOI <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1601374</u>.
- 9. Oruc, M., Is, ik V., Kankaya Y., Gu¨rsoy K., Sungur N., Aslan G., Koc, er U. Analysis of Fractured Mandible Over Two Decades. J Craniofac Surg. 2016; Vol. 27: p.1457–1461. DOI: 10.1097/SCS.00000000002737.
- 10. Mouton-Barrett R, Rubinstein A: Complications of mandibular fractures. Ann Plast Surg, 1998; Vol. 41:258.
- 11. Lamphier J., Ziccardi V., Ruvo A., Janel M. Complications of Mandibular Fractures in an Urban Teaching Center. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2003; Vol. 61: p.745-749.
- 12. Passeri L, Ellis E, Sinn D: Complications of nonrigid fixation of mandibular angle fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1993; Vol. 51:382.
- 13. Zachariades N, Papademetriou I: Complications of treatment of mandibular fractures with compression plates. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod, 1995; Vol. 79: 150–153.



# **Digital perfection**

Planmeca sets new standards with world's first dental unit integrated intraoral scanner for open connectivity to various CAD/CAM systems.

We would like to invite you to explore the dentistry in new dimensions – see the perfect combination of digital intraoral scan, CBVT and 3D facial photo datasets in one 3D image. This digital perfection enables you to study patient's complete anatomy in detail, plan and utilise open interface with modern CAD/CAM systems according to your needs. Now you can be one of the pioneering specialists, whether you are an implantologist, endodontist, periodontist, orthodontist or maxillofacial surgeon. The new era of dentistry is reality. It's your decision.



# Planmeca ProMax 3D

# All volume sizes

The Planmeca ProMax concept offers a full range of imaging volumes providing detailed information on patient anatomy. The comprehensive Planmeca ProMax platform complies with every need in dental radiology, offering digital panoramic, cephalometric, and 3D imaging as well as 3D face photo together with advanced imaging software.

At the heart of the concept is the robotic SCARA technology: the unique robotic arm enables any movement pattern required by existing or future program, eliminating all imaging restrictions. With the Planmeca ProMax concept superior maxillofacial radiography can be performed with a single platform, today and in the decades to come.

### All volume sizes



*Planmeca ProMax 3D s* Ø42 x 42 mm–90 x 60 x 130 mm



*Planmeca ProMax 3D Mid* Ø34 x 42 mm-Ø160 x 160 mm



Ø34 x 42 mm–140 x 105 x 130 mm



*Planmeca ProMax 3D Max* Ø42 x 50 mm-Ø230 x 260 mm



Planmeca Oy, Asentajankatu 6, oo88o Helsinki, Finland tel. +358 20 7795 500, fax +358 20 7795 555 sales@planmeca.com, www.planmeca.com


# Software refined



Planmeca Romexis is the software of choice for all dental imaging purposes. All patient's digital images - intraoral and extraoral X-ray images, 3D volumes, and photographs - are processed and stored in one easy-to-use system. Planmeca Romexis offers a complete set of tools for image viewing, enhancement, measurement, and implant planning, and fully integrates digital imaging with the patient's other clinical data.

can be produced. Planmeca Romexis provides direct image capture from Planmeca X-ray units, interfaces with 3rd party devices via TWAIN, and is fully DICOM-compatible. Planmeca Romexis is a JAVA software that runs on Windows, Mac OS, and Linux operating systems, and embraces modern IT standards.

Thanks to its powerful printing features, stunning printouts

PLANMECA

Planmeca Oy, Asentajankatu 6, oo880 Helsinki, Finland tel. +358 20 7795 500, fax +358 20 7795 555 sales@planmeca.com, www.planmeca.com

# **INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS**

The journal publishes general reviews, studies and clinical, epidemiological, experimental and laboratory research, clinical case presentation, papers from the history of medicine, reviews, scientific and technical state-of-the-art articles, medical informations and opinions. Only papers which have not been published or sent for publishing in other journals are accepted. The authors are responsable for the opinions expressed in the papers. *The paper must be edited both in Romanian and in English; the English version will be supervised by our collaborator Dana Brehar-Cioflec, MD, PhD; typed on white A*<sub>4</sub> paper and on CD, DVD or Memory Stick.

Manuscripts will not exceed:

- general reviews: 6-8 pages
- studies and researches: 5-7 pages
- case presentations: 2-4 pages
- reviews, scientific and technical state-of-the-art articles, medical informations and opinions: 1-2 pages.

The paper will be edited according to international editing rules for manuscripts. The title will be written in capital characters and it will be followed by the name and surname of the author (authors), followed by their place of work (place where the paper has been elaborated). Studies and researches will be followed by a brief abstract, followed by 3-4 key-words.

The body of the paper will be structured on the following chapters: introduction, aim, objectives, material and method, results and discussions, conclusions. The references will be presented alphabetically and in conformity to the Vancouver Convention, including:

- for articles: name of the authors and surname initials, title of the article in the original language, title of the journal according to the international abreviation system, year of issue, volume, number, pages;
- for books: name of the authors and surname initials, volume, publisher (editors), city of publishing, year of issue.

Citation of references inside the body of the paper will be put between brackets, Harward style (author, year) or Vancouver style (number in square brackets or superscript). Cited reference titles will be selected, maximum 6 for studies and case presentations and 12 for general reviews. Acceptance, rejection or the need of alterations in sent materials, or in inconography, will be comunicated to the authors in due time. For this, the authors will indicate the person and address for corespondence (phone number, e-mail address). Given the less pleasant experience of the editorial board with some articles being rejected because they did not meet publishing criteria, we decided to support those who intend to publish in this journal by detailing the way such a paper should be elaborated, as well as our requirements.

Except some particular aspects concerning this journal, the following details are general requirements asked or imposed by other journals as well. Conditions to be met in order to propose a paper for publishing. The main author has the responsability to make sure the article has been approved by all the other authors. The journal will have copyright

for papers accepted for publishing. The editorial board reservs the right to change the style and dimensions of an article (major changes will be discussed with the main author) and to decide the date of issue.

# 2. FIRST PUBLICATION

The editorial board will not consider a paper already reported in a published general review or described in a paper proposed to or accepted by another journal. This does not exclude papers which have been rejected by other journals. Also, papers which have been presented at a scientific meeting will be accepted for discussion if they have not been entirely or partially published in a similar publication. "Multiple" publishing of the same study is seldom justified. One of the possible justifications is publishing in a second language but only if the following conditions are met:

- Editors of both journals involved are fully informed;
- Priority of the initial publication will be respected by a minimum publishing interval of two weeks;
- For the second publication, a shortened version will suffice;
- The second version strictly reflects data and interpretations in the first;
- A footnote may state: "This article is based upon a study initially published in [title of the journal]".

# **3. PATERNITY**

Paternity must reflect the common decision of the coauthors. Each author must have participated enough to take public responsability for the content. A paper with collective paternity must have a key person responsable for the article.

# 4. COPYRIGHT

In order to reproduce materials from other sources, written agreement from the copyright owner must be obtained:

- photographer for unpublished photographs;
- hospital where the photographer (physician) is employed for unpublished photographs performed during the employment period;
- initial publisher for a table, picture or text which have previously been published elsewhere.

# 5. ETHICAL ASPECTS

Do not use name of patients, initials or hospital observation charts numbers. If a photograph of a body part which could allow direct or deductive recognition of the patient needs publishing, then the paper must be accompanied by the written consent of the patient and clinician, as well.

# 6. PRESENTING THE MANUSCRIPT

# 6.1. CONTENT OF THE PAPER - INDICATIONS FOR ORIGINAL ARTICLES

# Paper title [Book Antiqua 20, bold, left alignment]



# Surname N.1, Surname N.2 [Book Antiqua, 14, bold]

<sup>1</sup> Author Affiliation (DEPARTMENT, FACULTY, UNIVERSITY, CITY/COMPANY) [10, italic] <sup>2</sup> Author Affiliation (DEPARTMENT, FACULTY, UNIVERSITY, CITY/COMPANY) [10, italic]

Correspondence to: Surname Name: [10, italic] Address: [10, italic] Phone: +40 [10, italic] E-mail address: [10, italic]

#### Abstract [Book Antiqua, 12, bold, justify alignment]

Recommendations for original studies

Original studies must include a structured abstarct of maximum 150 words, containing the following titles and informations: Aim and objectives; Material and methods; Results; Conclusions; Key words: give 3-5 key words; The abstract will be translated into an international circulation language.

Keywords: Innovation, technology, research projects, etc. [Book Antiqua 9].

#### INTRODUCTION [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

Introduction presentation of general aspects, in the context of the approached theme.

Introduction include **Aim and objectives** – Define the aim of the article. Briefly expose the rationale of the presented study or observation. Make strictly pertinent referals and do not exhaustively review the subject. Do not include data or conclusions from the paper.

There is a limitation of 4/6 pages. All pages size should be A4 (21 x 29,7cm). The top margins should be 2 cm, the bottom, right, margins should be 2cm and left margins should be 2,85 cm. All the text must be in one column and Book Antiqua font, including figures and tables, with single-spaced 10-point interline spacing.

#### Aim and objectives [Book Antiqua 11, bold italic, left alignment]

The text included in the sections or subsections must begin one line after the section or subsection title. Do not use hard tabs and limit the use of hard returns to one return at the end of a paragraph. Please, do not number manually the sections and subsections; the template will do it automatically.

[Book Antiqua, 11 point, normal, justified alignment].

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

Describe the selection of observations or subjects for the experiment (including controls). Identify methods, equipments (with the name and address of the manufacturer in brackets) and give sufficient details on procedures. Give references for the selected methods, including statistical methods; offer details and brief descriptions for previously published methods which are not well known; describe new or substantially modified methods, justify their use and assess their limitations. Precisely identify all used drugs and chemicals, including generic names, dosage and administration ways. Describe statistical methods with sufficient details for reported results to be verified. Whenever possible, quantify discovered aspects and present them with appropriate measurement indicators for the uncertainty or error of measurement (such as confidence intervals). [Book Antiqua, 11 point, normal, justified alignment].

#### **RESULTS** [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

Present results in a logical succession as text, tables and illustrations. Emphasize or briefly describe only important observations. [Book Antiqua, 11 point, normal, justified alignment].

#### DISCUSSIONS [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

Underline new, important aspects of the study. Do not repeat in detail data which have been presented in previous sections. Include implications of revealed aspects and their limitations, including implications for future studies. Connect your observations to other relevant studies. Relate the results to the aim proposed for the study. [Book Antiqua, 11 point, normal, justified alignment].

#### CONCLUSIONS [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

Organize conclusions which emerge from the study. In the end state: a) contributions to be acknowledged but which do not justify paternity right; b) thanks for technical support;

c) thanks for financial or material support. [Book Antiqua, 11 point, normal, justified alignment].

#### **REFERENCES** [Book Antiqua, 11, bold, left alignment]

A numbered list of references must be provided at the end of the paper. The list should be arranged in the order of citation in the text of the publication, assignment or essay, not in alphabetical order(according to the Vancouver rules). List only one reference per reference number. It is very important that you use the correct punctuation and that the order of details in the references is also correct.

- Books Standard format #. Author of Part, AA. Title of chapter or part. In: Editor A, Editor B, editors. Title: subtitle of Book. Edition(if not the first). Place of publication: Publisher; Year. p. page numbers.
- Journal Articles Standard format #. Author of article AA, Author of article BB, Author of article CC. Title of article. Abbreviated Title of Journal. year; vol(issue):page number(s).
- E-Books Standard format #. Author A, Author B. Title of e-book [format]. Place: Publisher; Date of original publication [cited year abbreviated month day]. Available from : Source. URL.
- E-Journals Standard format #. Author A, Author B. Title of article. Abbreviated Title of Journal [format]. year [cited year abbreviated month day];vol(no):page numbers[estimated if necessary]. Available from: Database Name (if appropriate). URL.

Internet Documents - Standard format - #. Author A, Author B. Document title. Webpage name [format]. Source/production information; Date of internet publication [cited year month day]. Available from: URL. [Book Antiqua, 10 point, normal, justified alignment].

[1] \_\_\_\_\_\_ [2] \_\_\_\_\_\_ [3] \_\_\_\_\_\_

#### 6.2. CONTENT OF THE PAPER - INDICATIONS FOR CASE REPORTS

Content of the paper for case report will respect indications for original articles.

Themes may be selected from all medical fields. Manuscripts which offer a special gain for daily activity will have priority. The title must be clearly, precisely stated. It may be completed by a subtitle. It is advisable to include in the key words of the title the main message, the special element which may be observed from the case evolution. The content of a case report must be divided into three parts:

<u>Introduction</u> – It must include a maximum of 15 typed rows (half page). Here, the main medical problem is summarized in order to place the case in a specific domain.

<u>Case report</u> – It contains essential specific information on the case. In order to make a logical, chronological and didactical case report the following 5 chapters are needed:

- I. Anamnesis;
- II. Clinical examination data;
- III. Laboratory data;
- IV. Additional paraclinical investigations;
- V. Treatment and evolution.

<u>Discussions</u> – The reason for the case report must be stated. The report must be patient-centered. Occasional deviations from typical (characteristic) evolutions, nosologically important facts must be presented in such a manner to expose the clinical picture as completely as possible. The case report must not appear as an appendix of a general review. Dimensions of a case report: maximum 6-8 typed pages, 30 rows of 60 characters/page.

#### 6.3. MEASUREMENT UNITS, SYMBOLS, ABREVIATIONS

All measurements must be expressed in International System (IS) units. Abreviations must be fully explained when first used.

#### 6.4. TABLES

Tables are noted with Roman figures and they will have a brief and concise title, concordant with their content.

#### 6.5. ILLUSTRATIONS

Number all illustrations in Arabic figures in a single succession. Apply a label on the back side of every illustration, containing its number and an arrow indicating the upper side. Coloured illustrations may be accepted but it is the choice of the editors, according to particular technical abilities of each journal issue, or it may involve a fee in special cases.

#### 6.6. EXPLANATIONS FOR DRAWINGS AND GRAPHS

Explanation for drawings and graphs must be clear and in readable dimensions, considering the necessary publishing shrinkage.

#### 6.7. PHOTOGRAPHS

Offer glossy, good quality photographs. Any annotation, inscription, etc. must contrast with the ground. Microphotographs must include a scale marker.

#### 6.8. ILLUSTRATION LEGENDS

Include explanations for each used symbol, etc. Identify the printing method for microphotographs.

# 7. COPIES FOR PUBLISHING

In order to accelerate publishing, the main author will send a set of printed sheets presenting the final version of the paper, as it will appear in the journal. It is really helpful that texts to be also sent on electronic support, diacritic characters mandatory.

### 8. REJECTION OF PAPERS

If a paper does not meet publishing conditions, whatever these may be, the editors will notify the first author on this fact, without the obligation of returning the material. Original photographs or the whole material will be returned only if the author comes to the editor and takes them.

Papers submitted for publishing will be addressed to:

# Prof. Angela Codruta Podariu, DMD, PhD

Journal Medicine in evolution Department of Preventive, Community Dental Medicine and Oral Health Splaiul Tudor Vladimirescu no. 14 A 300041, Timişoara Email: <u>proiectetm@yahoo.com</u>

# Dana Brehar-Cioflec, MD, PhD

Institute of Public Health *"Prof. Dr. Leonida Georgescu"* Timişoara Bd. Victor Babeş no. 16 300226, Timişoara Phone: 0256-492101 Email: <u>danabreharcioflec@yahoo.com</u>

# Meine Zukunft in Deutschland.

Der Start als Zahnarzt in Deutschland beginnt mit uns.



#### Ob eigene Praxis oder angestellter Zahnarzt

Mit unseren Kenntnissen und Erfahrungen stehen wir Ihnen in allen Fragen zur Verfügung. Wir helfen Ihnen beim Umgang mit Behörden, dem Erlangen einer Kassenzulassung, der Standort- und Praxissuche, der Beschaffung des Startkapitals und Finanzierungen jeglicher Art. Als führendes Dental-Labor in Deutschland in den Bereichen **CNC-Fräsung**, **digitale Fertigung**, **3D-Druck** und **Intraoral-Scannen** bieten wir ein großes und hoch- modernes Portfolio an dentalen Leistungen an. Nehmen Sie Kontakt zu uns auf. **Wir kümmern uns um Ihre Formalitäten**.



Renthof 1 34117 Kassel Deutschland Fon: +49 561 - 560 24 +49 561 - 570 390 Email: hartl@web.de

